NEW ISSUE RATINGS:
FULL BOOK-ENTRY Fitch: AAA
Moody’s: Aaa

Standard & Poor’s: AAA

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLE Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings, and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, compliance with certain covenants,
interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and all of the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all
taxation by the State of Hawaii or any county or other political subdivision thereof, except inheritance,
transfer, estate and certain franchise taxes. In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the
Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate
alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included
in adjusted current earnings in calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable
income. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other tax consequences
related to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest
on, the Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS” in this Official Statement.

OFFICIAL STATEMENT
$250,000,000

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A

Dated: Date of issuance. Due: March 1, as shown on inside cover.

The Bonds are issuable in fully registered form and when issued will be registered initially in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York. So long as DTC or
its nominee is the registered owner of the Bonds, purchases of the Bonds will be made in book-entry form only,
through brokers and dealers who are, or who act through, DTC participants; beneficial owners of the Bonds will
not receive physical delivery of certificates; payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on, the
Bonds will be made directly to DTC or its nominee; and disbursement of such payments to DTC participants will
be the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to the beneficial owners will be the
responsibility of DTC participants. Purchases of the Bonds may initially be made in the denomination of $5,000
or any integral multiple thereof.

The Bonds will be dated as of the date of issuance thereof and will bear interest at the rates shown on the
inside cover, payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2004. The Bonds are
subject to redemption prior to the stated maturity thereof as described herein.

The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of paying costs of certain public improvements of the City and
County, and for the purpose of refunding certain outstanding general obligations of the City and County.

The Bonds are the absolute and unconditional general obligations of the City and County. The principal
and interest payments on the Bonds are a first charge on the general fund of the City and County, and the full
faith and credit of the City and County are pledged to the punctual payment of such principal and interest. For
the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds the City and County has the power and is obligated to
levy ad valorem taxes, without limitation as to rate or amount, on all real property subject to taxation by the City
and County.

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be guaranteed under a
Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy to be issued concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds by MBIA
Insurance Corporation.

mMBlAa

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriters, and are subject to the approval of
legality by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel to the City and County.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters by their counsel, McCorriston Miller Mukai
MacKinnon LLP, Honolulu, Hawaii. It is expected that the Bonds in definitive form will be
available for delivery to DTC, in New York, New York, on or about August 8, 2003.

Citigroup UBS Financial Services Inc.
July 29, 2003



City and County of Honolulu
$250,000,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A

Year Principal Interest
(March 1) Amount Rate Yield

2008 $ 3,315,000 2.625% 2.75%
2008 3,750,000 5.000% 2.75%
2009 3,460,000 3.000% 3.09%
2009 3,880,000 5.000% 3.09%
2010 990,000 3.300% 3.44%
2010 6,645,000 5.000% 3.44%
2011 2,080,000 4.000% 3.73%
2011 5,920,000 5.250% 3.73%
2012 1,020,000 3.750% 391%
2012 7,375,000 5.250% 3.91%
2013 1,655,000 3.900% 4.04%
2013 7,165,000 5.250% 4.04%
2014 2,010,000 4.000% 4.16%
2014 7,255,000 5.250% 4.16%*
2015 385,000 4.125% 4.26%
2015 9,340,000 5.250% 4.26%*
2016 605,000 4.250% 4.36%
2016 9,625,000 5.250% 4.36%*
2017 420,000 4.300% 4.45%
2017 10,340,000 5.250% 4.45%*
2018 450,000 4.400% 4.53%
2018 10,870,000 5.250% 4.53%*
2019 510,000 4.500% 4.62%
2019 11,400,000 5.250% 4.62%*
2020 275,000 4.550% 4.68%
2020 12,260,000 5.250% 4.68%*
2021 325,000 4.625% 4.76%
2021 12,865,000 5.250% 4.76%*
2022 360,000 4.700% 4.82%
2022 13,520,000 5.250% 4.82%*
2023 1,590,000 4.750% 4.87%
2023 13,015,000 5.250% 4.87%*
2024 15,365,000 5.250% 4.92%*
2025 16,170,000 5.250% 4.96%*
2026 17,020,000 5.250% 4.99%*
2027 17,915,000 5.250% 5.00%*
2028 3,985,000 4.900% 5.01%
2028 14,870,000 5.250% 5.01%*

* Priced to the call date of March 1, 2013, at par.
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The information contained in this Official Statement has been obtained from the City and County of
Honolulu and other sources deemed reliable. No guaranty is made, however, as to the accuracy or
completeness of such information. The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in
this Official Statement. The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in
accordance with, and as part of, their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied
to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or
completeness of such information. This Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices,
does not constitute an offer to sell the Bonds in any state to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such
offer in such state. No dealer, salesman or other person has been authorized to give any information or to
make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, in connection with the
offering of the Bonds, and if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon.
The information contained herein is subject to change wi thout notice and neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale hereunder at any time implies that the information contained herein is correct as of
any time subsequent toits date.

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION CONTAINED IN SUCH ACT. THE BONDS HAVE
NOT BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS
OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE
OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page Page
INTRODUCTION ...ovtirirererereereneesseressssesesessessssessssssssnsnes 1 Budgets and EXpenditures .........oocveeneeeerrenerneresnenenns 20
AUTHORITY FOR AND PURPOSE OF H-Power Waste Disposal FaCility ........cccovrrrereneenenns 20
[SSUANCE ... Cash Management and Investments.............coveuneeee 21
Authority for Issuance..........cc.ccueees Inter-Fund BOITOWING......c.ocereeereeerneeensiensreesrseersenes 21
Purpose of Issuance..........ccccovvreneee. FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
THE REFUNDING PLAN.......cccoouu.ee. ACCOUNTING....coiitterireereetresereeeseseseesese et eeseseasseeans
THE BONDS.......coveecereee e Independent Audit.................
Description of the Bonds................. Financial Statements
Prior Redemption........cccococveurneinenee EMPLOY EE RELATIONS; PENSIONS
Payment of Bonds Employee Relations..............
Debt Service on the Bonds.............. Pensions.........ccverreeneennenns
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS PENDING LITIGATION

SECUNtY ProViSiONS.......cccoveerrieeeriereneinesenesesseseesssenseennas TAX MATTERS.....ocoeerreere s
Outstanding and Expected General Obligation APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.................. 29
2 0] o L3RR BOND RATINGS......coierererreresereseseseseseseseessssesssessseens
BOND INSURANCE UNDERWRITING
THE CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU................ 6  CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ........cocovemereeereeereaeeneeeens 30
INEFOTUCTION.....eoeee s 6 MISCELLANEOUS..........ooorrerereeie e 31
Government and Organization............cccceeveveeeernerennnns 6  APPENDIX A: Basic Financial Statements for the
CITY AND COUNTY REVENUES........ccocotrmricirennne 7 Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2002

General FUNG..........covicereeeesecee e 8  APPENDIX B: Economic and Demographic
Specia Revenue FUNS..........ccovvceveneeenesenesenenenns 12 Factors
Projected Revenues And Expenditures..................... 12 APPENDIX C: Proposed Form of Opinion of

DEBT STRUCTURE.........cccontineinteineeeineieenersesesseesseneene Bond Counsel
Legal Requirements APPENDIX D: Proposed Form of Continuing
Funded Debt and Debt Margin Disclosure Certificate
Trend of General Obligation Indebtedness............... 18  APPENDIX E: Book-Entry System
Reimbursement to General Fund for Debt APPENDIX F: Specimen Bond Insurance Policy

Special Assessment |ndebtedness
Revenue Indebtedness...........cooviveeveeeceneceeeeene,
No Default ...,
BUDGET PROCESS AND FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT .....ootviieteteeeee et 20



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$250,000,000
City and County of Honolulu
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page hereof and the appendices hereto, is provided for
the purpose of presenting certain information relating to the City and County of Honolulu (the “City and County,”
the “City,” “Honolulu” or “Oahu”), and its $250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of General Obligation Bonds,
Series 2003A (the “Bonds”).

AUTHORITY FOR AND PURPOSE OF ISSUANCE
Authority for Issuance

The Bonds are being issued pursuant to and in full compliance with Ordinance No. 98-29 for Fiscal Year
1998-99 of the City and County, Ordinance No. 99-28 for Fiscal Year 1999-00 of the City and County, Ordinance
No. 00-24 for Fiscal Year 2000-01 of the City and County, Ordinance No. 01-27 for Fiscal Year 2001-02 of the City
and County, Ordinance No. 02-27 for Fiscal Year 2002-03, Resolution No. 02-290 of the City and County, the
Constitution and laws of the State of Hawaii, including Chapter 47, Hawaii Revised Statutes, and the Revised
Charter of the City and County. The Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Certificate of the Director of Budget and
Fiscal Services of the City and County (the “ Authorizing Certificate”).

Purpose of Issuance

The proceeds of the Bonds (exclusive of premium, if any) will be used to provide funds for (i) a portion of
the unfunded balance of $2,425,708 for public improvements authorized in the Capital Budget Ordinance for Fiscal
Year 1998-99, (ii) a portion of the unfunded balance of $4,104,063 for public improvements authorized in the
Capital Budget Ordinance for Fiscal Year 1999-00, (iii) a portion of the unfunded balance of $134,910,254 for
public improvements authorized in the Capital Budget Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2000-01, (iv) a portion of the
unfunded balance of $361,760,034 for public improvements authorized in the Capital Budget Ordinance for Fiscal
Year 2001-02, (v) a portion of the unfunded balance of $274,687,500 for public improvements authorized in the
Capital Budget Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2002-03, and (vi) the refunding of certain outstanding general obligations
of the City and County, as described in “THE REFUNDING PLAN.”

THE REFUNDING PLAN

The Bonds are being issued in part for the purpose of refunding certain outstanding general obligation
commercial paper notes of the City and County (the “Refunded Bonds’), in the total amount of $145,300,000, al
maturing on August 15, 2003, to be paid on such date in such amount, plusinterest accrued to such date.

A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds and other available funds will be held in cash or invested in short-
term securities, the maturing principal and interest on which will be sufficient, together with any uninvested cash, to
pay the interest on and the principal and redemption price of the Refunded Bonds coming due on their respective
redemption dates. Simultaneously with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, such cash or securities will be
deposited into an escrow fund established pursuant to the Authorizing Certificate and held by the Director of Budget
and Fiscal Services. The City and County will apply such fund to pay the principal and interest coming due on the
Refunded Bonds.



THE BONDS
Description of the Bonds

The Bonds will be dated as of the date of issuance thereof; and will mature serially on March 1 of each year
in the principal amounts shown on the inside cover page hereof; and will bear interest (computed on the basis of a
360-day year) payable March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2004, at the rates per annum
shown on the inside cover hereof, and will be subject to redemption as described herein.

The Bonds, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC"), which will act as Securities Depository for the Bonds. So long as the
Securities Depository or its nominee is the registered owner of the Bonds, individual purchases of the Bonds will be
made in book-entry form only (the “Book-Entry System”), in Authorized Denominations, as defined below.
Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Bonds. Principal of and interest on the
Bonds will be paid to the Securities Depository, which will in turn remit such principal and interest to its
Participants (as defined in Appendix E), for subsequent distribution to the Beneficial Owners (as defined in
Appendix E) of the Bonds. The Bonds may be transferred or exchanged in the manner described in the Bonds and
asreferenced in accompanying proceedings of the City and County. See Appendix E, “Book-Entry System.”

Prior Redemption

The Bonds maturing after March 1, 2013, are subject to redemption at the option of the City and County on
and after March 1, 2013, in whole or in part, at any time, in any order of maturity selected by the City and County,
and by lot within a maturity, at the principal amount thereof, plus the interest accrued to the date fixed for the
redemption thereof, without premium.

Notice of redemption of any Bond will be mailed, at least once not less than thirty (30) days prior to the
date fixed for redemption, to the holder in whose name the Bond is registered upon the Bond Register as of the close
of business on the forty-fifth (45th) day (whether or not a business day) next preceding the date fixed for
redemption. The failure of the registered holder to receive such notice by mail or any defect in such notice shall not
affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of any Bond. The City and County, at its option, in
addition to giving notice of redemption by mailing, may give notice of such redemption by publication not less than
thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for the redemption thereof of one such notice in The Bond Buyer or in some
other financial paper published in any of the cities of New York, New York, Chicago, Illinois, or San Francisco,
California. If aBond is of a denomination in excess of $5,000, portions of the principal sum thereof in amounts of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof may be redeemed, and if less than all of the principal sum thereof isto be
redeemed, in such case, upon the surrender of such Bond to the Registrar there shall be issued to the registered
holder thereof, without charge therefor, for the then unredeemed balance of the principal sum thereof, Bonds of like
series, maturity and interest rate in any of the authorized denominations. If notice of redemption of any Bond (or
any portion of the principal sum thereof) has been duly given, and if on or before the date fixed for such redemption
the City and County has duly made or provided for the payment of the principal sum to be redeemed to the date
fixed for such redemption, then such Bond (or the portion of the principal sum thereof to be redeemed) shall become
due and payable upon such date fixed for redemption and interest thereon shall cease to accrue and become payable
from and after the date fixed for such redemption on the principal sum thereof to be redeemed. See “APPENDIX
E -- Book-Entry System” for a discussion of the notice of redemption to be given to beneficial owners of the Bonds
when the Book-Entry System for the Bondsisin effect.

Payment of Bonds

The principal of and interest on the Bonds will be payable in lawful money of the United States of
America. The principal of al Bonds shall be payable only at the principal office of the Paying Agent, and the
payment of the interest on each Bond shall be made by the Paying Agent on each Interest Payment Date to the
person appearing on the Bond Register of the City and County as the registered owner thereof on the applicable
record date, by check or draft mailed or otherwise delivered to such registered owner at its address as it appears on
such Bond Register. Payment of the principal of all Bonds shall be made upon the presentation and surrender of
such Bonds as the same shall become due and payable. The person in whose name any Bond is registered at the



close of business on any record date with respect to any Interest Payment Date shall be entitled to receive the
interest payable on such Interest Payment Date notwithstanding the cancellation of such Bond upon any registration
of transfer or exchange thereof subsequent to the record date and prior to such Interest Payment Date. So long as
any Bonds are in book-entry form, principal of and interest on such Bonds will be paid to the Securities Depository
asthe registered owner of the Bonds. See Appendix E, “Book-Entry System.”

Debt Service on the Bonds

Set forth below is a schedule of debt service payments required for the Bonds for each Fiscal Year of the
City and County, beginning with the Fiscal Y ear ending June 30, 2004:

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2003A
DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

FY Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Total
2004 $7,198,896.66 $7,198,896.66
2005 12,766,516.26 12,766,516.26
2006 12,766,516.26 12,766,516.26
2007 12,766,516.26 12,766,516.26
2008 $7,065,000.00 12,766,516.26 19,831,516.26
2009 7,340,000.00 12,491,997.50 19,831,997.50
2010 7,635,000.00 12,194,197.50 19,829,197.50
2011 8,000,000.00 11,829,277.50 19,829,277.50
2012 8,395,000.00 11,435,277.50 19,830,277.50
2013 8,820,000.00  11,009,840.00 19,829,840.00
2014 9,265,000.00 10,569,132.50 19,834,132.50
2015 9,725,000.00 10,107,845.00 19,832,845.00
2016 10,230,000.00 9,601,613.76 19,831,613.76
2017 10,760,000.00 9,070,588.76 19,830,588.76
2018 11,320,000.00 8,509,678.76 19,829,678.76
2019 11,910,000.00 7,919,203.76 19,829,203.76
2020 12,535,000.00 7,297,753.76 19,832,753.76
2021 13,190,000.00 6,641,591.26 19,831,591.26
2022 13,880,000.00 5,951,147.50 19,831,147.50
2023 14,605,000.00 5,224,427.50 19,829,427.50
2024 15,365,000.00 4,465,615.00 19,830,615.00
2025 16,170,000.00 3,658,952.50 19,828,952.50
2026 17,020,000.00 2,810,027.50 19,830,027.50
2027 17,915,000.00 1,916,477.50 19,831,477.50
2028 18,855,000.00 975,940.00 19,830,940.00

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
Security Provisions

The Constitution and other laws of the State of Hawaii provide that the interest and principal payments on
the Bonds shall be a first charge on the General Fund of the City and County. Under such laws, the full faith and
credit of the City and County are pledged to the payment of such principal and interest, and for such payment the
City Council has the power and is obligated to levy ad valorem taxes without limitation as to rate or amount on all
the real property subject to taxation by the City and County.



Outstanding and Expected General Obligation Bonds

The capital improvement budgets for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and the
capital budget for Fiscal Year 2003 authorized and appropriated a total of $1,262,908,060 for public improvements
to be financed from the proceeds of general obligation bonds or notes. As of March 31, 2003, $475,449,202 of
general obligation bonds and notes had been issued to finance appropriations for such Fiscal Years, and
$201,363,548 of such appropriations had lapsed pursuant to the terms of the Revised Charter of the City and County
(See “BUDGET PROCESS AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT -- Budgets and Expenditures’ for more
information relating to lapsing of capital budget appropriations). It is expected that $586,095,310, the balance of
such appropriations, will be funded from the proceeds of the Bonds and from proceeds of other general obligation
bond or note issuesto be issued in the future.

BOND INSURANCE
The MBIA Insurance Corporation | nsurance Policy

The following information has been furnished by MBIA Insurance Corporation (“MBIA”) for use in this
Official Statement. Reference is made to Appendix F for a specimen of MBIA’s policy.

MBIA’s policy unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and complete payment required to be
made by or on behalf of the City and County to the Paying Agent or its successor of an amount equal to (i) the
principal of (either at the stated maturity or by an advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund
payment) and interest on, the Bonds as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the
event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or
acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory
sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed by MBIA's policy shall be made in such amounts and at such times
as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration); and (ii) the
reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any owner of the Bonds pursuant to a
final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such
owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law (a*“Preference”).

MBIA’s policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable
with respect to any Bonds. MBIA’s policy does not, under any circumstance, insure against loss relating to: (i)
optional or mandatory redemptions (other than mandatory sinking fund redemptions); (ii) any payments to be made
on an accelerated basis; (iii) payments of the purchase price of Bonds upon tender by an owner thereof; or (iv) any
Preference relating to (i) through (iii) above. MBIA’s policy also does not insure against nonpayment of principal of
or interest on the Bonds resulting from the insolvency, negligence or any other act or omission of the Paying Agent
or any other paying agent for the Bonds.

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by
registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by MBIA from the
Paying Agent or any owner of a Bond the payment of an insured amount for which is then due, that such required
payment has not been made, MBIA on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of
notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such insured
amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such Bonds or presentment of such other proof of
ownership of the Bonds, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the
insured amounts due on the Bonds as are paid by MBIA, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of
MBIA as agent for such owners of the Bonds in any legal proceeding related to payment of insured amounts on the
Bonds, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, U.S. Bank Trust
National Association shall disburse to such owners or the Paying Agent payment of the insured amounts due on such
Bonds, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such insured amounts and legally available
therefor.

MBIA



MBIA Insurance Corporation (“MBIA”) is the principal operating subsidiary of MBIA Inc., a New Y ork
Stock Exchange listed company (the “Company”). The Company is not obligated to pay the debts of or claims
against MBIA. MBIA isdomiciled in the State of New Y ork and licensed to do business in and subject to regulation
under the laws of all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of
the Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands of the United States and the Territory of Guam. MBIA has three
branches, one in the Republic of France, one in the Republic of Singapore and one in the Kingdom of Spain.
New York has laws prescribing minimum capital requirenments, limiting classes and concentrations of investments
and requiring the approval of policy rates and forms. State laws also regulate the amount of both the aggregate and
individual risks that may be insured, the payment of dividends by MBIA, changes in control and transactions among
affiliates. Additionally, MBIA is required to maintain contingency reserves on its liabilities in certain amounts and
for certain periods of time.

MBIA does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any
information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the
information regarding the policy and MBIA set forth under the heading “BOND INSURANCE". Additionally,
MBIA makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds.

The Financial Guarantee Insurance Policies are not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security
Fund specified in Article 76 of the New Y ork Insurance Law.

MBI A Information

The following documents filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC") areincorporated herein by reference:

D The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002;
and

2 The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

Any documents filed by the Company pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, after the date of this Official Statement and prior to the termination of the offering of the Bonds
offered hereby shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Official Statement and to be a part hereof.
Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, or contained
in this Official Statement, shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Official Statement to
the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed
to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or
superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Official Statement.

The Company files annual, quarterly and special reports, information statements and other information with
the SEC under File No. 1-9583. Copies of the SEC filings (including (1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and (2) the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2003,, are available (i) over the Internet at the SEC’'s web site at http://www.sec.gov; (ii) at the
SEC's public reference room in Washington D.C.; (iii) over the Internet at the Company’s web site at
http://www.mbia.com; and (iv) at no cost, upon request to MBIA Insurance Corporation, 113 King Street, Armonk,
New York 10504. The telephone number of MBIA is (914) 273-4545.

As of December 31, 2002, MBIA had admitted assets of $9.2 hillion (audited), total liabilities of $6.0
billion (audited), and total capital and surplus of $3.2 billion (audited) determined in accordance with statutory
accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of March 31, 2003 MBIA had
admitted assets of $9.3 billion (unaudited), total liabilities of $6.1 billion (unaudited), and total capital and surplus of
$3.2 billion (unaudited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by
insurance regulatory authorities.

Financial Strength Ratings of MBIA



Moody’ s Investors Service, Inc. rates the financial strength of MBIA “Aaa.”

Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. rates the financial strength of MBIA
“AAA.

Fitch Ratings rates the financial strength of MBIA “AAA.”

Each rating of MBIA should be evaluated independently. The ratings reflect the respective rating agency’s
current assessment of the creditworthiness of MBIA and its ability to pay claims on its policies of insurance. Any
further explanation as to the significance of the above ratings may be obtained only from the applicable rating
agency.

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and such ratings may be subject
to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the
above ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. MBIA does not guaranty the market
price of the Bonds nor does it guaranty that the ratings on the Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn.

THE CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Introduction

Honolulu, the capital and principal city of the State of Hawaii, is located on the island of Oahu. The City
and County of Honolulu includes the entire island of Oahu and a number of outlying islands. Of the eight major
islands that constitute the State of Hawaii, Oahu, with an area of 593 square miles, is smaller than the Islands of
Hawaii and Maui but larger than the Islands of Kauai, Molokai, Lanai, Niihau and Kahoolawe.

With dlightly less than a tenth of the land area in the entire State, Oahu contains nearly three-fourths of the
State’ s resident population. According to the 2000 U.S. Census, the resident population of the State was 1,211,537,
and that of Honolulu was 876,156, approximately 72% of the total State population. Honolulu is the seat of the
State Government and is the State's trade, finance, communication, and transportation center. Most federal
establishments and personnel (both civilian and military), manufacturing, major educational and scientific, and
significant agricultural activities arelocated on Oahu.

Additional demographic and economic information with respect to the City and County is set forth in
Appendix B hereto.

Government and Organization

Introduction. Government in the State of Hawaii is highly centralized, with the State assuming several
major functions usually performed by local governments in other jurisdictions. Foremost among these, in terms of
cost, are health, eucation, welfare and judicial functions. For example, the public schools and public medical
facilities in the City and County are administered and funded by the State. The State is also responsible for the
operation and maintenance of all airports and harbors. See Appendix B for a summary of certain information
relating to the State. The City and County does provide a broad range of municipal services. These include public
safety (police and fire protection and public prosecutor), highways and streets, sanitation, social services, culture and
recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning, water supply and general administrative services.

Because there are no separate city or township governments or any special districts in the City and County
with taxing powers, there are no overlapping taxes at the local government level. With the exception of real
property taxes, public utility franchise tax on electric power and light companies and vehicle weight taxes, the State
collects all taxes for both itself and the counties. The State does not impose any real property tax. The principal
taxes imposed by the State are the general excise and user tax (a portion of the transient accommodations tax is
allocated to the counties as mentioned under “CITY AND COUNTY REVENUES- General Fund - Allocation of
Sate Transient Accommodation Tax’) and the personal and corporate income taxes. In addition, the State imposes
taxes on liquor, tobacco, insurance premiums, banks and other financial corporations, inheritances, estates and real



property transfers. The State also imposes a public service companies tax on the gross income of public utilities,
such as motor carriers, common carriers by water, contract carriers and airlines. In an overview of the taxing
authority relationship between the State and all the counties, the Tax Foundation of Hawaii, found that of the $4.3
billion collected in taxes by the State and county governments during the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2002, $3.6
billion went to the State Treasury .

The City and County of Honolulu was incorporated in 1907. The City and County is governed by the
provisions of its Charter and applicable State law.

Mayor and Executive Branch. Under the provisions of and except as otherwise provided in the Charter of
the City and County, the executive power of the City and County is vested in and exercised by the Mayor, as chief
executive officer. The Department of Corporation Counsel reports directly to the Mayor; and all other executive
departments and agencies of the City and County (excepting the Mayor’s office staff and the Board of Water Supply
and other semi -autonomous agencies) are supervised by and report directly to the Managing Director as principal
administrative aide to the Mayor. The Mayor serves a four-year term. The next regular mayoral election is
scheduled to take place in November 2004. The current Mayor is serving his second term, which expires on
January 2, 2005. No person may be elected to the office of the Mayor for more than two consecutive full terms.
Pursuant to the Charter of the City and County, the Department of Budget and Fiscal Services manages the budget
and the finances of the City and County, including debt management.

City Council. Under the provisions of and except as otherwise provided in the Charter of the City and
County, the legislative power of the City and County is vested in and exercised by the City Council. The City
Council is the policy-making body of the City and County. Its major functions include approval of the budget,
establishment of all fees and rates (other than those under the jurisdiction of semi -autonomous agencies) and taxes,
appropriation of funds, and establishment of community plans and zoning. The City Council is comprised of nine
members, each of whom represents a separate Council District. Pursuant to Section 16-122 of the City Charter, the
staggering of the terms of councilmembers commenced on January 2, 2003. The councilmembers for council
districts I, 11I, V, VII and IX were elected to two-year regular terms expiring on January 2, 2005 while the
councilmembers for council districts 11, 1V, VI and VIII were elected to four-year regular terms expiring on January
2, 2007. Section 3-102 of the City Charter provides that “No person shall be elected to the office of councilmember
for more than two consecutive four-year terms.” However, the councilmembers for council districts I, 111, V, VII
and IX shall be subject to Section 3-102 of the City Charter after the expiration of their two-year regular terms.

Semi-Autonomous Agencies. The Board of Water Supply is a semi -autonomous entity of the City and
County, consisting of seven members, of which the Chief Engineer of the City Department of Facilities Maintenance
and the Director of the State Department of Transportation are ex-officio members, with five other members
appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the City Council. Although the Board is subject to the Civil Service and
administrative procedures governing the City and County, it maintains exclusive management and control over its
water system servicing the Island of Oahu. The Board of Water Supply is created by the Charter of the City and
County. The City Council may create by ordinance other semi-autonomous agencies with such powers as the City
Council may legally grant.

Recalls, Initiatives and Charter Amendments. The Mayor and any member of the City Council may be
recalled pursuant to petition initiated by the voters in accordance with procedures provided in the Charter of the City
and County. Also, voters may propose and adopt ordinances by initiative powers in accordance with procedures set
forth in the Charter. Such initiative powers do not extend to any ordinance authorizing or repealing the levy of
taxes, the appropriation of moneys, the issuance of bonds, the salaries of City employees and officers, or any matters
governed by collective bargaining contracts. Amendments or revisions to the Charter may be initiated by resolution
of the City Council or by petition of the voters presented to the City Council. No amendments or revision to the
Charter become effective unless approved by a majority of the voters voting thereon at aduly called election.

CITY AND COUNTY REVENUES

The taxes and other revenues discussed below account for substantially all the tax receipts and other
revenues of the City and County. All tax receipts are credited to either the General Fund or the Special Revenue



Funds of the City and County (the “Special Revenue Funds’). The audited financial statements of the revenues and
expenditures of these funds for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2002, are set forth in AppendixA hereto. (See
“FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND ACCOUNTING — Financia Statements” herein.)

General Fund

The General Fund is utilized to account for al financial resources except those required to be accounted for
in another fund. The sources of revenues of the General Fund are (i) real property taxation; (ii) licenses and permits;
(iii) intergovernmental revenues (including the allocation of the State transient accommodation tax); (iv) charges for
services; (v) fines and forfeits; and (vi) miscellaneous revenues. Real property taxes, which generally account for
approximately two-thirds of General Fund revenues, and the allocation of the State transient accommodation tax are
described below. See Table 12 under “FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND ACCOUNTING.”

Real Property Taxation. Under the State Constitution, all functions, powers and duties relating to taxation
of real property reside in the counties. In the case d the City and County of Honolulu, Chapter 8, Revised
Ordinances of Honolulu, 1990 (the “Tax Ordinance”) governs administration, setting of tax rates, assessment and
collection of real property tax, including exemption therefrom, dedication of land and appeals. While each county
has exclusive authority over real property tax within its jurisdiction, the Hawaii State Association of Counties has
recommended uniformity in the methods of assessing real property. In support of such recommendation, the City
Council adopted Resolution No. 89-509 on November 8, 1989, but recognized that other provisions of real property
tax law need not be uniform.

Beginning in Fiscal Year 2004, the real property tax rates for various classes of property have been revised,
resulting in a net increase of 3.2% in average tax rates. Table 2 sets forth such classes of property and their values,
together with the applicable rates for Fiscal Y ears 2000 through 2004.

Under the Tax Ordinance, al real property in Honolulu, except as exempted or otherwise taxed, is subject
each year to a tax upon the fair market value thereof. Land in Honolulu is classified and taxed as (1) improved
residential, (2) unimproved residential, (3) apartment, (4) hotel and resort, (5) commercial, (6) industria, (7)
agricultural, (8) conservation and (9) public service (a new classification added by Ordinance No. 00-66 which took
effect for tax year 2001-2002). In determining the value of land, other than land classified as agricultural and used
for agriculture, consideration is given to its highest and best use, selling prices and income, productivity, actual and
potential use, advantage or disadvantage of factors such as location, accessibility, transportation facilities,
availability of water and its cost, easements, zoning, dedication as to usage, and other influences which fairly and
reasonably bear upon the question of values. The value of buildings is the cost of replacement less depreciation,
with consideration given to age, condition, utility or obsolescence. Real property owned by the respective
governments of the United States, the State of Hawaii and the several counties of the State is exempt from taxation,
but is taxable when leased to or occupied by a private entity under certain conditions described in the Tax
Ordinance. Real property owned and actually and exclusively used for the exempt purpose by hospitals and
religious, educational, community and charitable organizationsis also exempt from taxation under certain conditions
described in the Tax Ordinance. In addition, real property owned as homes is exempt from taxation to the extent of
$40,000, except that such exemption is gradually increased for classes of persons based on age, from $60,000 for
persons age 55 to $120,000 for persons age 70 and over. Under Chapter 239, Hawaii Revised Statutes, if a county
exempts real property owned or leased (if the lessee is required to pay any real property taxes) by a public service
company from real property taxes, then the public service company tax levied and assessed shall be in excess of the
four percent rate of grossincome. Therate of tax in excess of the four percent shall not be less than 1.885 percent or
more than 4.2 percent. Currently, the City does not tax the real property of public service companies, and it
included in its budget for the Fiscal Y ear ending June 30, 2004, approximately $24,500,000 for it share of the public
service company tax.

Under Ordinance No. 84-30 of the City and County, as amended, real property tax relief is allowed to
homeowners 55 years and older with multiple home exemptions whose total household income does not exceed
$20,000 annually. The tax relief, in the form of arefund, is the amount by which real property tax due for the year
exceeds 5% of the total household income, but such refund islimited to $500 for each eligible homeowner.



By Ordinance No. 93-112 of the City and County, approximately $600,000 in real property taxes annually
have been exempted from payment starting in Fiscal Year 1994-95 for native Hawaiians leasing properties as
homesteads from the State Department of Hawaiian Home Lands pursuant to the Hawaiian Homes Commission Act
of 1920. The minimum real property tax on property of the Hawaiian Home Lands leased as homesteads is
currently $100 annually per homestead.

Additionally, to encourage agriculture, the value of land classified and used for agriculture, whether or not
dedicated for such use, is the value of such land for such use without regard to its value for its highest and best use.
Further, (1) an owner of land, whether such land be situated in an agricultural district, arural district, a conservation
district or urban district, may elect to dedicate such land for a specific ranching or other agricultural use, provided
such land is used for such purpose at the time of dedication and was substantially so used for the two-year period
preceding the dedication, and if the dedication is approved, such land is thereafter taxed as agricultural land; and (2)
land situated in any agricultural district may be dedicated for a specific ranching or other agricultural use for a
period of 20 years, and if the dedication is approved, is taxed at 50% of its assessed value in the agricultural use.

The breakdown of assessed valuations by land and improvements of real property in the City and County
for Fiscal Year 2003-04 and the components of assessed valuations by class of property are shown in Table 1
below, with the valuation of governmentally owned real property excluded from both the gross assessed valuation
and the exemption valuation. Table 2 shows the net taxable values for each class of property within the City and
County and the tax rates applicable thereto for the five Fiscal Y ears ending June 30, 2000 through 2004.

Tablel

ASSESSED VALUATION OF REAL PROPERTY®
BY LAND AND IMPROVEMENTS
For Fiscal Year 2004
(in thousand dollars)

Land Improvements Total
Gross assessed valuation. ... ................ $50,611,843 $44,440,513 $95,052,356
Lessexemptionvauation.................... (3.760,734) (11,336,180) (15,096,914)
Assessor'snet taxablevalue. . ....... ... ... 46,851,109 33,104,333 79,955,442
Less 50% of valuationsonappeal .............. (405,617) (395,278) (800,895)
Net assessed vauation for rate purposes. . . . .. ... $46,445,492 $32,709,055 $79,154,547

@ At 100% of fair market value.



Table2

CITY AND COUNTY OFHONOLULU
REAL PROPERTY NET ASSESSED VALUESBY CLASSIFICATION AND TAX RATES
Fiscal Years2000- 2004 (valuesin thousands)

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
va Rate Vaue Rate Vaue Rate Vaue Rate va Rate

Net Taxable Land
Improved $27,176,656 $3.65 $25,898,762 $3.65 $26,533,079 $3.65 $27,308,923 $3.65 $30,260,954 $3.75
Residentia
Unimproved 760,368 4.66 690,342 4.66 428,191 4.66 714,387 4.66 655,236 5.35
Residentia
Apartment 5,583,553 4.49 5,119,280 4.49 5,038,002 4.21 4,950,109 3.93 5074206 3.75
Hotel/Resort 2,495,333 9.96 2,358,990 9.96 2,435,463 9.96 2,347,705 9.96 2,251,394 10.63
Commercial 5,349,769 9.25 4876,113 9.25 4,798,891 9.25 4839541 9.25 4,766,874 10.63
Industrial 3,336,296 9.39 2,997,584 9.39 2,838,755 9.39 2,850,632 9.39 2,802,730 10.63
Agricultural 350,929 9.89 318,530 9.89 227,205 9.89 308,874 9.89 298,044 10.63
Conservation 416,401 9.25 431,440 9.25 352,070 9.25 359,754 9.25 327,476 10.63
Public Service 164,174 0.00 20,201 0.00 8,579 0.00

Totd All Classes $45,469,305 $42,691,041 $42,815,830 $43,700,126 $46,445,493

Net Taxable Improvements

Improved $9,230,152 $3.65 $9,315,911 $3.65 $10,066,199 $3.65 $12,230,871 $3.65 $13,252,073 $3.75
Residential
Unimproved 41,303 4.66 40,789 4.66 41,985 4.66 42,458 4.66 46,627 5.35
Residential
Apartment 8,770,891 4.49 8,460,667 4.49 8,480,325 4.21 9,305,365 3.93 11,059,012 3.75
Hotel/Resort 2,181,039 9.96 2,068,493 9.96 2,121,627 9.96 2,226,305 9.96 2,266,434 10.63
Commercial 4,376,172 9.25 4,370,036 9.25 4,361,422 9.25 4322821 9.25 4,349,397 10.63
Industrial 1,592,305 9.39 1,562,797 9.39 1,581,298 9.39 1,570,203 9.39 1,568,117 10.63
Agricultural 94,232 9.89 88,643 9.89 74,444 9.89 100,594 9.89 87,971 10.63
Conservation 65,278 9.25 77821 9.25 73,224 9.25 70,744 9.25 72,125 10.63
Public Service 55,219 0.00 14,870 0.00 7,291 0.00

Totd All Classes $26,351,372 $25,985,157 $26,855,743 $29,884,231 $32,709,047

Net Taxable Real Property

Improved $36,406,808 $35,214,673 $36,599,278 $39,539,794 $43,513,027
Residential
Unimproved 801,671 731,131 470,176 756,845 701,863
Residential
Apartment 14,354,444 13,579,947 13,518,327 14,255,474 16,133,218
Hotel/Resort 4,676,372 4,427,483 4,557,000 4,574,010 4,517,828
Commercial 9,725,941 9,246,149 9,160,313 9,162,362 9,116,271
Industrial 4,928,601 4,560,381 4,420,053 4,420,835 4,370,847
Agricultural 445,161 407,173 301,649 409,468 386,015
Conservation 481,679 509,261 425,294 430,498 399,601
Public Service 219,393 35,071 15,870

Totd All Classes $71,820,677 $68,676,198 $69,671,573 $73,584,357 $79,154,540
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Assessments are determined as of October 1. Real property taxes are levied on July 1 and billed on July 20
of each year based on assessed valuation as of October 1, and are due in two equal installments on the following
August 20 and February 20. Real property taxes receivable as of June 30 of each year are deemed delinquent and
amounts which are not collected within sixty days of the end of the Fiscal Y ear are reported as deferred revenue. A
lien for real property taxes attaches as of July 1 of each year. Annual assessments, levies and average tax rates and
collection percentages for the Fiscal Y ears ending June 30, 2000 to 2004 are shown in the table bel ow.

Table3

STATEMENT OF REAL PROPERTY TAX LEVIESAND COLLECTIONS
SHOWING ASSESSED VALUATIONS AND TAX RATES
Fiscal Years2000- 2004 (valuesin thousands)

Weighted

Net Valuation Average Per cent of
Fiscal for Tax Rate Tax Rate Amount of Collections
Year Purposes* Per $1,000 Levies toLevwy
2000 $71,820,677 $5.58 $393,000 100.0%
2001 $68,676,198 $5.58 $374,099 100.4%
2002 $69,671,573 $5.44 $371,234 101.8%
2003 $73,584,357 $5.26 $392,606 NA
2004 $79,154,540 $5.43 NA NA

* Valuation is 100% of fair market value.

The real property tax revenues of $382.4 million accounted for 66.6% of the General Fund revenues of
$574.6 million for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2002.

Table4

TEN LARGEST REAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS
Asof June 30, 2003
(in thousand dollars)

% of Total

Gross Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer® Typeof Business Valuation‘? Valuation
Kyo-YacCo. Ltd. Hotel/Resort $997,367,900  1.12%
GGP AlaMoanaLLC Real Estate Management and Leasing 746,422,100  0.84%
Hilton Hawaiian Village Joint Venture Hotel/Resort 699,786,000 0.78%
Bishop Estate Educational Trust Estate 786,673,100 0.88%
MFD Partners Commercial 352,030,000 0.39%
Bancorp Hawaii Inc. Financia Institution 346,412,800  0.39%
Dole Food Co. Processed and Fresh Food, Real Estate 341,425,000 0.38%
VictoriaWard Ltd. Shopping Center 230,430,100  0.26%
C K Corporation Hotel/Resort 206,454,500 0.23%
WBM Resort LP Hotel/Resort 106,622,000  0.22%

$4.903623500  5.49%

@ Taxpayer’s name as recorded on real property records.
@ Assessed valuation at 100% of market value.

Allocation of State Transient Accommodation Tax. Under Section 237D, Hawaii Revised Statutes, a
transient accommodation tax (basically a hotel tax) is collected by the State of Hawaii. The tax was at a rate of 5%
until July 1, 1994, when it was increased to 6%. Effective January 1, 1999, the tax rate was increased from 6% to
7.25% to be distributed as follows: 17.3% to the state convention center capital special fund, 37.9% to the state
tourism special fund, and 44.8% to the four counties, with the City and County receiving 44.1% of such distribution,
or 19.8% of the total. In the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2002, the City and County received $31.6 million as its
allocable share of the State transient accommodation tax, which amount is 5.5% of the General Fund revenues for
such year. There can be no assurance that the allocation will continue to be maintained at current levels.
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Other Revenues. In addition to the real property tax revenues and revenues from the allocation of the State

transient accommodation tax, the City and County receives revenues from State and federal grants, sales of licenses
and permits, rentals of City and County-owned property and charges for services, including sewer user charges.

Special Revenue Funds

The Special Revenue Funds are utilized to account for the revenues derived from a specific source (other
than special assessments) or which are applied to finance specified activities as required by law or administrative
regulation. The primary sources of revenues of the Special Revenue Funds are outlined below.

Vehicle Weight Tax. Under Section 249-2, Hawaii Revised Statutes, the counties are authorized to impose
an annual tax on the net weight of al vehicles used on the public highways. In accordance with Section 249-13,
Hawaii Revised Statutes, the City and County imposes taxes between 2.0¢ per pound and 1.25¢ per pound,
depending on the type of vehicle, with a minimum tax of $12.00 per vehicle. Under State law, the counties collect
the vehicle weight tax in connection with their vehicle registration and licensing function. The proceeds from the
county vehicle weight tax are restricted by Section 249-18, Hawaii Revised Statutes, to highway and related
expenditures in the City and County, including $500,000 for police purposes. In fiscal year 2002, the City and
County collected $26.7 million of vehicle weight taxes.

County Fuel Tax. The City and County fuel tax, authorized by Section 243-4 and 243-5, Hawaii Revised
Statutes, is imposed on liquid fuels sold or used within its jurisdiction, except that it does not apply to aviation fuel;
and it isimposed only on that portion of diesel fuel used on the public highways. By Resolution No. 89-92, adopted
by the City Council on May 24, 1989, the fuel tax for the City and County was increased from 11Y2 cents per gallon
to 16Y% cents per gallon, effective July 1, 1989. The proceeds from the fuel tax are limited by Section 243-6, Hawaii
Revised Statutes, to expenditures for such purposes as designing, constructing, repairing and maintaining highways,
roads and streets, highway tunnel and bridges, street lights and storm drains, and for functions connected with
county traffic control and safety. Infiscal year 2002, the City and County collected $46.7 million of fuel taxes.

Public Utilities Franchise Tax. Section 240-1, Hawaii Revised Statutes, requires all electric power
companies and gas companies operating as public utilities to pay the county in which business is conducted a tax
equal to 2% of the companies' gross receipts for sales in such county, unless such county in its charters with such
utilities has agreed to a lower rate of tax. The rate for such tax in the City and County is the full 2%2% for all such
utilities. Infiscal year 2002, the City and County collected $23.7 million of such taxes.

Projected Revenues And Expenditures

The General Fund revenues and expenditures, including transfers out for debt service, mass transit subsidy
and other purposes, and transfers in for recovery of debt service and other purposes, in Fiscal Year 1999 were
$672.0 million and $662.5 million, espectively; in Fiscal Year 2000 were $639.5 million and $630.4 million,
respectively; in Fiscal Year 2001 were $603.3 million and $620.6 million, respectively; and in Fiscal Year 2002
were $657.7 million and $644.9 million, respectively. For Fiscal Year 2003, the City and County has estimated for
budgeting purposes $680.2 million in General Fund revenues and $679.7 million in General Fund expenditures,
including transfers out for debt service, mass transit subsidy and other purposes, and transfersin for recovery of debt
service and other purposes.

DEBT STRUCTURE
Legal Reguirements

Debt Limit. The creation of general debt by the counties in the State of Hawaii is governed by the

Constitution of the State of Hawaii, the applicable provisions of the Hawaii Revised Statutes and further, in the case
of the City and County of Honolulu, by the Revised Charter of the City and County.

The State Constitution provides that the funded debt of each county that is outstanding and unpaid at any
time may not exceed 15% of the total of the assessed values for tax rate purposes of real property in such county, as
determined by the last tax assessment rolls pursuant to law.



Pursuant to a resolution enacted by the City Council in 1996, the City has adopted debt and financial
policies, including the establishment of a contingency reserve, a limitation on debt service as a percentage of
General Fund revenues and alimitation on variable rate debt.

Debt Structure and Security. The State Constitution provides that all general obligation bonds with aterm
of more than two years shall be in serial form maturing in substantially equal installments of principal, or maturing
in substantially equal installments of both principal and interest, the first installment of principal to mature not later
than five years from the date of issue of such series, and the last installment not later than twenty-five years from the
date of such issue; provided that the last installment on general obligation bonds sold to the federal government, on
reimbursable general obligation bonds, and on bonds constituting instruments of indebtedness under which a county
incurs a contingent liability as a guarantor shall mature not later than thirty-five years from the date of issue of such
bonds.

Chapter 47, Hawaii Revised Statutes, is the general law for the issuance of general obligation bonds of the
counties, and sets forth the provisions relating to the issuance and sale of general obligation bonds, including details
such as method of authorization, maximum maturities, maximum interest rates, denominations, method of sale, form
and execution of such bonds and terms of redemptions and refundings.

The Revised Charter of the City and County provides that the City Council, by the affirmative vote of at
least two-thirds of its entire membership, may authorize the issuance of general obligation bonds not to exceed the
amount and only for the purposes prescribed by the State Constitution. The authorization is enacted in the form of
an ordinance.

The State Constitution provides that the interest and principal payments on general obligation bonds shall
be afirst charge on the general fund of the county issuing such bonds.

Exclusions. In determining the funded debt of a county, the Constitution provides for the following
exclusions:

1 Bonds that have matured, or that mature in the then current Fiscal Year, or that
have been irrevocably called for redemption and the redemption date has occurred or will occur in
the then Fiscal Year, or for the full payment of which moneys or securities have been irrevocably
set aside.

2 Revenue bonds, if the issuer thereof is obligated by law to impose rates, rentals
and charges for the use and services of the public undertaking, improvement or system or the
benefits of aloan program or aloan thereunder or to impose a user tax, or to impose a combination
of rates, rentals and charges and user tax, as the case may be, sufficient to pay the cost of
operation, maintenance and repair, if any, of the public undertaking, improvement or system or the
cost of maintaining aloan program or aloan thereunder and the required payments of the principal
of and interest on all revenue bonds issued for the public undertaking, improvement or system or
loan program, and if the issuer is obligated to deposit such revenues or tax or a combination of
both into a special fund and apply the same to such paymentsin the amount necessary therefor.

3. Specia purpose revenue bonds, if the issuer thereof is required by law to
contract with a person obligating such person to make rental or other payments to the issuer in an
amount at least sufficient to make the required payment of the principal of and interest on such
special purpose revenue bonds.

4. Bonds issued under special improvement statutes when the only security for
such bondsisthe properties benefitted or improved or the assessments thereon.

5. General obligation bonds issued for assessable improvements, but only to the
extent that reimbursements to the general fund for the principal and interest on such bonds are in
fact made from assessment collections available therefor.

6. Reimbursable general obligation bonds issued for a public undertaking,
improvement or system but only to the extent that reimbursements to the general fund for the
principal and interest on such bonds are in fact made from the net revenue, or net user tax receipts,
or combination of both, as determined for the immediately preceding Fiscal Y ear.
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7. Reimbursable general obligation bonds issued by the State for a county, whether
issued before or after November 7, 1978 (the date of ratification of the Constitutional
amendments), but only for as long as reimbursement by the county to the State for the payment of
principal and interest on such bonds is required by law; provided that in the case of bonds issued
after the aforementioned date, the consent of the governing body of the county has first been
obtained; and provided further that during the period that such bonds are excluded by the State, the
principal amount then outstanding shall be included within the funded debt of such county.

8. Bonds constituting instruments of indebtedness under which the county incurs a
contingent liability as a guarantor, but only to the extent the principal amount of such bonds does
not exceed seven percent of the principal amount of outstanding general obligation bonds not
otherwise excluded herein; provided that the county shall establish and maintain a reserve in an
amount in reasonable proportion to the outstanding loans guaranteed by the county as provided by
law.

9. Bonds issued by the county to meet appropriations for any fiscal period in
anticipation of the collection of revenues for such period or to meet casua deficits or failures of
revenue, if required to be paid within one year.

Funded Debt and Debt Margin

Under State law, a political subdivision (such as the City and County) is required annually, as of each
July 1, to determine and certify the amount of its funded debt and exclusions therefrom. Accordingly, a certification
has been prepared of the funded debt of the City and County and the exclusions therefrom as of July 1, 2003, and
Table 5 sets forth a summary statement of such funded debt and exclusions as of such date. Set forthin Table6isa
detailed schedule of al outstanding general obligation funded debt of the City and County as of July 1, 2003.
Table 7 lists all general obligation funded debt of the City and County as of July 1, 2003.
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1. Gross assessed valuation of real property, January 31, 2003

2. Less exempt valuation
3. Asssessor’ s net taxable value
4. Less valuations on appeal

5. Taxpayers' valuation
6. Add 50% of valuation on appeal

7. Net assessed valuation of real property for rate purposes

8. Limit of funded debt as set by the Constitution of the State of Hawaii

9. Funded debt:

aGeneral obligation bonds
b Revenue bonds
c Notes payable:
Federal Government
State of Hawaii
d Special assessment bonds
e Gross funded indebtedness

Lessexclusions:

Table5

STATEMENT OF FUNDED DEBT
Asof July 1, 2003
(Including July 1, 2003 maturities)

1,766,313,204
791,082,890

3,350,920
89,316,917
1,375,000

2,652,388,931

fRevenue bonds
Self-supporting waterworks $ 119,270,000
Self-supporting wastewater 671,812,890
g General obligation bondsissued for H-Power waste disposal facility 127,365,000
h General obligation bondsissued for Housing 118,418,952
i General obligation bonds issued for solid waste 71,290,888
j General obligation bondsissued for sewer projects 67,728,817
k State of Hawaii notesissued for sewer projects 85,495,629
| Special assessment bonds 1,375,000 1,262,757,176
| Net funded debt
10. Grosslimit of additional funded debt
11. Less general obligation bonds authorized and unissued:
Authorizing Total Amount Amount
Ordinance Authorized © I ssued Unissued
Ordinance No. 9829 $ 181,321,298 $ 176,951,742 $ 4,369,556
Ordinance No. 99-28 135,533,212 131,459,389 4,073,823
Ordinance No. 0024 209,820,859 82,418,722 127,402,137
Ordinance No. 01-27 260,181,643 84,619,349 175,562,294
Ordinance No. 02-33 274,687,500 274,687,500
$ 1,061,544,512 ¢ 475,449,202 $ 586,095,310

12. Net limit of additional funded debt

Thelimit of the funded debt is set at a sum equal to 15% of the net assessed valuation for tax rate purposes of real property.
Does not include approximately $78.7 million of revenue bonds issued as aconduit issuer for housing.
After deducting authorized amounts which have lapsed pursuant to the Charter of the City and County of Honolulu.
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95,052,356,100
15,096,913,200

79,955,442,900
1,601,790,536

78,353,652,364
800,895,268

79,154,547,632

11,873,182,145

1,388,681,755

$

10,484,500,390

586,095,310

§

9,898,405,080

@



Direct Debt

General Obligation Bonds:
April 1, 1977 SeriesA

July 2, 1990 Series A

June 1, 1992 SeriesOne
January 1, 1993 Series A
April 1, 1993 SeriesB
September 1, 1993 SeriesC
April 1, 1994 Series A

June 1, 1994 Series B
November 1, 1995 SeriesA
September 1, 1996 Series A
November 1, 1997 Series B
November 1, 1997 SeriesC
April 1, 1999 Series A

April 1, 1999 Series B

April 1, 1999 SeriesC
November 3, 1999 Series D
May 24, 2000 Series A®
May 24, 2000 Series B®
March 1, 2001 Series 2001A
March 1, 2001 Series 2001B
June 21, 2001 TECP®
December 1, 2001 Series2001C

Notes Payable- Federal Government
Notes Payable- State of Hawaii

Total Gross Direct Debt

Lessexclusions:

Bonds issued for solid waste
Bondsissued for housing

Table6

GENERAL OBLIGATION FUNDED DEBT
OF THECITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Asof July 1, 2003

(Including July 1, 2003 maturities)

Effective Original
I nterest Amount of
Rate Issue
4.37100% ¢ 5,000,000
7.29949% 169,880,000
5.85896% 52,690,000
5.85764% 150,000,000
5.43923% 611,335,000
4.85624% 28,000,000
5.62722% 150,000,000
5.91399% 94,000,000
5.28686% 100,000,000
5.45420% 100,000,000
5.09054% 83,000,000
5.40595% 157,605,000
4.03549% 12,000,000
5.00249% 88,000,000
4.91016% 349,215,000
4.72927% 45,820,000
Variable 138,500,000
Variable 11,500,000
5.09921% 141,500,000
4.07029% 8,500,000
Variable 150,000,000
Variable 250,000,000
$ 2,896,545,000
5.11600% ¢ 5,668,313
Various 122,134,649
¢ 127,802,962
¢ 3,024,347,962

Bonds issued for H-Power waste disposal facility

Bonds issued for sewer projects

State of Hawaii Notes issued for sewer projects

Net Funded Debt

@ |_ast maturity dateis April 1, 2024.
@ Theseissuesinitially bear interest at weekly variable rates (weekly mode) but the rates may, at the option of the
City and County, be converted to afixed interest rate (fixed mode). When any bond isin the weekly mode, it is

Maturing
Serially
From/To

1/1/79-11
7/1/95-08
6/1/94-07
1/1/97-13
10/1/9413
9/1/98-18
4/1/98-14
6/1/98-14
11/1/99-15
9/1/00-16
11/1/01-17
11/1/99-10
7/1/02-03
7/1/03-24 W
7/1/01-20
2/1/01-10
1/1/04-20
1/1/04-05
9/1/05-24
9/1/04-05
Not Applicable
12/1/06-20

6/20/84-16
Various

subject to redemption on any interest payment date. When any bond isin the fixed mode, it is subject to
redemption at such date and at such redemption price as the City and County shall determine at the time of

conversion.

® The maximum authorized outstanding principal amount of notes under the City and County’s commercial paper
program is $150,000,000.
 On December 4, 2003, the City and County will have the optionto enter into aweekly or extended rate mode.
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Optional
Call

Dates Outstanding
01/01/1986 $ 1,915,000
Non-callable 93,300,000
Non-callable 13,673,205
Non-callable 17,180,000
Non-callable 293,145,000
Non-callable 13,895,000
Non-callable 23,215,000
06/01/2004 4,530,000
11/01/2005 25,550,000
09/01/2006 13,100,000
11/01/2007 27,515,000
Non-callable 105,065,000
Non-callable 6,150,000
07/01/2009 88,000,000
07/01/2009 327,915,000
Non-callable 34,065,000
Any time 138,500,000
Anytime 11,500,000
09/01/2011 141,500,000
Non-callable 8,500,000
Non-callable 128,100,000
12/04/2003% 250,000,000
$ 1,766,313,205
Non-callable ¢ 3,350,920
Non-callable 89,316,917
¢ 92,667,837
¢ 1,858,981,042

71,290,888

118,418,952

127,365,000

67,728,817
85,495,629 470,299,286
$ 1,388,681,756




Ending
June30

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029

2031
2032
2033

$

Table7

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

DEBT SERVICE CHARGESON
OUTSTANDING GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT
July 1, 2003 to Maturity @

Net Debt
Gener al Obligation Bonds Other Debt® Gross Debt Reimbur sable Debt Service
Principal Interest® Principal Interest® Service Char ges Principal Inter est Charges

98,405,000 $ 81,261,837 $ 6,206,560 $ 2,569,971 $ 188,443,368 $ 41,211,371 $ 22,762,620 $ 124,469,377
103,214,000 75,638,541 5,834,176 2,394,290 187,081,007 42,525,283 20,375,583 124,180,141
103,229,000 70,589,973 6,144,986 2,246,673 182,210,632 44,085,722 18,165,060 119,959,850
115,366,205 65,423,225 5,415,358 2,093,305 188,298,093 45,315,434 15,982,309 127,000,350
117,519,000 58,263,749 5,552,294 1,937,493 183,272,536 45,155,893 13,071,752 125,044,891
121,594,000 52,031,445 5,694,340 1,776,077 181,095,862 47,003,829 10,480,362 123,611,671
105,155,000 46,271,513 5,838,786 1,611,740 158,877,039 29,512,763 8,519,303 120,844,973
99,291,000 40,323,967 5,987,574 1,424,282 147,026,823 21,479,616 7,070,734 118,476,473
92,970,000 35,485,672 6,140,043 1,238,247 135,833,962 18,783,382 6,168,005 110,882,575
94,200,000 30,838,619 6,297,573 1,057,975 132,394,167 17,588,484 5,377,054 109,428,629
85,885,000 26,262,016 5,155,286 695,567 117,997,869 13,871,629 4,435,319 99,690,921
59,550,000 22,556,975 2,702,325 423,563 85,232,863 11,716,378 3,738,805 69,777,680
62,945,000 19,687,163 2,712,930 315,017 85,660,110 11,812,050 3,195,902 70,652,158
63,025,000 16,729,825 2,433,224 210,725 82,398,774 12,453,890 2,643,030 67,301,854
64,795,000 13,725,019 2,175,603 124,206 80,819,828 12,555,392 2,068,950 66,195,486
64,170,000 10,703,322 1,179,668 56,643 76,109,633 11,707,030 1,503,677 62,898,926
64,065,000 7,723,913 203,331 23,363 72,015,607 9,038,398 1,013,399 61,963,810
57,940,000 4,706,644 176,830 15,925 62,839,399 7,095,805 580,730 55,162,864
14,990,000 2,954,847 182,109 8,865 18,135,821 1,876,093 358,762 15,900,966
15,765,000 2,167,581 87,230 1,717 18,021,528 1,969,642 262,619 15,789,267
23,060,000 1,413,781 - - 24,473,781 4,267,718 189,161 20,016,902
11,080,000 290,850 - - 11,370,850 - - 11,370,850
$ 1,638,213,205 $ 685,050,475 $ 76,120,226 $ 20,225,644 $ 2,419,609,550 $ 451,025,802 $ 147,963,136 $ 1,820,620,612

@ Including July 1, 2003 maturities. Excludes commercial paper dated 6/21/02 and excludes self-supporting revenue bonds.
@ An estimate of 4% is used in lieu of actual variablerate for the 5/24/2000 Series A, B and C I ssues, 12/01/2001 Series C.

@ Includes:

$

3,350,920

89,316,917
693,633

2,010,183
$ 90371003

@ Includes loan fees charged to interest for State of Hawaii notes payable.

U.S. Government note payable for City’s share of Kaneohe Reservoir Recreation & Fish and Wildlife Devel opment

State of Hawaii notes payable for various sewer projects, reimbursable from Sewer Fund.
Lease purchase agreement for City’ s telephone network
Installment purchase contracts for various fixed assets
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Trend of General Obligation Indebtedness

The following table sets forth the trend of outstanding general obligation indebtedness of the City and
County as of June 30 of each of the most recent five Fiscal Years. Except for the Bonds to be issued, the City and
County has not issued any general obligation bonds or general obligation notes subsequent to June 30, 2001.

Table8

TREND OF GENERAL OBLIGATION INDEBTEDNESS
Fiscal Years1999-2003

General Obligation Bonds

FY Reimbursable Total General Total General
Ending Non- for Other Obligation Note Obligation
June30 Reimbur sable®® Purposes® Bonds Payable Debt

1999 978,575,68€ 536,622,775 1,515,198,461 4,015,014 1,519,213,475

2000 1,055,244,44€ 505,547,957 1,560,792,403 3,861,202 1,564,653,605

2001 1,103,083,51¢ 510,263,618 1,613,347,137 3,699,520 1,617,046,657

2002 1,310,484,56C 498,061,235 1,808,545,795 3,529,568 1,812,075,363

2003 1,385,330,83€ 470,299,286 1,855,630,122 3,350,920 1,858,981,042

@ Direct debt.

®  pursuant to the Sate Constitution, the general obligation bonds issued to finance the H-Power waste

disposal facilities, water facilities, sewer treatment facilities, the West Loch Subdivision and other
low income housing projects may be classified as reimbursable general obligation bonds based on
reimbur sements having actually been made to the General Fund of the City and County for payment
of the principal of and interest on such bonds from the revenues of such undertakings, as determined
for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year.

Between 1969 and 1996, in lieu of revenue bonds, the Board of Water Supply of the City and County had
resorted exclusively to the issuance of reimbursable general obligation bonds by the City and County to finance the
Board’ s capital projects, using the full faith and credit of the City and County. However, the Board of Water Supply
issued revenue bonds to finance improvements to the water system, in the principal amounts of $18,000,000 in
March, 1996, $66,600,000 in May, 2001 (in part to refund all of the revenue bonds issued in 1996), and $54,400,000
in March 2002. In the future, the Board of Water Supply may issue revenue bonds or may seek the issuance of
reimbursable general obligation bonds to finance improvementsto the water system.

The City and County has issued a total of $191,320,000 principal amount of senior revenue bonds and
$218,400,000 principal amount of junior revenue bonds to finance improvements to the wastewater system of the
City and County, and $264,152,890 principal amount of junior revenue bonds to refund certain reimbursable general
obligation bonds of the City and County issued to finance the wastewater system of the City and County. In the
future, the City and County may issue revenue bonds or may issue reimbursable general obligation bonds to finance
improvements to the wastewater system, although current plans are to issue revenue bonds for such purpose.

In lieu of issuance of special assessment bonds to fund the unpaid portion of the property owners' share of
the cost of improvements undertaken under Sec. 14-25.1, Revised Ordinances of Honolulu 1990, relating to
improvement districts created and established by initiation on the part of the City and County, since 1969 the City
and County has primarily utilized the issuance of reimbursable general obligation bonds to fund assessable public
improvements. In addition, the City and County has utilized the issuance of reimbursable general obligation bonds

to finance the H-Power waste disposal facility, sewer treatment facilities, the West Loch Subdivision and other low
income housing projects.

Reimbursement to General Fund for Debt Service

All general obligation bonds of the City and County are payable as to principal and interest from the
General Fund of the City and County. The City Council for certain purposes may require that the General Fund be
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reimbursed for the payment from such fund of the debt service on such bonds, such reimbursement to be made from
any revenues, user taxes or other income derived from the carrying out of such purposes or from assessment
collections. To the extent that reimbursements are not made, the City and County would be required to apply other
money in the General Fund, including receipts from taxes, to pay debt service on general obligation bonds. As
noted in the explanation for the table immediately preceding, reimbursable general obligation bonds have been
issued to finance capital projects of the Board of Water Supply, assessable public improvements, H-Power waste
disposal facility, wastewater treatment facilities, the West Loch Subdivision and other low income housing projects.
As explained under “DEBT STRUCTURE -- Legal Requirements -- Exclusions,” and as shown in the Statement of
Funded Debt in Table 6 above, reimbursable general obligation bonds issued for the Board of Water Supply,
assessable public improvements, housing projects, HPower waste disposal facility and wastewater treatment
facilities are excluded in determining the funded debt of the City and County beginning in the Fiscal Year when
reimbursements are, in fact, made to the General Fund. In December 1998, the City issued $264,152,890 principal
amount of junior revenue bonds to refund certain reimbursable general obligation bonds of the City and County
issued to finance capital improvements to the wastewater system of the City and Gounty to achieve a more level
overall debt service profile for such debt.

Pension Liability

The City and County provides retirement, disability and death benefits for all regular employees of the City
and County through the Employees’ Retirement System of the State. (See “EMPLOYEE RELATIONS;
PENSIONS’ herein for a discussion of the County’s liability under the Employee’s Retirement System of the State
for the payment of such benefits).

L eases

The City and County has entered into various capital and operating |eases expiring at various dates through
2055. The leases are financed from general resources. Expenditures for such leases approximated $1.9 million for
the Fiscal Y ear ended June 30, 2002, and future expenditures for such leases are projected to be $9.3 million.

Special Assessment | ndebtedness

The City and County had outstanding as of June 30, 2002, $1,745,000 principal amount of special
assessment bonds of various improvement districts, none of which is applicable to the limit of funded debt of the
City and County or is acharge against the full faith and credit of the City and County.

Revenue Indebtedness

The Board of Water Supply of the City and County has issued revenue bonds to finance capital
improvements for the water system of the Board of Water Supply, which are payable from revenues of the water
system. Such revenue bonds are payable solely out of revenues, assets and funds pledged under the applicable
security documents. Such revenue bonds are limited obligations of the City and County, are excluded for purposes
of determining the funded indebtedness of the City and County, and do not constitute a general or moral obligation
or apledge of the full faith and credit or taxing power of the City and County of Honolulu or the State of Hawaii.

In addition, the City and County has issued senior and junior revenue bonds to finance capital
improvements for the wastewater system of the City and County, and has issued junior revenue bonds to refund
certain reimbursable general obligation bonds of the City and County issued to finance capital improvements for the
wastewater system of the City and County in order to achieve amore level overall debt service profile for such debt,
both of which are payable from revenues of the wastewater system. Such revenue bonds are payable solely out of
revenues, assets and funds pledged under the applicable security documents. Such revenue bonds are also limited
obligations of the City and County, are also excluded for purposes of determining the funded indebtedness of the
City and County, and also do not constitute a general or moral obligation or a pledge of the full faith and credit or
taxing power of the City and County of Honolulu or the State of Hawaii.
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The City and County had outstanding as of June 30, 2002, approximately $78.7 million of revenue bonds
issued for housing purposes.

No Default

The City and County has never defaulted on the payment when due of the principal of or interest on any
indebtedness.

There are no so-called “moral obligation” bonds of the City and County outstanding or authorized which
contemplate a voluntary appropriation by the City Council of General Fund revenues in such amounts as may be
necessary to make up any deficiency in either adebt service fund or any other funds or accounts.

BUDGET PROCESS AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Budgets and Expenditures

The Charter of the City and County provides for (1) an annual executive budget consisting of an operating
and capital budget, including a statement of relationships between operating and capital items for the executive
branch, and (2) a legislative budget setting forth the expenditures of the legislative branch. Appropriations in the
legislative and executive operating budget ordinances are valid only for the Fiscal Year for which made, and any
part of such appropriations which has not been expended or encumbered on the basis of firm commitments lapses at
the end of the Fiscal Year. Appropriations in the executive capital budget ordinance are valid only for the Fiscal
Year for which made and for six months thereafter, and any part of such appropriations which is not expended or
encumbered lapses six months after the end of the Fiscal Y ear.

Expenditures for capital improvements of the City and County, exclusive of capital outlays of the semi-
autonomous Board of Water Supply, for the last five Fiscal Y ears are shown in the table below.

Table9
EXPENDITURESFOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

Fiscal Years1998- 2003
(in million dollars)

Expenditures®

Bond Funds Cash Cashas
Fiscal Grand General Sewer Finance Federal %
Year Total Obligation Revenue Hsg. Dev. Total™ Grants Cash® Total of Total
1998¢ 302.7 187.6 50.8 0.0 238.4 61.3 3.0 643 21.2%
1999¢ 296.2 194.4 435 1.9 239.8 49.0 7.4 564  19.0%
2000® 241.9 133.9 56.7 0.0 190.6 375 138 513 21.2%
2001® 385.5 251.9 88.3 0.0 340.2 26.9 184 453 11.8%
2002 4495 262.0 170.2 0.0 4322 10.3 7.0 173  3.8%
2003 444.0 274.7 144.8 0.0 4195 21.6 2.9 245  55%
™ Inclusive of encumbrances.
@ Fundsfrom current revenues and surplus.

®  Adjusted for lapses.
H-Power Waste Disposal Facility
The City and County issued approximately $256 million of reimbursable general obligation bonds to
finance the acquisition and construction of the HPower waste disposal facility, which went into commercial

operation in June 1990. In 1999, the City and County issued general obligation bonds to refund a portion of the
reimbursable general obligation bondsissued for the H-Power waste disposal facility.
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Prior to completion of the HPower waste disposal facility, the City and County entered into a leveraged
lease transaction with respect to the facility pursuant to which the facility was sold to an “Owner Trust” and
simultaneously leased to a private operator. Under the terms of such sale, the City and County was obligated to pay
the cost of completion of the facility. Pursuant to an operating agreement with such operator, the City and County
will pay the private operator fees in an amount which is expected to be sufficient for such operator to pay lease
rentals. The fees under the operating agreement will be paid from disposal fees imposad by the City and County on
al users of the facility, including the City and County, from energy and material revenues generated by the facility,
from funds appropriated by the City Council for such purpose and from other sources. As consideration for the
purchase of the facility, the Owner Trust paid approximately $80 million in cash, issued its mortgage note for the
balance of the purchase price and gave the City and County a mortgage on the facility as security for its obligation to
make payments on the mortgage note. The City and County will continue to dispose of its solid waste at the facility
pursuant to the operating contract, and is receiving the revenues generated by the facility.

Cash Management and | nvestments

The investment of funds by the City and County is governed by and conforms to Section 46-50, Hawaii
Revised Statutes, which authorizes investmentsin bonds or interest bearing notes or obligations of the county, of the
State, of the United States, or of agencies of the United States for which the full faith and credit of the United States
are pledged for the payment of principal and interest; federal land bank bonds; joint stock farm loan bonds; Federal
Home Loan Bank notes and bonds; Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation bonds, Federal National Mortgage
Association notes and bonds; securities of a mutual fund whose portfolio is limited to bonds or securities issued or
guaranteed by the United States or an agency thereof; repurchase agreements fully collateralized by any such bonds
or securities; bank savings accounts; time certificates of deposit; certificates of deposit open account; bonds of any
improvement district of any county of the State; bank, savings and loan association, and financial services loan
company repurchase agreements; student loan resource securities including: student loan auction rate securities,
student loan asset-backed notes, student loan program revenue notes and bonds, and securities issued pursuant to
Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933, including any private placement issues, issued with either bond insurance
or overcollateralization guaranteed by the United States Department of Education; provided all insurers maintain a
triple-A rating by Standard & Poors, Moody’s, Duff & Phelps, Fitch, or any other major national securities rating
agency; provided in each case the investments are due to mature not more than five years from the date of
investment.

Chapter 38-3, Hawaii Revised Statutes, provides for collateralization of all public funds on deposit with
banks and savings and |oan associations, except that portion of depositsinsured under the laws of the United States.

The City and County manages its own portfolio and does not engage in pooled investments, speculate with
investments or leverage its investments. The City’s philosophy and policy in managing its investmentsiis. first, for
safety of public funds; second, for liquidity, so that funds are available when needed; and third, for yield, after the
first two considerations are met.

Interest earnings from funds invested by the City totaled $26.3 million in the Fiscal Year ended June 30,
2002, representing an investment yield of 2.89%.

Under the City Charter, the City’s Treasury is subject to an audit and verification at such times as
necessary, by representatives of the City Council.

Inter-Fund Borrowing

Under State law, the Director of Budget and Fiscal Services may, with the consent of the City Council, use
any portion of moneys belonging to any funds under her control, except pension or retirement funds, funds set aside
for redemption of bonds or the payment of interest thereon, and private trust funds, for the purpose of paying
warrants and checks drawn against any fund temporarily depleted. All sums so used are required to be repaid to the
credit of the fund from which taken immediately after the replenishment of such depleted fund.
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State law also provides that whenever there are moneys in any fund of the City and County, except pension
or retirement funds, funds under the control of any independent board or commission, funds set aside for redemption
of bonds or the payment of interest thereon and private trust funds, which, in the judgment of the Director of Budget
and Fiscal Services of the City and County, are in excess of the amounts necessary for the immediate requirements
of the respective funds, and where, in such officer’s judgment, such action will not impede the necessary or
desirable financial operations of the City and County, said Director may, with the consent of the City Council, make
temporary transfers or loans therefrom, without interest, to other funds of the City and County for undertaking
public improvements for which the issuance and sale of general obligation bonds have been duly authorized by the
City Council. Such transfers shall be made only after passage by the City Council of an ordinance or resolution
authorizing the public improvements. Amounts transferred under such statutory authorization shall not exceed the
total sum of unissued authorized bonds of the City and County. The funds from which the transfers or loans are
made shall be reimbursed by the Director of Budget and Fiscal Services from the proceeds of the bond sales upon
the eventual issuance and sale of the bonds, or by appropriations of the City Council.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND ACCOUNTING
Independent Audit

The Charter of the City and County requires that at least once every year the City Council obtain an
independent audit of the accounts and other evidences of financial transactions of the City and County and of every
agency. The audit is made by a certified public accountant or a firm of certified public accountants designated by
the City Council. The City and County’s auditor for Fiscal Years ended June 30, 1998 and 1999 was KPMG Peat
Marwick, L.L.P., and the City and County’s auditor for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002 is
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Included herein as Appendix A are the basic financial statements of the City and County
for the year ended June 30, 2002, and the auditors' report thereon. KPMG Peat Marwick has not reviewed this
Official Statement and has no responsibility with respect to this Official Statement.

The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
using the accrua basis of accounting. The fund financial statements are prepared on a modified accrual basis, under
which expenditures other than accrued interest on general long-term debt are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred and revenues are recorded when earned. Taxes are recorded when levied and other revenues are recorded
when they become both measurable and available for the payment of expenses for the current fiscal period.
Proprietary fund accounts are maintained on the accrual basis.

The City and County is currently in compliance with GASB 34.
Financial Statements

The following four tables set forth the balance sheet and the statement of revenues and expenditures and
changes in fund balance for the General Fund and the balance sheet and the combined statement of revenues and
expenditures and changes in fund balance for all governmental fund types and expendable trust funds for the Fiscal
Years shown in such tables. The information set forth in such financial statements has been prepared by the
Director of Budget and Fiscal Services (Director of Finance prior to July 1, 1998) of the City and County based on
audited financial statements for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 1998 to 2002, inclusive, and has been summarized
from the Director’s Annual Financial Reports for the related Fiscal Y ears.



Table10

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
GENERAL FUND
BALANCE SHEET
For Fiscal YearsEnded June 30, 1998 thr ough June 30, 2002
(in thousand dollars)

FY Ended FY Ended FY Ended FY Ended FY Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
ASSETS:
Cash and Securities. . ............ $38,990 $60,945 $59,877 $34,330 $58,128
Receivables:
Real Property Taxes. ......... 7,132 7,025 6,638 5,950 5,234
Other.................... 7,964 16,347 4,693 19,295 12,532
Component unit-CASE fees. . ... 0 0 8,413
Duefromother funds............. 2,335 1,594 579 0 305
TotaA Assats..........coovvnnn. $56.421 $85911 $80,200 $59,575 $76,199
LIABILITY AND FUND BALANCES
Liahilities:
Accountspayable........... $5,305 $1,323 $6,094
Checkspayable............. $2,605 $3,719 3,500 2,261 2,507
Duetoother funds........... 6,386 5,183 2,408 300 640
Accrued payroll andfringes. . . .. 0 15,551 3,807 3,686
Deferredrevenues. ........... 7,164 11,715 10,128 10,348 8,922
Totd Liabilities. . ...... 16,155 36,168 21,341 18,039 21,849
Fund Balances:
Reserved for encumbrances. . . . $15,755 $19,228 $20,683 $18,189 $19,191
Unreserved-undesignated . . . . .. 24,511 30,515 38,176 23,347 35,159
Total Fund Balances. ........ $40,266 $49,743 $58,859 $41,536 $54,350
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances. . . $56.421 $35.911 $80.200 $59,575 $76.199
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Tablell

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGESIN FUND BALANCE
For Fiscal YearsEnded June 30, 1998 thr ough June 30, 2002
(in thousand dollars)

REVENUES:

Real property tax. . .. ..o
Licensesand permits. . ................
Intergovenmental revenues. .............
Chargesforservices. ..................
Finesand forfeitures. . . ................
Miscellaneous. . . ...t
Total Revenues.................

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Genera government. .............
Publicsafety. . .................
Highwaysand streets. .. ..........
Sanitation. ...
Hesalth and Human Resources. . . . .. .
Cultureand recreation. . ...........
Urban redevelopment and housing . . . .
Utilitiesand other enterprises. . .. ...
Miscellaneous. . ................
Capitaloutlay . ...............covn.
Debt service:
Principal retirement.. . ............
Interestcharges. . ...............
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues over Expenditures. . . . .

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Inception of installment purchase contracts.. .
Salesof general fixedassets............
Operatingtransfer-in..................
Operatingtransfer-out . ................
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over
(under) Expenditures and Other Uses

Fund Baance-July 1..................
Residual equity transfer from other fund. . . ..
Fund Baance-June30................

24

FY Ended FY Ended FY Ended FY Ended FY Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, June30,
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
$404,415 $402,827 $399,115 $380,098 $407,270

18,275 18,469 25,969 26,820 25,897
45,450 38,302 33,680 35,742 32,063
15,786 11,288 5,110 4,836 3,912
226 270 222 159 249
88,688 110,626 124,113 105,184 105,248
$572,840 $581,782 $588,209 $552,839 $574,639
$81,639 $87,197 $83,464 $86,444 $95,817
172,605 186,325 178,544 193,692 199,990
3,850 3,842 1,387 2,964 5,768
34,576 36,701 0
12,036 14,380 12,324 14,327 14,579
39,668 35,012 34,859 38,792 41,339
31 0 0
0 49 8 140
108,194 91,884 67,602 66,112 100,573
1,936 93 86 2,670
1,596 1,789 1,501 1,084 1,207
548 511 438 362 310
......... $456.,679 $457,783 $380,213 $406,587 $459,583
$116,161 $123,999 $207,996 $146,252 $115,056
$1,936 $93 $86 $2,670
80 1,367 6,531 117 $187
119,377 88,737 44,714 47,634 82,919
(252,404) (204,719) (250,211) (213,996) (185,348)
($131,011)  ($114522) ($198,880)  ($163575)  ($102.242)
(14,850) 9,477 9,116 (17,323) 12,814
46,964 40,266 49,743 58,859 41,536
8,152
$40,266 $49.743 $58,859 $41.536 $54.350



Revenues:

Special assessments. .. ...
Licensesandpermits........................
Intergovernmental ... ...
Chargesforservices. . ..........ccoviieeon..
Finesand forfeitures.........................
Miscellaneous:

Reimbursements and recoveries. . ...........

Interest .. ...

Other-primarily rents, concessions, trust receipts

Totalrevenues. . ....................

Expenditures:

Current:
General government. . ....................
Publicsafety. .............. ... ..o
Highwaysand streets....................
Sanitation. ... ...
Health and human resources. ..............
Cultureandrecreation....................
Urban redevelopment and housing. . ..........
Utilities or other enterprises. ...............
Miscellaneous:
Retirement and health benefits. . ............

Capital Outlay. . ........cooviiiiiiii
Debt service:
Principal retirement .. ......... ... .. ...
Interestcharges........................
Total expenditures. .. ................
Revenues over (under) Expenditures. .............

Other financing sources (uses):

Proceeds of general obligationbonds. ............
Proceeds of general obligation refunding bonds. . . ...
Proceeds of revenue bonds with accrued interest . . . . .
Proceedsof longtermnotes. . ..................
Inception of installment purchase contracts. ........
Sales of general fixedassets. ..................
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent. ..........
Insurancecost . . .......... ... ..t
Payment of refundedbonds. ...................
Operating transfersin........................

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses). .........
Revenues and Other Sources over (under)

Expendituresand Other Uses. ...................

Fundbalances—-Jduly 1.................oouue.
Residual equity transfers from (to) other funds. . ... ..
Fund balances--June30. . .............c.ovuunn.

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002 (AUDITED)

Table12

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURESAND CHANGESIN FUND BALANCES

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALSFOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2001 (AUDITED)
(in thousand dollars)

General Obligatior General Other

General Highway Bond and Interest Improvement Governmental TOTALS(MEMORANDUM ONLY)
Fund Fund Redemption Fund Bond Fund Funds 2001 2002
$407,27C $70,47€ $448,98¢€ $477,746
$440 445 440
25,897 27,80C 2,917 56,26€ 56,614
32,063 113,376 170,152 145,439
3,912 4,123 10,447 20,718 18,482
249 2 209 36€ 460
0
76,706 144 23 87,264 76,873
7,518 $1,516 1,051 15,234 10,086
21,023 4,358 85 12,733 21,6632 38,199
$574,63¢ $106,902 $1,601 $0 $141,196 $821,094 $824,339
$95,817 $10,68C $8,817 $104,72C $115,314
199,99C 20,233 4,051 217,504 224,274
5,768 9,352 2 14,97€ 15,122
446 45 482 491
14,579 50,326 68,98€ 64,905
41,339 17,071 55,55E 58,410
0 0
1,452 22,341 23,621 23,793
0
81,647 9,10C 3,633 60,15¢ 94,380
18,926 1,30C 151 15,774 20,377
$153,519 104,347 203,714 257,866
0
1,207 $26,151 370 147,70z 27,728
310 80,766 129 77,89€ 81,205
$459,582 $52,562 $106,917 $153,519 $211,283 $991,08¢ $983,865
$115,05€ $54,34C ($105,316) ($153,519) ($70,087) ($169,995) ($159,526)
$153,015 $52,000 $150,06C $205,015
$90,584 9,30C 90,584
0
1119 1,119
2,67C 0
$187 $345 283 532
0
0
(90,584) (9,300) (90,584)
82,919 105,31€ 23,674 221,82¢ 211,909
(185,348) (45,303) (22,614) (288,503) (253,265)
0
($102,242) ($44,958) $105,31€ $153,015 $54,179 $86,33¢€ $165,310
$12,814 $9,382 $0 ($504) ($15,908) ($83,657) $5,784
41,536 17,702 13,469 101,801 $180,631 174,508
0
$54,35C $27,084 $0 $12,965 $85,893 $96,974 $180,292
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REVENUES:

Special assessments. .. ...
Licensesand permits. ...,
Intergovernmental revenues. . ...................
Chargesfor Services. . ....ovvviin i
Finesandforfeitures. ...................... ...
Miscellaneous. . .. ...
Totalrevenues. .. ...
EXPENDITURES:
Current:

General government

Public safety

Highwaysandstreets.....................
Sanitation. ...

Health and human resources
Culture and recreation. . . . .
Utilities or other enterprises

Miscellaneous. . ..........

Capital Outlay. .. ...

Debt service:
Principal retirement . ........... .. ... ...
Interest charges. . ...
Total expenditures. . ..................
Revenues over (under) Expenditures...............
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds of general obligationbonds..............
Proceeds of general obligation refunding bonds. . . . . ..
Proceeds of revenue bonds with accrued interest. . . . . .
Proceedsof longtermnotes. . ...................
Inception of installment purchase contracts. . ........

Sales of general fixed assets

Operating transfersin
Operating transfers out

Payment to refunding bond escrow agent

Insurance cost

Expenditures for refunded bonds. . ................
Other........ ... i
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)..........
Revenues and Other Sources over (under)
Expendituresand Other Uses. . ..............
Fundbalances-Jduly 1..............cooiiiinn.
Residual equity transfersfrom (to) other funds. . .......
Fund balances-June30........................

1)

Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments.”

Table13

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURESAND CHANGESIN FUND BALANCES

ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPESAND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

For Fiscal YearsEnded June 30, 1999 through June 30, 2002

(in thousand dollars)

(Audited)
FY Ended
June 30, 1999

(Audited)
FY Ended
June 30, 2000

(Audited)
FY Ended
June 30, 2001

(Audited)
FY Ended
June 30, 2002

$466,115 $461,255 $448,986 $477,746
537 447 445 440
46,357 55,157 56,266 56,614
130,128 165,189 170,152 145,439
141,828 20,489 20,718 18,482
456 a77 366 460
260,965 407,685 316,265 454,633
$1,046,386 $1,110,699 $1,013,198 $1,153,814
$229,670 $348,481 $282,406 $430,133
198,273 202,353 218,724 225,186
24,006 14,980 15,051 15,138
82,620 1,083 1,043 856
67,243 63,892 70,991 66,990
56,142 68,861 64,975 68,201
9,688 20,582 23,648 23,865
115,463 76,581 75,932 114,757
143,749 198,031 203,714 257,866
68,501 69,417 147,703 27,728
83,280 75,982 77,896 81,205
$1,078,635 $1,140,243 $1,182,083 $1,311,925
($32,249) ($29,544) ($168,885) ($158,111)
$150,000 $111,500 $150,060 $205,015
614,474 38,500 9,300 90,584
27,345
10,999 6,094 1,119
93 86 2,670
10,189 18,006 283 532
277,672 230,941 221,828 211,909
(321,659) (348,236) (288,503) (253,265)
(614,474)
(918)

(43,500) (9,300) (90,584)
$154,639 $12,473 $86,338 $165,310
$122,390 ($17,071) ($82,547) $7,199

275,417 240,421 210,015 205,002

(13,335)

$397,807 $210,015 $127,468 $212,201
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Beginning fiscal year ended June 30, 2000, Sewer and Solid Waste Oper ations wer e accounted for as Enter prise Funds and are excluded from the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changesin Fund Balances.
@ Effective July 1, 2001, the City implemented a new financial reporting model as required by the provisions of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34, “ Basic Financial Statements and Management’ s



EMPLOYEE RELATIONS; PENSIONS
Employee Relations

The State Constitution grants public employees in Hawaii the right to organize for the purpose of collective
bargaining as provided by law. Chapter 89, Hawaii Revised Statutes, as amended, provides for 13 recognized
bargaining units for all public employees in the State, including City and County employees. Eight of these
bargaining units represent City and County employees. Each bargaining unit designates an employee organization
as the exclusive representative of all employees of such unit, which organization negotiates with the public
employer. The State and the counties are required to bargain collectively with the bargaining units. Decisions by
the employer representatives are determined by simple majority vote, with the Governor having four votes and each
of the mayors having one vote. Under State law enacted in 1995, if an impasse in any negotiation is declared, the
parties may attempt to resolve the impasse through mediation, fact finding and, except for bargaining units for blue-
collar non-supervisory workers, final and binding arbitration. Although State law characterizes arbitration as “final
and binding,” it also provides that all cost items are subject to approva by the respective legislative bodies. State
law does not permit the workers in any bargaining unit to strike except the blue-collar non-supervisory workers.

All of the City and County of Honolulu’s eight public bargaining units (i.e., blue-collar non-supervisory;
blue-collar supervisory; white-collar non-supervisory; white-collar supervisory; institutional, health and correctional
workers; firefighters; police; and professional and scientific) have reached negotiated four-year agreements ending
on June 30, 2003, but all were extended by mutual agreement of the parties. Three bargaining units either have gone
or will shortly go to final or binding arbitration: firefighters have been awarded a two-year contract ending on June
30, 2005; Thefirefighters settled on atwo-year agreement ending June 30, 2005; police have finished arbitration and
later this year will receive a four-year contract ending June 30, 2007; and institutional, health and correctional
workers will be going into final and binding arbitration later this year. Blue-collar supervisory, white-collar non-
supervisory, white-collar supervisory and professional and scientific workers have by mutual consent extended their
contracts to June 30, 2004, with the option to terminate the extension upon 30-days written notice by either party.
Blue-collar non-supervisory workers have by mutual consent extended their contract to June 30, 2005, with the right
to continue negotiation on wage and other cost items if the blue-collar supervisory, white-collar non-supervisory,
white-collar supervisory or professional and scientific workers obtain a negotiated increase in wages or aher cost
items.

Pensions

All regular employees of the City and County are covered under the Employees Retirement System of the
State (the “ State Retirement System”). Retirement, disability and death benefits provided by the State Retirement
System are financed by employee contributions and by employer contributions determined on an actuarial reserve
basis. Most contributory employee members contribute 7.8% of compensation to the pension accumulation fund,
except that for firefighters, policemen and certain correction officers such contribution rate is 12.2% of
compensation.

Actuarial valuations are prepared each year to determine the total employer contribution requirement. In
accordance with the statutory funding provisions (Sections 88-122 and 88-123, Hawaii Revised Statutes), including
the changes due to Act 327, Session Laws of Hawaii 1997; Act 100, Session Laws of Hawaii 1999; and Act 216,
Session Laws of Hawaii 2000, the total employer contribution requirement to the pension accumulation fund is
comprised of the normal cost plus the level annual payment required to amortize the unfunded accrued liability over
a period of 21 years from July 1, 1995. The actuarial cost method used to calculate employer contributions was
changed by said Act 327 from the frozen initial liability method. As of June 30, 2002, the total unfunded liability
was $1,865 million (represents the funding for all state and county workers), excluding the early incentive
retirement program costs. The City and County’s estimated share of the unfunded actuarial liability was $278.3
million and the Board of Water Supply’s was $19 million.

Each employer’s (i.e., the State's or a county’s) annual contribution to the State Retirement System is
determined by multiplying (1) the total employer contribution requirement derived from the annual actuarial
valuation as of the next preceding June 30, by (2) the ratio of that employer’s (i.e., the State’s and each of the
respective county’s) payroll over the total covered payroll included in the actuarial vauation. For example,
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Honolulu’s contribution requirement for the 2001-02 fiscal year is based on the June 30, 1999 actuarial valuation
and the payroll used in that valuation. The City and County’s contribution to the State Retirement System for the
five Fiscal Years, exclusive of costs for employees of the Board of Water Supply, was $57,133,400 for 1998,
$32,333,500 for 1999, $10,285,300 for 2000, $1,070,400 for 2001 and $34,385,900 for 2002, including amortization
of aportion of prior service cost in each such year. Retirement contributions are funded on an actuarial basis.

A noncontributory retirement plan for certain public employees was created by enactment of Act 108,
Session Laws of Hawaii 1984. All persons hired after June 30, 1984, and those contributory members who elected
to join the plan, are covered under the provisions of the noncontributory retirement plan. Police officers,
firefighters, elected officers and those employed in positions not covered by social security are excluded from the
noncontributory retirement plan. Retirement, disability, and death benefits under the noncontributory plan are less
than the contributory plan. There is no major change in the City’s funding requirements because the cost of the
noncontributory retirement plan is about the same as the contributory retirement plan.

In addition to contributions to the State Retirement System, the City and County makes payments under
three pension systems established prior to the establishment of the State Retirement System in 1926. These pension
systems are administered by the City’s Department of Budget and Fiscal Services. At June 30, 2002, there were no
pensioners and 14 beneficiaries under these pensions. Such unfunded payments amounted to $$108,496 for 1998,
$100,269 for 1999, $92,780 for 2000, $78,561 for 2001 and $67,699 for 2002. No estimates have been made of the
cost of future benefits.

PENDING LITIGATION

In the normal course of business, claims and lawsuits are filed against the City and County. Generally the
City and County is self-insured with respect to general liability claims. In the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2000,
June 30, 2001 and June 30, 2002, judgments against the City and County paid from the General and Highway Funds
amounted to $2,589,518, $2,799,841.86 and $4,763,233, respectively.

The City and County is subject to several claims arising from its change in the designation of certain
parcels of land in East Honolulu from residential to conservation in order to prevent development. The matters are
the subject of current litigation. Estimates of the amount of damages vary widely, depending on the basis for
valuing the property. Whilethe City and County cannot predict its ultimate liability with respect to these claims, the
City and County does not believe that they will have a material adverse effect on its financial position.

The Corporation Counsel also reports that no pending litigation affects the right of the City and County to
levy taxes or to issue evidences of indebtedness.

In the opinion of the Director of Budget and Fiscal Services of the City and County, based on the
foregoing, the expected liability arising out of pending litigation would not constitute a significant impairment of the
financial position of the City and County.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing
laws, regulations, rulings, and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, compliance with certain
covenants, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), and the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all
taxation by the State or any county or other political subdivision thereof, except inheritance, transfer, estate and
certain franchise taxes. Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference
item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate aternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes
that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable
income. A complete copy of the proposed form of the opinion of Bond Counsel for the Bonds is set forth in
Appendix C hereto.
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The amount (if any) by which the amount (excluding amounts stated to be interest and payable at least
annually over the term of such Bonds) to be paid at maturity of any maturity of the Bonds exceeds the issue price of
such Bonds constitutes “ original issue discount,” the accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each owner
thereof, is treated as interest on the Bonds which is excluded from gross income for federal income and State of
Hawaii tax purposes. For this purpose, the issue price of a particular maturity of the Bondsisthefirst price at which
a substantial amount of such maturity of the Bonds is sold to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar
persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers). The original issue
discount with respect to any maturity of the Bonds accrues daily over the term to maturity of such Bonds on the
basis of a constant interest rate compounded semiannually (with straight-line interpolations between compounding
dates). The accruing original issue discount is added to the adjusted basis of such Bonds to determine taxable gain
or loss upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of such Bonds. Owners of the Bonds
should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of ownership of Bonds with original issue
discount, including the treatment of purchasers who do not purchase such Bondsin the original offering to the public
at thefirst price at which a substantial amount of such Bondsis sold to the public.

Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount greater than their principal
amount payable at maturity (or, in some cases, at their earlier call date) (“PremiumBonds”) will be treated as having
amortizable bond premium. No deduction is allowable for the amortizable bond premium in the case of bonds, like
the Premium Bonds, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
However, the amount of tax exempt interest received, and a purchaser’s basis in a Premium Bond, will be reduced
by the amount of amortizable bond premium allocable to such purchaser. Owners of Premium Bonds should consult
their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of amortizable bond premium in their particular
circumstances.

The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from gross
income for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the Bonds. The County has covenanted to
comply with certain restrictions designed to insure that interest on the Bonds will not be included in federal gross
income. Failure to comply with these covenants may result in interest on the Bonds being included in gross income
for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the Bonds. The opinion of Bond
Counsel assumes compliance with these covenants. Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform
any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken) or events occurring (or not occurring) after the date of issuance
of the Bonds may adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the Bonds. Further, no assurance can
be given that pending or uture legislation or amendments to the Code, if enacted into law, or any proposed
legislation or amendments to the Code, will not adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the
Bonds. Prospective Bondholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to proposals to restructure
the federal income tax.

Certain requirements and procedures contained or referred to in the Ordinances authorizing the Bonds, the
Authorizing Certificate, the Tax Certificate of the City and County relating to the Bonds, and other relevant
documents may be changed and certain actions may be taken or omitted under the circumstances and subject to the
terms and conditions set forth in such documents. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any Bonds or the
interest thereon if any such change occurs or action is taken or omitted upon the advice or approval of counsel other
than Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes and that the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from taxation by the State or
any political subdivision thereof, except inheritance, transfer, estate and certain franchise taxes, the ownership or
disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds may otherwise affect aBondholder’ s federal or state
tax liability. The nature and extent of these other tax consequences will depend upon the particular tax status of the
Bondholder or the Bondholder's other items of income or deduction. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding
any such other tax consequences.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
All legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to the approval of

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel to the City and County. The form of the opinion Bond Counsel
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proposes to render is set forth in Appendix C hereto. Copies of the approving opinion of Bond Counsel will be
available at the time of delivery of the Bonds. Bond Counsel undertakes no responsibility for the accuracy,
completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters
by their counsel, McCorriston Miller Mukai MacKinnon LLP, Honolulu, Hawaii.

BOND RATINGS

It is expected that Fitch Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service, and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a
division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., will assign to the Bonds ratings of “AAA”, “Aaa’ and “AAA”,
respectively, with the understanding that upon delivery of the Bonds the Policy insuring the payment of the principal
of and interest on the Bonds will be issued by MBIA Insurance Corporation. Such ratings reflect only the respective
views of such organizations, and any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from
the rating agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses. Fitch Inc., One State Street Plaza, New Y ork, New
Y ork 10004; Moody’s Investors Service, 99 Church Street, New Yo rk, New York 10007; Standard & Poor’s Ratings
Services, 25 Broadway, New York, New York 10004. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information
and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There is ho assurance such
ratings will continue for any given period of time or that such ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn
entirely by the rating agencies concerned, if in the judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant. Any
such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by the underwriters set forth on the cover page of this
Officia Statement (the “Underwriters’). The Underwriters have agreed to purchase the Bonds at an aggregate
purchase price of $259,266,464.60 (equal to the principal amount of the Bonds, plus net premium of
$10,421,709.60, less an underwriting discount of $1,155,245.00). The bond purchase contract with respect to the
Bonds provides that the Underwriters will purchase all the Bondsif any are purchased.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“Rule 15¢2-12"), the City and County will undertake in a Master Continuing Disclosure
Certificate of the City and County, as supplemented, constituting a written agreement for the benefit of the holders
of the Bonds (the “Continuing Disclosure Certificate”), to provide to each Nationally Recognized Municipal
Securities Information Repository (as referred to in Rule 15¢212), and others, on an annual basis, certain financial
and operating data concerning the City and County, financial statements, notice of certain events if material, and
certain other notices, al as described in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. The undertaking is an obligation of
the City and County that is enforceable as described in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. Beneficial Owners of
the Bonds are third party beneficiaries of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. The execution of the Continuing
Disclosure Certificate is a condition precedent to the obligation of the Underwriters to purchase the Bonds. The
form of the Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the proposed form of the Series Certificate for the Series
2003A Bonds are contained in Appendix D.

The City and County has not failed to comply in any material respect with any of its previous continuing
disclosure undertakings under Rule 15¢2-12.



MISCELLANEOUS
Additional information may be obtained, upon request, from the Director of Budget and Fiscal Services.

All quotations from, and summaries and explanations of, the State Constitution and laws referred to herein
do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to the State Constitution and laws for full and complete

statements of their provisions.

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, whether or not
so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of
the estimates will be realized. Neither this Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made orally

or inwriting is to be construed as a contract with the holders of any of the Bonds.

/s/ lvan M. Lui-Kwan

Ivan M. Lui-Kwan

Director of Budget and Fiscal Services
City and County of Honolulu
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
First Hawaiian Center

999 Bishop St., Suite 1900
Honolulu HI 96813
Telephone (808) 531 3400
Facsimile  (808) 531 3433

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Chair and Members of the
City Council

City and County of Honolulu

Honolulu, Hawaii

We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the City and County of Honolulu,
State of Hawaii (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2002, as listed in the accompanying
table of contents. These basic financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these basic financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our report dated December 26, 2001, we expressed an opinion that, except for the effects on
the financial statements for certain adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be
necessary had we been able to examine evidence regarding the carrying value of the inventories of
materials and supplies and related expense, the fiscal 2001 financial statements fairly presented the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of its proprietary funds (Sewer Fund) in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. As
described in Note 12, the City has adjusted its July 1, 2001 net assets to correct the carrying
value of the inventories of materials and supplies and related expense.

In our opinion, the basic financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the City and County of Honolulu, State of Hawalii, as of June 30,
2002, and the changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, for the year then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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As also described in Notes 12 and 16, the City has adjusted its July 1, 2001 net assets to
properly include certain previously excluded capital assets owned by certain proprietary funds,
together with the related depreciation expense and to correct the accounting for customer
advances of the component unit. '

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
March 21, 2003 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit.

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the City has implemented a new financial
reporting model as required by the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for
State and Local Governments,” effective July 1, 2001.

The management’s discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 17
through 29 are not a required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary
information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain
limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods
of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did
not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements
taken as a whole. The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules listed in
the table of contents under other supplementary information are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements of the City. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole.

The information identified in the table of contents as the Introductory and Statistical Sections is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Pricei>aXarh owc,w&w

Honolulu, Hawaii
March 21, 2003



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to provide an overview of
the financial performance of the City and County of Honolulu for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2002. The information presented in this MD&A should be considered in conjunction with the letter
of transmittal in the Introductory Section of this report and the financial statements that follow this
subsection.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2002

o The City’s net assets, excess of assets over liabilities, amounted to $1.2 billion. Of this
amount, $143.5 million is unrestricted. The unrestricted net assets of the City’s
governmental activities are $79.6 million and may be used to meet the City's ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors. The unrestricted net assets of the City’s business type
activities are $63.9 million and may be used to meet the ongoing obligations of the City’s
housing, sewer, solid waste, and public transportation business-type activities.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined
ending fund balance of $180.3 million.

o Total fund balance in the General Fund increased $12.8 million for the year ended June 30,
2002. The General Fund reported total fund balance of $54.3 million of which $35.2
million was unreserved at the end of the current fiscal year.

o The capital assets for the governmental activities amounted to $1.6 billion at June 30, 2002.

e The City’s net debt applicable to the legal debt margin of $10.5 billion was $1.3 billion for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This MD&A serves as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The basic financial
statements are comprised of three components: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund
financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide a broad overview of the City’s
finances, in a manner similar to the private sector. Accordingly, it provides both long-term and
short-term information about the City’s financial status.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets
serve as an indicator as to whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The statement of activities presents how the City's net assets changed during the current fiscal year.
Revenues and expenses are reported as soon as the underlying event occurs, regardless of the timing
of the related cash flows. As such, the statement includes information for some items that will result
in cash flows in the future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes).

The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions
that recover all or a significant portion of its costs through user fees or charges (business-type
activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety,
highways and streets, community service, sanitation, culture and recreation. The business—type
activities of the City include four enterprise activities: housing, sewer, solid waste and public
transportation. The governmental activities and the business-type activities comprise the City’s
primary government.

The City’s government-wide financial statements include separate component unit reporting for the
semi-autonomous operations of the Board of Water Supply. The focus of the government-wide
statements are clearly on the primary government, however, the presentation allows the user to
address the relative relationship with the component unit. Complete financial statements of the
Board of Water Supply, which include its MD&A, may be obtained from the Board of Water Supply
at 630 South Beretania Street, Honolulu, Hawaii 96843.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments,
uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary
funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on short-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at

the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's short-term
financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's short-term
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The City maintains 30 individual governmental funds, which are categorized as major and non-major.
The major category always includes the General Fund. The other major funds consist of the Highway
Fund, General Obligation Bond and Interest Redemption Fund, and General Improvement Bond
Fund. The other major funds are those funds whose revenues, expenditures, assets, or liabilities are
at least 10% of corresponding totals for all governmental funds and at least 5% of the aggregate
amount for all governmental and enterprise funds for the same item. For the major funds,
information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental
fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. Information for the other
26 funds are included in the non-major category and are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation in the governmental fund balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is
provided in the form of combining statements in this report.

Proprietary Funds. Enterprise services for which the City charges fees to customers are reported as
proprietary funds. Like the government-wide financial statements, the proprietary fund statements
report long-term and short-term financial information.

Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided
in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Other Information
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, the Financial Section of this
report presents certain required supplementary information.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds are
presented immediately following the required supplementary information. The individual fund
statements and schedules can be found following the combining statements of this report.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (GOVERNMENT-WIDE)

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, the City is not required to restate prior periods for the
purpose of providing comparative information. However, in future years, when prior year
information is available, a comparative analysis of government-wide information will be presented.

Statement of Net Assets
As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of the City's financial position.

The City’s assets exceeded liabilities by $1.2 billion, excluding its component unit, at the close of the
2002 fiscal year.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The largest portion of the City’s net assets (83.4%) reflects its investment in capital assets (i.e., land,
construction work in progress, buildings and improvements, equipment and machinery, and
infrastructure), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these
capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, the
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the capital assets
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net assets (4.7%) represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of $143.5 million in unrestricted net
assets may be used to meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. Although
the total unrestricted net assets is $143.5 million, the unrestricted net assets of the City’s business-
type activities ($63.9 million) may not be used to fund governmental unrestricted activities.

The following is a summary of the City’s (primary government) net assets as of June 30, 2002:

Summary Statement of Net Assets
(Amounts in millions)

Governmental Business-type  Total Primary

Activities Activities Government

Current and other assets $ 304.8 $ 344.0 $ 648.8
Capital assets 1,570.8 1,647.3 3,218.1

Total assets 1,875.6 1,991.3 3,866.9
Noncurrent liabilities 1,458.6 1,078.5 2,537.1
Other liabilities 60.6 68.9 129.5

Total liabilities 1,519.2 1,147.4 2,666.6
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of debt 275.5 725.5 1,001.0
Restricted 1.3 54.5 55.8
Unrestricted 79.6 63.9 143.5

Total net assets $ 356.4 $ 843.9 $1,200.3

A-7



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following are the key elements of the changes in the City’s net assets for the 2002 fiscal year:

Changes in Net Assets
(Amounts in millions)

Governmental Business-type  Total Primary

Activities Activities Government

Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services $116.0 $235.0 $ 351.0
Operating grants and contributions 79.5 - 79.5
Capital grants and contributions 41.3 63.6 104.9
General revenues:
Property taxes 381.3 = 381.3
Other taxes 95.8 - 95.8
Other 54.9 18.8 73.7

Total revenues 768.8 317.4 1,086.2
Expenses
General government 141.3 - 141.3
Public safety 221.4 - 221.4
Highways and streets 61.2 - 61.2
Sanitation 0.6 - 0.6
Health and human resources 81.6 - 81.6
Culture and recreation 76.0 - 76.0
Utilities 48.8 - 48.8
Retirement and health benefits 93.8 - 93.8
Miscellaneous 34.1 - 34.1
Interest 54.9 - 54.9
Housing - 13.3 13.3
Sewer - 112.7 112.7
Solid waste - 126.8 126.8
Public transportation - 148.3 148.3

Total expenses 813.7 401.1 1,214.8
Decrease before transfers (44.9) (83.7) (128.6)
Transfers (41.4) 41.4 -
Change in net assets (86.3) (42.3) (128.6)
Net assets — beginning 442.7 886.2 1,328.9
Net assets — ending $356.4 $843.9 $1,200.3
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Total revenues for the primary government amounted to $1.1 billion of which $768.8 million
pertained to governmental activities and $317.4 million was for business-type activities. On the
other hand, expenses for the primary government totaled $1.2 billion of which $813.7 million
applied to governmental activities and $401.1 million related to business-type activities.
Depreciation expense amounted to $47.6 million and $65 million for the governmental activities
and business-type activities, respectively, and is reflected in the expenses on page 21.

Statement of Activities

As noted earlier, the statement of activities presents how the City's net assets changed during the
current fiscal year. Revenues and expenses are reported as soon as the underlying event occurs,
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. As such, the statement includes information for
some items that will result in cash flows in the future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes).

Governmental Activities

Governmental activities decreased the City’s net assets by $86.3 million in fiscal year 2002. Key
elements of the decrease in net assets were depreciation expense for capital assets, unexpected high
retirement benefits expense, increase in costs for normal wage and inflation expenses, and the costs of
providing increased level of services while not raising tax rates.

Revenues. As indicated in the Revenues by Sources exhibit below, taxes amounted to 62.1% of
revenues for governmental activities. More specifically, real property taxes accounted for 49.6% or
$381.3 million of the revenues for governmental activities.

FY 2002 Revenues by Sources
Governmental Activities

62.1% Taxes

i 2.0% Miscellaneous
5.4% Capital grants & contributions

1.0% Investment earnings

15.1% Ch f i
10.3% Operating grants & contributions arges for Services

4.1% Urestricted grants and contributions
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenses. The City spent $221.4 million or 27.2% of the governmental activities budget on public
safety, $141.3 million or 17.4% on general government and $93.8 million or 11.5% on
retirement and health benefits as displayed below on the exhibit of expenses by function.

FY 2002 Expenses by Function
Governmental Activities

7.5% Highways and streets 17.4% General government
6.0% Utilities

0.1% Sanitation

9.3% Culture and recreation

0 4.2% Miscellaneous
O /

27.2% Public safety
6.8% Interest

11.5% Retirement and health benefits
10.0% Health and human resources

Business-type Activities

Business-type activities decreased the City’s net assets by $42.3 million. The decrease is primarily
due to holding the key user fees stable despite increase in costs for normal wage and inflation
expenses and the costs of expanded services, and to the transfer of funds.

Revenues. The exhibit below indicates that charges for services provided 74% of the revenues for
business-type activities. Charges for services totaled $235 million and can be disaggregated as
follows: housing ($12 million), sewer ($113.8 million), solid waste ($76.9 million) and public
transportation ($32.3 million).

FY 2002 Revenues by Sources
Business-type Activities

74.0% Charges for Services

6.0% Investment Earnings

20.0% Capital grants & contributions
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenses. As displayed in the exhibit below, business-type activities with the most expenses are
public transportation (37%), solid waste (31.6%) and sewer (28.1%). The public transportation
(bus and handi-van) operations were subsndlzed by the governmental activities in the amount of
$75.4 million for fiscal year 2002.

FY 2002 Expenses by Function
Business-type A ctivities

28.1% Sewer

31.6% Solid Waste 3.3% Housing

37.0% Public Transportation

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY GOVERNMENT'S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on short-term inflows, outflows,
and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of the end of the 2002 fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined increase in
fund balances of $5.8 million as indicated below.

Changes in Fund Balances
(Amounts in millions)

General
Obligation
Bond and General
Interest Improvement All
General Highway Redemption Bond Other
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
Revenues:
Taxes $407.3 $ 70.4 $ - $ - $ - $477.7
Other 167.3 36.5 1.6 -- 141.2 346.6
Total revenues 574.6 106.9 1.6 - 141.2 824.3
Expenditures 459.6 52.5 106.9 153.5 211.3 983.8
Subtotal 115.0 54.4 (105.3) (153.5) (70.1) (159.5)
Transfers and other (102.2) (45.0) 105.3 153.0 54.2 165.3
Change in Fund Balance $ 12.8 $ 9.4 $ - $ (0.5) $(15.9) $ 5.8

The above changes in fund balances for the governmental funds differ from the changes in net assets
for governmental activities on page 21. The differences relate to certain financial resources and
expenditures such as debt financing and capital outlays that are included in the changes in fund
balances but are not reported in the changes in net assets as described on page 37.

General Fund.

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At June 30, 2002, unreserved fund
balance of the general fund was $35.2 million, while total fund balance was $54.3 million. The
total fund balance in the General Fund of the City increased $12.8 million during fiscal year 2002.

Real property taxes, the primary general fund revenue source, rose 0.6% ($2.4 million) compared
to the prior year. The increase was due to a slight increase in assessed valuations on real property.
Due to enabling State of Hawaii legislation effective July 1, 2001, public service company taxes were
collected and amounted to $24.8 million for fiscal year 2002.

Highway Fund.
The highway fund includes special revenue proceeds that have been earmarked by law for highway
and related activities. Major revenue sources include the City fuel tax, vehicle weight tax and public
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

utility franchise tax. At June 30, 2002, the highway fund’s total fund balance was $27.1 million, of
which $25.6 million was unreserved. During the 2002 fiscal year, the total fund balance in the
highway fund increased by $9.4 million. The increase was due primarily to overall higher revenues
(fiscal year 2002 revenues increased $4 million over fiscal year 2001) combined with a decrease in
expenditures for general government, highways and streets.

General Obligation Bond and Interest Redemption Fund.
The general obligation bond and interest redemption fund accounts for principal and interest

payments on general obligation serial bonds that have been issued by the City. At June 30, 2002,
the fund had matured bonds and interest payable of $359,000.

General Improvement Bond Fund.

The general improvement bond fund consists of maturing City improvement district assessment bonds
and special assessment collections. At June 30, 2002, the total fund balance was $13 million. The
fund balance includes $331.3 million for encumbered contracts underway and is offset by an

unreserved capital projects funds deficit of $318.3 million, which will be eliminated as encumbrances
are liquidated.

All Other Funds.

All other funds consist of the City’s nonmajor governmental funds. The $15.9 million decrease in
fund balance is primarily attributable to the excess of expenditures and other uses over revenues and
other sources for the Federal Grants Fund, Highway Improvement Bond Fund, Federal Grants Fund
and Capital Projects Fund. The current year deficiency for the nonmajor funds is offset by the
beginning fund balance of $101.8 million and results in an ending fund balance of $85.9 million.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and as business-type
activities in the government-wide financial statements.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

There were no significant differences between the original budget and the final amended budget.
Changes between the original and final amended budget represent appropriation transfers within the
General Fund, resulting in no total difference between the original and final budget.

For fiscal year 2002, actual revenues exceeded budgetary estimates by $8.3 million or 1.5%. The
majority of this difference is in tax revenues. Actual expenditures were less than budgetary estimates
by $22.3 million or 4.5%. The favorable variance was created by expenditure control measures.
The net effect of over-realization of revenues and under-utilization of appropriations resulted in a
favorable variance of $30.6 million, thus eliminating the need to draw upon existing fund balance.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The City’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, amounted to $1.6 billion
for governmental activities and $3.2 billion for the primary government as of June 30, 2002. This
investment in capital assets includes land, construction work in progress, buildings and improvements,
equipment and machinery and infrastructure.

Some of the major capital asset events for the governmental funds during the 2002 fiscal year
included the completion of construction of the Kapolei Civic Center ($23.6 million), acquisition of
the Pearl Harbor Historic Trail Park ($8.2 million), purchase of land at the Halawa Corporation Yard

($5.6 million), Waimea Falls land acquisition ($5.1 million), and purchase of an IBM mainframe
system ($2.5 million).

The following is a summary of the capital assets for governmental activities as of June 30, 2002:

Governmental Activities
Summary of Capital Assets
(Amounts in millions)

Restated Net
Balance Additions Balance
July 1, 2001 (Deletions) June 30, 2002

Non-depreciable assets:

Land $ 406.5 $ 24.0 $ 430.5
Construction work in progress 217.3 9.5 226.8
Other capital assets:
Buildings and improvements 631.2 112.3 743.5
Equipment and machinery 193.7 22.9 216.6
Infrastructure 675.9 3.7 679.6
Less: accumulated depreciation (683.3) (43.0) (726.3)
Net $1,441.3 $129.4 $1,570.7

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in notes of this report.

Long-Term Debt

At the end of the 2002 fiscal year, the City’s long-term debt consisted of the following: total
bonded debt outstanding of $2.2 billion, notes payable of $95 million, capital lease obligations of
$1.2 million and various installment purchase contracts of $2.6 million. Of the total bonded deb,
$575.5 million represent revenue bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources, and $1.7
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

million comprise special assessment debt for which the City is liable in the event of default by the
property owners of the assessment.

Debt activity during the year include the following:

e $136 million in Senior Series bonds were issued on July 15, 2001 for Wastewater System
Revenue Bonds.

e $250 million in new and refinancing general obligation bonds were issued for various capital
improvement projects on December 5, 2001.

e $54.4 million in Water Revenue Bonds were issued on March 5, 2002.

$26 million in low interest state revolving fund notes were secured on various dates.

Concurrent with the issuance of the aforementioned bonds, the City purchased Municipal Bond New
Issue Insurance Policies from Financial Guaranty Insurance Company. The policies unconditionally
guarantee the payment of principal and interest on the bonds in the event of nonpayment by the
City. As a result, Moody’s Investor Services Inc. and Fitch Inc. assigned ratings of Aaa and AAA,
respectively, for the bonds issued during the 2002 fiscal year. Standard & Poor’s Corporation rated
the bonds issued on December 5, 2001 and March 5, 2002 as AAA.

The City is within all of its legal debt limitations. State statutes limit the amount of general obligation
debt a governmental entity may issue to 15% of its net assessed valuation. The debt limitation for
the City is $10.5 billion for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002. Net debt, excluding debt issued
for enterprise fund activities and special assessments, applicable to legal debt margin amounted to
$1.3 billion.

Additional information on the City’s debt can be found in notes of this report and in the Statistical
Section.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The events of September 11, 2001 continue to have an impact on the Oahu economy. However,
indicators suggest that the economy is gradually recovering. Unemployment is down; personal
income, wages and salaries, and proprietors’ income are up; inflation is stable; and bankruptcies have
dropped. In addition, the residential real estate market grew significantly in 2002. The net assessed
valuation of real property on Oahu increased 6.9% to $74.5 billion for fiscal year 2003 from
$69.7 billion for the previous fiscal year.

All of these factors were considered in preparing the City’s budgets for the 2003 fiscal year. In
order to meet the objectives of the 2003 budget, the City recognized the need to continue its
pattern of cost containment while pursuing new revenue sources. The budgets were balanced

A-15



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

without increasing real property tax rates or sewer service charge rates. The City’s operating budget
for fiscal year 2003 is $1,390.7 million, the capital improvement budget decreased from $579.2
million in fiscal year 2002 to $455.6 million in fiscal year 2003.

FINANCIAL CONTACT

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with
an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in
this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Director of
Budget and Fiscal Services, City and County of Honolulu, 530 South King Street, Honolulu, Hawaii
96813.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
JUNE 30, 2002
(Amounts in thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Unit
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents ................ $ 4,316 $ 73,667 $ 77,983 $ 16,738
INVESEMENLS ooevrreerecrrrnerieneranseeeen, 213,555 200,002 413,557 83,932
Receivables (Net) .eueveerrreerreceevunnnnnees 94,519 38,529 133,048 15,189
Internal balances ........ccccevveereveenenn. (7,576) 7,576 - -
Inventories ......cueeereeeririeeeiereinnnnnnne 11 16,155 16,166 4,145
Deferred charges and other .............. - 3,929 3,929 3,146
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ............ - 816 816 8,654
INVeStMents ....ccovvuvererireeeeennnnnn. - - - 71,417
Other ....ccvvvvivriveicereres e, - 3,299 3,299 848
Capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation):
Land ccoovvevieieeiircieee e, 430,457 102,415 532,872 30,062
Buildings and improvements ......... 496,843 520,143 1,016,986 93,918
Equipment and machinery ............ 94,126 159,453 253,579 79,074
Infrastructure ......cccovveevveereenennnn, 322,527 736,970 1,059,497 605,396
Construction work in progress ....... 226,778 128,306 355,084 126,959
Total asSets ..oeveeeennvenrvenveennes 1,875,556 1,991,260 3,866,816 1,139,478
LIABILITIES
Checks payable .....ccccvvereereeeerennnn. 15,491 2,304 17,795 -
Accounts payable ........cccceverrrrneenen. 27,732 14,464 42,196 27,398
Matured bonds and interest payable ... 368 - 368 -
Accrued interest payable .................. 17,022 18,072 35,094 1,758
Other liabilities ......cccovrereverereresnnns - 34,025 34,025 11,781
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year .........cuuvuennn. 76,073 53,365 129,438 780
Due in more than one year ........... 1,382,491 1,025,137 2,407,628 120,220
Total liabilities .........cccueerirenas 1,519,177 1,147,367 2,666,544 161,937
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of
related debt ......eeeeeeeeeeceviinnennnnnnns 275,456 725,510 1,000,966 838,461
Restricted for:
Capital aCHVILY vuvveeeeeerierrenereenees -~ - - 41,008
Debt Service ......eveeiieeeececeiiennnenns 1,347 54,489 55,836 2,479
Unrestricted ...coveveeivvinienernnnrennnn. 79,576 63,894 143,470 95,593
Total net assets .veuveereennnereeeneennanns $ 356,379 $ 843,893 $ 1,200,272 $ 977,541

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
( Amounts in thousands )
(Page 1 of 2)

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government................. $ 141,340 $ 70,096 $ 5,064 $ 7,166
Public safety...ccooevveeeeveereeninnanns 221,355 9,535 3,065 1,003
Highways and streets................. 61,245 @0 - 8,893
SanitatioN. ....covueerevrernernnecrrnnnens 562 2 28 57
Health and human resources...... 81,607 18,334 49,112 9,272
Culture and recreation.............. 75,962 17,832 254 1,190
LIS oo erenneeerereerenanerernennennns 48,795 70 21,977 13,755
Retirement and health benefits... 93,819 - - -
Miscellaneous.....ccccveeeeereeennnnnn. 34,153 - - -
INLErest.. vureereniernernencrnnceannenenns 54,943 - - -
Total governmental activites... 813,781 115,959 79,500 41,336
Business-type activities:
| 2 (01113131~ SRR 13,319 12,025 - -
SEWET .eveierreeererreeerrneerenenesennes 112,700 113,811 - 2,066
Solid Waste....ccoeevevrernerennrennne. 126,807 76,854 - 3,348
Public Transportation................ 148,231 32,279 - 58,163
Total business-type activites.... 401,057 234,969 - 63,577
Total primary government................. $ 1,214,838 $ 350,928 $ 79,500 § 104,913
Component unit:
Board of Water Supply.................. $ 104,678 $ 117,174 $ - $ 11,857
General revenues:
PrOPEITY LAXES. iiiiieiiieirreereirnrrnnneniennsesenesesssasessessessossseessansssesssees
Public Service COMPANY LaX.....cevverrrerrrrrereeeeeeeemenmsessesssnssssssssssssssssns
FUBT £aX 1evviiiiiiiiireiiiiiiiiiecinineeeeeeeeeeesesessssbreeeeeseeeeseeesiansnnnasnssessses
Public utility franchiSe LaX......cueveverreeeeeriiiiriirereeeeeesseesessssssssesssneesens
INVESHMENE @AIMINGS.cevvrurrnnirrererieieeeeirieeereeeieseeeeesseeeeeseseresseesesenanns
Unrestricted grants and CONIIDULIONS. ..vccevumrreeeeerereeresnsnesssseessenssnnns
Harbor Court Lease to Fee CONVersioN........ccovveeeeeeeceerresessrvereenenns
OhEE ittt eeesabtesesessveeeesessnnnnsenennns
TrANSTEIS.c.vveiiiiiieere et ce e reeeesesneeesessaneaeeesssans
Total general revenues and transferS......sueeeeeeseeenrereeesssnnssnnssseseessss
Change IN NEL ASSELS.....cceeverrerrireeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesessssssssssssssssssssnsssns

Net assets - beginning, as restated for Business-Type Activities and
Component UNit..c.ccoorvrrrerinmreereereeeiieeriirsreereeeseesseesssssssnssssssesseses

NEL aSSELS = ENAING. . uuueereenrrnrreeeeetieieeeeeieeieeeeeeereeesesesssnnsessesseessssos

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
(Amounts in thousands }

(Page 2 of 2)
Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Unit
$ (59,014) % - $ (59,014) $ -
(207,752) - (207,752) -
(52,262) - (52,262)
(475) (475)
(4,889) (4,889)
(56,686) {56,686)
(12,993) - (12,993) -
(93,819) - (93,819) -
(34,153) - (34,153)
(54,943) - (54,943)
(576,986) - (576,986)
(1,294) (1,294) -
3,177 3,177
(46,605) (46,605)
(57,789) (57,789)
(102,511) (102,511) -
(576,986) (102,511) (679,497) -
- 24,353
381,330 - 381,330
24,821 - 24,821
46,728 46,728 -
24,217 - 24,217 -
7,519 18,828 26,347 5,554
31,588 - 31,588 -
11,971 - 11,971 -
3,858 - 3,858
(41,356) 41,356 -- -
490,676 60,184 550,860 5,554
(86,310) (42,327) (128,637) 29,907
442,689 886,220 1,328,909 947,634
356,379 843,893 $ 1,200,272 $ 977,541
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Governmental Fund Financial Statements

MAJOR FUNDS

General Fund

This fund accounts for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another
fund.

Special Revenue Fund
Highway Fund

This fund accounts for disposition of proceeds from special revenues earmarked by law for highway
and related activities. Major revenue sources include the City fuel tax, vehicle weight tax and public
utility franchise tax.

Debt Service Fund
General Obligation Bond and Interest Redemption Fund

This fund accounts for payments of principal and interest on general obligation serial bonds issued
by the City.

Capital Projects Fund
General Improvement Bond Fund

This fund accounts for proceeds of general obligation bonds issued to pay all or part of those
appropriations in the Capital Budget Ordinance for public improvements specified to be expended
from this fund.

NONMA]JOR FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds
Highway Beautification and Disposal of Abandoned Vehicles Revolving Fund

This fund accounts for receipts from each certificate of registration. These monies are expended
primarily for the beautification of highways under the jurisdiction of the City and the disposition of
abandoned vehicles.

Bikeway Fund
This fund accounts for the bicycle biennial registration fee, which is earmarked for operating,
acquisition and other costs related to bikeways.

Parks and Playgrounds Fund

All monies received in lieu of providing land in perpetuity or dedicating land, together with facilities
for park and playground purposes are recorded in this fund. These monies must be expended for the
purchase of land for parks and playgrounds, park and playground equipment, and/or the improvement
of existing parks and playgrounds.

Federal Revenue Sharing Fund
All monies received from the federal government under the State and Local Fiscal Assistance Act of
1972 are deposited in this fund and expended for purposes authorized by the provisions of the Act.
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Governmental Fund Financial Statements (Continued)

NONMAJOR FUNDS (CONTINUED)

Special Revenue Funds (Continued)
Liquor Commission Fund

This fund accounts for all monies collected by as well as received on behalf of the Liquor
Commission and used for operational and administrative costs of the Liquor Commission.

Rental Assistance Fund
This fund accounts for all net receipts from the Hale Pauahi parking structure which are
expended for monthly rental assistance payments to landlords on behalf of eligible applicants.

Zoo Animal Purchase Fund

This fund accounts for the proceeds from the sale of surplus animals from the Honolulu Zoo and all
donations made specifically for the purchase of animals. Funds in this account shall be expended for
the acquisition of zoo animals to include shipping, insurance, travel and other related costs.

Hanauma Bay Nature Preserve Fund

This fund accounts for receipts from the entrance and vehicle admission fees to the Hanauma Bay
Nature Preserve and is earmarked primarily for the operation, maintenance and improvement of the
Nature Preserve.

Special Reserve Fund

This fund accounts for all monies determined to be in excess of expenditures at the end of each fiscal
year. All monies deposited into this fund shall be used solely for (1) natural disaster relief, (2)
unanticipated obligations to third parties, and/or (3) significant events endangering the health, welfare
or safety of the residents of the island of Oahu.

Community Development Fund

Monies are provided by the federal government under the Housmg and Community Development
Act of 1974, as amended; the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990, as amended; monies
generated as program income; and monies carried over from prior years. Funds are expended to carry
out the objectives of the Acts.

Golf Fund
Receipts for this fund are derived from the operation of the City’s golf facilities. All funds are
expended for the management, operation and maintenance of the municipal golf courses.

Special Events Fund

This fund accounts for all revenues derived from the operation of the City's auditorium facilities,
Waikiki Shell and Honolulu Zoo All funds are expended for the operation of the Department of
Enterprise Services.

A-25



Governmental Fund Financial Statements (Continued)

NONMA]JOR FUNDS (CONTINUED)

Special Revenue Funds (Continued)
Farmers Home Administration Loan Fund

This fund accounts for all proceeds from the issuance and sale of bonds to the Farmers Home
Administration for the purpose of financing portions of the cost of such projects as approved by the
Farmers Home Administration.

Special Projects Fund

This fund accounts for all monies received under special contracts executed between the City and
the State of Hawaii. Monies received from various other sources for operating and capital
improvement expenditures for which no financing has been provided in other funds, such as
contributions from property owners exclusive of improvement district assessment collections, are also
accounted for in this fund.

Federal Grants Fund

This fund accounts for all monies received from the federal government as grants for specific
projects as well as supporting monies from other sources, where such monies are not accountable in
any other fund. All monies placed in the fund are maintained in separate accounts identified with, and
expended for, the intended purposes.

Housing and Community Development Rehabilitation Loan Fund

This fund makes loan monies available primarily to low and moderate income applicants unable to
secure or qualify for funds under the Rehabilitation Loan Program sponsored by the federal
government.

Pauahi Project Expenditures, Hawaii R-15 Fund

This fund was created to facilitate financing of the Pauahi Project redevelopment plan providing for
the acquisition, clearance, construction of site improvements, and sale or lease of home, apartment and
commercial sites to private parties for development in accordance with said plan.

Housing and Community Development Section 8 Contract Fund
This fund accounts for all monies received from the federal government under the Housing and
Community Development Act of 1974 for the purposes set forth under Title Il of the Act.

Leasehold Conversion Fund

This fund accounts for all monies to assist lessees to purchase, at fair and reasonable prices, lands
upon which are situated either residential condominium, cooperative housing or residential planned
development.

Improvement District Revolving Fund ;

Monies in this revolving fund are available to cover deficiencies, advance interest due, reimburse the
General Fund in the event the payment of assessments are late or insufficient, and pay all expenses in
connection with the sale of delinquent lots as bid for and purchased for the City by the Director of
Budget and Fiscal Services.

A-26



Governmental Fund Financial Statements (Continued)

NONMAJOR FUNDS (CONTINUED)

Special Revenue Funds (Continued)
Housing and Community Development Revolving Fund
This fund serves as a working capital fund to facilitate the expenditure of joint costs.

Municipal Stores Revolving Fund
This fund is used to finance the Municipal Stores through bulk purchases and resale of regularly used
standard printed forms and various publications dealing with City matters.

Debt Service Fund
Improvement District Bond and Interest Redemption Fund

This fund accounts for the redemption of maturing City improvement district assessment bonds and
collections of special assessments.

Capital Projects Funds
Highway Improvement Bond Fund

Proceeds of general obligation bonds issued to pay all or a part of those appropriations in the Capital
Budget Ordinance for highway and related public improvements are accounted for in this fund.

Federal Grants Capital Projects Fund

All monies received from the federal government in the form of grants, entitlements or payments in
lieu of taxes, to fund capital projects, and Federal Revenue Sharing funds appropriated for capital
projects are deposited or transferred into this fund and expended for the purposes for which such
monies are received or appropriated.

Capital Projects Fund

Monies received from sources other than the federal government in the form of grants,
entitlements, shared revenues or payments in lieu of taxes, to fund capital projects, and City monies
appropriated for capital projects are deposited or transferred into this fund and expended for the
purposes for which such monies are received or appropriated. All transactions relating to acquisition
of capital improvements financed by special assessments are also accounted for in this fund.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2002
(Amounts in thousands)
General
Obligation
Bond and General
Interest Improvement Other Total
General Highway Redemption Bond Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and investments:
With Treasury cooevevrreeeecrrenens $ 58,128 $ 22,306 $ - $ 35,146 $ 101,932 $ 217,512
With fiscal agents .....ccceeeenuen. -~ - 359 - -~ 359
Receivables ..o.ecceeeeerrenennennnnnns 17,766 17,284 - - 59,469 94,519
Due from other funds ............. 305 22 - - 408 735
INVeNtOries cuueeeeeecerrnnnnereersences - - - - 11 11
Total Assets ......cceuu.... $ 76,199 $ 39,612 $ 359 $ 35146 $ 161,820 $ 313,136
LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Checks payable ...cccouververunnn. $ 2,507 % 152§ - % 6,495 $ 6,337 % 15,491
Accounts payable .......eeeeuenns 6,094 297 - 8,386 8,874 23,651
Accrued payroll .....cceevevveveens 3,686 205 - 2 188 4,081
Due to other funds ............... 640 - - 7,298 373 8,311
Matured bonds and
interest payable.....coceveunnenen - - 359 = 9 368
Deferred revenue ....cceuuvennee. 8,922 11,874 - - 60,146 80,942
Total Liabilities ............ 21,849 12,528 359 22,181 75,927 132,844
Fund Balances:
Reserved for:
Encumbrances ....cccceeeeennns 19,191 1,533 - 331,273 327,422 679,419
Debt service ......coceeeeerrannnn. - - - - 1,347 1,347
Unreserved, reported in:
General fund .ueecevveenneeeenenns 35,159 - - - = 35,159
Special revenue funds ......... - 25,551 - - (2,943) 22,608
Capital projects funds ......... -- -- - (318,308) (239,933) (558,241)
Total Fund Balances ..... 54,350 27,084 - 12,965 85,893 180,292
Total Liabilities and
Fund Balances ........... $ 76,199 $ 39,612 $ 359 $ 35,146 $ 161,820
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. 1,570,731
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures
and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 80,942
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the
current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. (1,475,586)
Net assets of governmental activities $ 356,379

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
{ Amounts in thousands )

General
Obligation
Bond and General
Interest Improvement Other Total
General Highway Redemption Bond Governmental  Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Revenues:
TAXESrreerenresrnarssnersreeerensaosssesosensssesssnses $ 407,270 $ 70,476 $ S - % - $ 477,746
Special assessments..... - - - - 440 440
Licenses and permitS.....u..cevnaceonnanes . 25,897 27,800 - - 2,917 56,614
Intergovernmental......ccccceeevierrinnes . 32,063 - - - 113,376 145,439
Charges for services.... 3,912 4,123 - - 10,447 18,482
Fines and forfeits........ 249 2 - - 209 460
Miscellaneous:
Reimbursements and recoveries............... 76,706 144 - - 23 76,873
Interest..ucueeorecmnnensnenes . . 7,519 - 1,516 - 1,051 10,086
OUher euiarererererseerernenneennessresererseeessranen 21,023 4,358 85 - 12,733 38,199
Total Revenues......cocceuvenne .- 574,639 106,903 1,601 - 141,196 824,339
Expenditures:
Current:
General SOVernMeNnt. . reeerrreesrervvennees 95,817 10,680 - - 8,817 115,314
PUDHC Safety.ceeiniireceerecrrnennneenenenreeeeennes 199,990 20,233 - - 4,051 224,274
Highways and streets 5,768 9,352 - - 2 15,122
SANHALION. ceerrrerenetereerereersenrrervvrnnrenanennes - 446 - - 45 491
Health and human resources...c......uveeuvees 14,579 - - - 50,326 64,905
Culture-recreation . 41,339 - - - 17,071 58,410
Utilities or other enterprises......vuveveveeenes - 1,452 - - 22,341 23,793
Miscellaneous:
Retirement and health benefits............ 81,647 9,100 - - 3,633 94,380
Other . crerrereeerercrrrsnennns . 18,926 1,300 - - 151 20,377
Capital Outlay:
General gOVernmMeNt. e eiereerreerrensrenns - - - 38,450 7,927 46,377
Public safety.....ccerenne. - - - 8,898 7,879 16,777
Highways and streets - - - 3,329 47,611 50,940
SANILAtION. ceiserecrrererrerannsacennns - - - - 116 116
Health and human resources - - - 7,779 9,171 16,950
Culture-recreation.....cccvererennsvnns . - - - 95,063 6,629 101,692
Utilities or other enterprises.......eceeevunennes - - - - 25,014 25,014
Debt service:
Principale.vcesseccssssnerereeneeennsseerersvneneneens 1,207 - 26,151 - 370 27,728
INEEIeStocrieiisiissiiriiincesrieceenersrnnssnnaesseens 310 - 80,766 - 129 81,205
Total EXpenditureS..uouveeerecrerenreneannerencens 459,583 52,563 106,917 153,519 211,283 983,865
Revenues over (under) Expenditures........ 115,056 54,340 (105,316) (153,519) (70,087) (159,526)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of general obligation bonds ........... - - - 153,015 52,000 205,015
Proceeds of refunding bonds .......cccccvuerennnnn - - 90,584 - - 90,584
Proceeds of long-term notes ........ovveveveenennns - - - - 1,119 1,119
Payment of refunded bonds - - (90,584) - - (90,584)
Sales of general fixed assetS...cc.eeeenrerrerererenns 187 345 - - - 532
Operating transfers iNu..eeeeeereerereveeerneerrennnas 82,919 - 105,316 - 23,674 211,909
Operating transfers OUt......cuuueicrieeerrerennesss (185,348) (45,303) - - (22,614) (253,265)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)...... (102,242) (44,958) 105,316 153,015 54,179 165,310
Net change in fund balances.......c.uveeeunenes 12,814 9,382 - (504) (15,908) 5,784
Fund Balances = July T..cooorervecrnineinrereeeccnenns 41,536 17,702 - 13,469 101,801 174,508
Fund Balances - June 30....c.eeivvreeirineereerscnnnenes $ 54,350 ¢ 27,084 $ - % 12,965 $ 85,893 ¢ 180,292

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
( Amounts in thousands )

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances--total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. The Statement of Activities
reports depreciation expense on capital assets. This is the difference between the two
amounts for this year,

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds.

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt are reported as providing current financial
resources in the governmental funds, but are reported as long-term debt in the
government-wide financial statements. Repayment of such debt is reported as an
expenditure for governmental funds but is reported as a reduction of debt in the
government-wide financial statements.

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds.

Change in net assets of governmental activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Housing Development Special Fund
This fund accounts for monies designated for the development of housing for sale or for rental by
the City. Transactions in this fund are incorporated in the special statements for the housing program.

Sewer Fund

This fund accounts for all monies received pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Water Pollution
Control Act amendments of 1972 and the Hawaii Revised Statutes and expended for the purposes
authorized.

Solid Waste Special Fund

This fund accounts for all revenues derived from the operation of the City’s Refuse Division, solid
waste disposal programs, glass recycling program, and other recycling programs. All monies placed in
this fund are maintained in separate accounts identified with and expended for the intended purposes.

Public Transportation System

The Bus Transportation Fund was created for the management, operation, and maintenance of the
bus transportation system, including the City bus system (TheBus) and the special transit service (The
Handi-Van).
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
JUNE 30, 2002

(Amounts in thousands)

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

Public
Solid Transportation Totals
Housing Sewer Waste System
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equIValents ..........ccovvevvevrinveecnnnne. $ 23,392 % 25,643 §% 14,672 % 9,960 $ 73,667
INVESIMENIS .oeiererrarerecniireerriereeeescresrearessssenees - 142,947 57,055 - 200,002
Receivables:
Accounts (net of allowance for uncollectibles
of $1,641 in 2002 and $3,404 in 2001).... 2,395 16,772 12,847 - 32,014
INEBIESE .oovevrererreeeiinecieeeine e er e e ceen s reees 21 985 2,008 - 3,014
NOE <.oveverriernieenreeneeeseeeseereesreessssssseessssnaens 3,501 - - - 3,501
Due from other funds ......cccvvveveiirerreriniereninresinnees - 6,858 885 - 7,743
Inventories of parts, materials and supplies, at cost
(net of $1,227 reserve for obsolescence) .......... - 4,710 - 6,353 11,063
Inventories of real estate held for sale ...........cvenn. 5,092 - - - 5,092
Prepaid expenses and Other assets .........covveeveneenee 16 - 404 1,748 2,168
Total Current ASSets ...ceeeveecreeeeverrreeraeinenns 34,417 197,915 87,871 18,061 338,264
Restricted Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .........cccovcvvvveeeeeerneenen. - - -~ 816 816
OLHEN ceevevieiieretieecriereisresseeeteecerneessrresssseassres 3,295 - - 4 3,299
Fixed Assets:
LaNG oot 19,708 5,630 19,229 57,848 102,415
Buildings and improvements .........covvcvuvveeernnerinenn. 108,504 396,975 52,395 50,479 608,353
Transmission and distribution system ............c........ - 787,519 - - 787,519
Equipment and Machinery ....c..oovvveveeivsneeceneinnnes 133 19,963 239,655 24,999 284,750
Buses and other transit vehicles .............ccceeevvrenne. - - - 138,630 138,630
Construction WOrk in Progress .......ceeveeeerinresraesinns 17,356 109,690 1,260 - 128,306
Accumulated depreciation ........cceeveeverveeennrinennn. (32,555) (84,656) (158,369) (127,106) (402,686)
Deferred charges and Other .......veevvevviivevrervvnreessnnnns 1,336 - 425 - 1,761
TOtal ASSELS <vvreeeereerieeiecereee et ceeesseenes $ 152,194 $ 1,433,036 $ 242,466 $ 163,731 $ 1,991,427
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Checks PaYable ...vvereeeeeeeeeseiiecceieecesreeeaeseenne $ 12 3 570 % 1,718 4 % 2,304
ACCOUNts PAYADIE vocvveeveeerereeeeeree e 1,314 5,984 5,016 2,150 14,464
Interest payable-CUITeNt ....ocvveeevvevereieneereeeeeeeeenns 1,590 8,127 8,355 - 18,072
Notes payable-CUrrent .......covvervrerreeninrevrreeesrnnens - 15,591 - - 15,591
Bonds payable-Current .......oeeeernuveeeverernnreenernenens 4,894 10,906 17,702 - 33,502
Operating fee obligation, net of note receivable ...... - - 4,203 - 4,203
Due to other funds ......oeeevveeeeeeivevreinnnreieeeeeenen, - 111 56 - 167
Reserve for insurance claims payable .........ccevveennen - - - 9,519 9,519
Accrued Payroll .ueeeeeeeeeeeireeee e rrereeee e - - 392 - 392
Other current Habilities ......ccceeevevervrrenreiineeesnnnns 101 377 69 274 821
Total Current Liabifities .......coeeevvreceeerenrunnnns 7,911 41,666 37,511 11,947 99,035
NOLES PAYADIE ceevvreeeereeccrerceeieee e crae e - 85,003 - - 85,003
General obligation bonds payable .........ccevveeeeeeeenn... 118,419 67,644 198,579 - 384,642
Revenue bonds payable .......ceeeveineeniorieeeereeareeeenanns - 453,413 - - 453,413
Operating fee obligation, net of note receivable .......... - - 90,121 - 90,121
Estimated liability for landfill closure and
POSCIOSUTE CAr COSLSuvrrrrenrrrreererirsirrreesssseeeeenrons - - 11,958 - 11,958
Other abIlitIes ...overrereveeereoreriirereesieecteeerreeeneseeeaeas 11,088 5,929 3,193 3,152 23,362
Total Liabifities ..ovveeveevevreeerrrnreeneiseceieeaens 137,418 653,655 341,362 15,099 1,147,534
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt .......... (10,166) 650,381 (59,555) 144,850 725,510
Restricted for debt Service .......oevvvuveececnvrirnennans - 54,489 - - 54,489
UNFESCLed «ovvveeeereresreesveesriesnrecsernsssnreenenecsnns 24,942 74,511 (39,341) 3,782 63,894
Total Net Assets {(Deficit) vooeevvvnrrrrviesrenranes $ 14776 $ 779,381 $ (98,896) $ 148,632 % 843,893

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

A-32



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

{Amounts in thousands)

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

Public
Solid Transportation Totals
Housing Sewer Waste System
Operating Revenues:
Sales of dwelling units and lots ........... $ 2,525 ¢ - $ - % - % 2,525
Rental inCOMe ...coveevvvvnerreeeiirennenenn, 8,330 = 3,223 - 11,553
Sewer service charges .......ccceevvernnen. - 112,148 - - 112,148
Disposal and collection fees ............... - - 49,717 - 49,717
Electrical energy fee ....ccvveevvvenernnnnnn. - - 23,112 - 23,112
Passenger fares for transit services ....... - - - 31,844 31,844
Other revenue .......c..oeveveviveverennsinnns - 1,662 802 435 2,899
Total Operating Revenues ............. 10,855 113,810 76,854 32,279 233,798
Operating Expenses:
Administrative and general ................ 585 32,943 32,948 995 67,471
Maintenance ....ccoeveeeeeveeneeenncnirennenns 889 204 598 3 1,694
Depreciation ......ccceevveuierrenneiienncneenns 3,583 29,983 16,629 14,768 64,963
Contractual Services .........ccceeeeernnnnnnn 660 6,665 34,442 99,323 141,090
Supplemental operating fee ............... - - 3,223 - 3,223
Fringe benefits .....ccovevevveiriineriennens 14 10,676 5,726 = 16,416
Materials and supplies ......cccoeeervnenenen. 78 3,850 1,913 10,243 16,084
Fuel and lubricants ........cccccovvuverennnnes - 1,641 784 5,725 8,150
INSUTANCE covvvverienecrereirererereceneenan, 142 = 1,173 8,659 9,974
State taxes - fuel ....cooveveernreniirennnnennn - -- 161 2,265 2,426
ULHES vvvveeericeenerieierereeeevieereees 911 6,754 154 1,064 8,883
Cost of sales - dwelling units and lots ... 2,247 - = - 2,247
Provision for losses on dwelling
units and I0tS «.oeeeiieiinniniininenannnn. 2,757 - - - 2,757
(01111 S USSR 206 22 - 695 923
Total Operating Expenses .............. 12,072 92,738 97,751 143,740 346,301
Operating Income (L0sS) ..uuvvenneennn. (1,217) 21,072 (20,897) (111,461) (112,503)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Interest revenue ....c....ovevveveuienernnnnnns 605 4,779 13,372 61 18,817
Interest eXpense ......ccceveeeeiivneirennnnss (1,148) (18,208) (28,922) - (48,278)
Gain (Loss) from disposal of property . - 1 - (4,491) (4,490)
Amortization exXpense ........ccceeeevvnnenn. (99) - (134) - (233)
Net increase in the fair
value of investments ......c....cceuvnenee - - - 11 11
Other coceveeeeciiiiirrcecrerrren s ecennens 1,170 (1,754 - - (584)
Total Nonoperating Revenues
(EXPENSES) .vveerrerrnierrerereenniinnens 528 (15,182) (15,684) (4,419) (34,757)
Income (Loss) before QOperating
Transfers and Capital
Contributions......cveeeverevrenenennn. (689) 5,890 (36,581) (115,880) (147,260)
Operating Transfers In .......c..ocevnvvnnnnnnn. 148 - 46,155 75,412 121,715
Operating Transfers QUt ......cooevvevrnnnnens - (46,995) (33,364) - (80,359)
Capital Contributions ..........ccevevvevernnnnes - 2,066 3,348 58,163 63,577
Change in Net Assets ........co.e.... (541) (39,039) (20,442) 17,695 (42,327)
Net Assets - July 1 as previously reported. 15,317 612,449 (78,454) 110,948 660,260
Prior period adjustment..................... -- 205,971 - 19,989 225,960
Net Assets - July 1 as restated................ 15,317 818,420 (78,454) 130,937 886,220
Net Assets - June 30 ......couvirrrevnenenenenns $ 14776 $ 779,381 $ (98,896) $ 148,632 $ 843,893

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers.......euueevernenenee
Payments to suppliers....occoveveeenercenennnes
Payments to employees......cceerenerevnnnen.
Payments for interfund services used......
Other receipts (Payments).....coeveeeereenee

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities ..u..vcvveeeennennns

Cash flows from noncapital financing
activities:
Operating transfers in ....coveeeeveeiscercenes
Operating transfers out ....eeeeeeereereenennns
ContribuLions ...vveeveeerireceeeervernenesnnnens
Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities .......

Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of
Capital aSSELS covvvevvennsnrereennerrrennns
Proceeds from issuing notes .............
Principal paid on operating fee
obligation ....cvvecrrrcciecenennnrennenan.
Interest paid on operating fee
obligation ..eeeeeeeeeeeiiiiiiiiniiieeiinns
Proceeds from issuing bonds ............
Principal paid on notes ....c..ccceeuueen.
Principal paid on bonds .....ccccceceennene
Interest paid on NOtes .....cevvreeeernenen
Interest paid on bonds ......ceeveveennneen
Contributed capital ....ccoevereeererireenns
Net cash provided by (used in)
capital and related financing
ACHIVILIES vivvnrrerenniernonnercereernnns

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments ......cceccervernenens
Proceeds from maturities of

INVESUMENTS 1ovceverernrecrrreecermaneesencenes
Principal received on notes receivable ...
Interest received on notes receivable ....
Withdrawals from restricted assets ........
Interest On iNVESIMENLS ...cccevvvrereerennnene

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities .........cvevuees

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents ...............

Cash and cash equivalents - July 1 ...........
Cash and cash equivalents - June 30 .........

{Public Transportation includes $816 in
cash and cash equivalents in restricted assets)

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

{Amounts in thousands)

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

(Page 1 of 2)

Public
Solid Transportation Totals
Housing Sewer Waste System

$ 8,747 $ 113,200 $ 73,093 $ 32,152 227,192
(2,608) (59,055) (51,338) (127,372) (240,373)
- - (18,110) (941) (19,051)
- (1,661) (1,257) -- (2,918)
1,170 {(75) (5,456) - (4,361)
7,309 52,409 (3,068) (96,161) (39,511)

51 - 46,119 75,412 121,582
- (46,995) (33,363) - (80,358)

- - - 21,788 21,788

51 (46,995) 12,756 97,200 63,012
(443) (71,380) (231) (251) (72,305)

- 26,022 - - 26,022
- - (16,873) - (16,873)
- - (13,740) - (13,740)

- 134,397 2,000 - 136,397
- (4,441) - -- (4,441)
(4,869) (1,012) (16,683) - (22,564)
- (2,573 - - (2,573)
(5,903) (21,563) (13,409) - (40,875)

- - - 383 383
(11,215) 59,450 (58,936) 132 (10,569)
(263,100) (465,309) (165,592) (3,296) (897,297)
263,100 387,639 150,447 6,127 807,313
593 - 13,106 - 13,699

1 - 11,025 - 11,026

1,159 - - - 1,159
567 4,476 2,959 61 8,063
2,320 (73,194) 11,945 2,892 (56,037)
(1,535) (8,330) (37,303) 4,063 (43,105)
24,927 33,973 51,975 6,713 117,588

$ 23,392 $ 25,643 $ 14,672 $ 10,776 74,483
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Reconciliation of operating income
(loss) to net cash provided (used) by
operating activities:
Operating income (1055) ovvvvrvirissrensiones
Adjustments to reconcile operating

income (loss) to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
Provision for losses on dwelling

units and lots ...... .

Depreciation

Other revenues

Writeoff of capital assets .....ccceeerernnne
(Increase) decrease in
accounts receivable .......coceeeiecannns
Increase in due
from other funds
(Increase) decrease in parts,
materials and supplies .....cvvvereee.
Decrease in real estate held

for sale

Increase in prepaid

expenses and other assets ............
Increase (decrease) in trade

accounts and checks payables .......
Increase in reserve for

insurance claims payable ..............
Increase (decrease) in deferred

Credits cuivivvrmvnssssssiniressnssiesinennnes
Increase (decrease) in other

liabilities vovveeerveerirevereecnireeeeeeeennn
Increase in due to

other funds

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities .....c.uveveaneans

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

{Amounts in thousands)

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

(Page 2 of 2)

Public
Solid Transportation Totals
Housing Sewer Waste System
$ (1,217} 3 21,072 $ (20,897) § (111,461) (112,503)
2,757 - - - 2,757
3,583 29,983 16,629 14,768 64,963
1,223 - 201 - 1,424
- 4,464 - - 4,464
(2,108) (366) 2,269 - (205)
- {1,661} (1,734) - (3,395)
- (429) - 1,130 701
2,023 - - - 2,023
(16} - (39) 81) (136)
1,209 (1,114) (1,241) (340) (1,486)
- - - 1,745 1,745
(145) - 59 (127) (213)
- 349 24 (1,795) (1,422)
- 111 1,661 - 1,772
$ 7,309 $ 52,409 $ (3,068) $  (96,161) (39,511)

Supplemental disclosure of noncash capital and related financing activities (amounts in thousands):

Housing

Amortization of deferred refinancing charges amounted to $99 for the year ended June 30, 2002.

Sewer

The Sewer Fund received approximately $2,066 in contributions of capital assets from government
agencies and developers which are recorded as contributed capital at their cost or estimated cost
for the year ended June 30, 2002.

Solid Waste

Amortization of bond discount amounted to $134 for the year ended June 30, 2002.
Solid Waste received contributions of fixed assets from the City and County of Honolulu amounting to
$3,505 for the year ended June 30, 2002.

Public Transportation System

The Public Transportation System received contributions of fixed assets from the City and County
of Honolulu amounting to $35,992 for the year ended June 30, 2002.
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Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

General Trust Fund
This fund accounts for monies received by the various agencies of the City for specific purposes, as
trustee, escrow agent, custodian or security holder, for which no special fund exists.

Treasury Trust Fund
Receipts and disbursements of monies from this fund are made through commercial checking
accounts authorized by the Director of Budget and Fiscal Services.

Real Property Tax Trust Fund
This fund is used for the purpose of making refunds and adjustments relating to real property taxes.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002
{Amounts in thousands)

Private-purpose Agency
Trust Funds Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents .........coveeeeeervrmeennserenens $ 33,207 $ 4,501
INVESEMENTS ...ovieriiiiiiriiiriireceecseee s e e reneenes 1,643 -
Other CUITENE SSELS 1vuvneeererereiereereirireereeeeevenenens 1,164 --
TOtal ASSELS ovveeennrreereeriincireeeerrerreeeeeenes 36,014 4,501
LIABILITIES
Checks payable ......ovvvvveviiieneiieeiereeinneeeranesesonans 100 2,785
AcCcoUNtS PAYaDIe ..vvvveeriirieieeiiervreertseeeeennees 4,005 -
Other current abilities .......ccoeeveierviiiirieiirenreennns -- 1,716
Total Habilities «....oveevrrerneeeerieeirnineerinenns 4,105 4,501
NET ASSETS
Held in trust for individuals, organizations
and other gOVErnMENtS ........cceveveeerveeenenrereenenn. $ 31,909 $ --

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002
(Amounts in thousands)

Private-purpose
Trust Funds

ADDITIONS

INEETESE woeerreereeriieiieieecrcerereeersesseesesesssennresnnresseseeeeseassas $ 118
Collections for sundry creditors, contributions, etc.............. 329,357
Total additions .....vvvevevevevevnsnsniiiiisioesreeeesereresreessenenane 329,475

DEDUCTIONS
Payments in accordance with trust agreements ........cceeeeuunns 328,060
Total dedUCtiONS ....ceeieeerieeeiieeeeerieeiiieeeerinsereeereransans 328,060
Change in NEL ASSELS .evvvverneeeeeeirrernreeereesneeresesnsasnns 1,415
Net assets - JUIY T oviiiviiiiiriiiiieneeeeieieeeeeeeenrercrnenereeenans 30,494
Net assets - JUNe 30 .ovvuveiererieererieieirieseeereeeeseresereonse $ 31,909

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Financial Reporting Entity

The City and County of Honolulu, State of Hawaii (City) is a municipal corporation governed
by an elected mayor and a nine-member City Council. The City operates under a City
Charter, which was originally adopted in 1959 and last amended in 1998.

The accompanying financial statements present the operations of the City, as primary
government, as well as its discretely presented component unit, the Board of Water Supply.

The City’s operations are organized by the following general functions: general government,
public safety, highways and streets, sanitation, health and human resources, culture and
recreation, urban redevelopment and housing, and utilities or other enterprises.

State of Hawaii (State) agencies assume full responsibility for several major functions usually
performed by local governments such as education, welfare, health and judicial functions.
These agencies are not dependent on the City and therefore, are not included in these financial
statements. There are no separate city, county or township governments nor any school
district, special districts, authorities or public corporations with overlapping authority presented
in the accompanying financial statements.

Discretely Presented Component Unit — The component unit column in the financial
statements includes the financial data of the City’s discretely presented component unit, the
Board of Water Supply (Board), which is a semi-autonomous proprietary agency of the City.
It is reported in a separate column to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City.

A majority of the members of the Board, the governing body, are appointed by the Mayor and
confirmed by the City Council. The Board has been granted corporate powers by the City
Charter. The City does not have the authority to modify or approve the Board’s budgets.
Water and revenue bonds payable of the Board are general obligations of the City. As the City
would be obligated to repay these bonds in the event of default by the Board, the City is
financially accountable for the debts of the Board. Complete financial statements of the Board
may be obtained from the Board of Water Supply, 630 South Beretania Street, Honoluly,
Hawaii 96843,

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements — The government-wide financial
statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of activities) report information
on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component unit. For the
most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent
on fees and charges for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from
the legally separate component unit for which the primary government is financially
accountable.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

The statement of activities reflects the direct expenses of the functional category or segment,
which are supported by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or
segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported
instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds, even though the fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide
financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise
funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation — The
government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund
financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are
recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as
soon as they are both measurable and available. Measurable means the amounts are
determinable. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this
purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within sixty
days of the end of the current fiscal period. Revenues not considered available are recorded as
deferred revenues. Revenues susceptible to accrual are real property taxes coliected within
sixty days after fiscal year end, fuel taxes, rents and concessions, interest and special
assessments. Licenses and permits revenues, franchise taxes, charges for current services, fines,
forfeitures, penalties and other miscellaneous revenues are not susceptible to accrual because
they are not measurable until received in cash.

In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to intergovernmental revenues, the legal and
contractual requirements of the individual programs are used as guidance. There are essentially
two types of these revenues. For one type of revenues, monies must be expended for a
specific purpose or project and revenues are recognized to the extent of such expenditures.
Revenues of this type are deferred for monies received in advance of expenditures and accrued
for expenditures in advance of monies received. For the other type of revenues, monies are
virtually unrestricted as to purpose of the expenditure. These resources are reflected as
revenues at the time of receipt, or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria are met.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred. However, debt service
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

The City’s fiduciary funds are presented in the fund financial statement by type. Since by
definition these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party and cannot be used to
address activities or obligations of the government, these funds are not incorporated into the
government-wide statements.

Fund Types — The financial transactions of the City are recorded in individual funds. Each
fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its
assets, liabilities, reserves, fund balances, revenues and expenditures/expenses. There are
certain  minimum  criteria (percentage of the assets, liabilities, revenues or
expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the governmental and enterprise combined)
for the determination of major funds. The non-major funds are combined in a column in the
fund financial statement and detailed in the combining section.

The City has the following fund types:

Governmental Fund Types

The focus of governmental fund measurement (in the fund financial statements) is
upon determination of financial position and changes in financial position (sources,
uses and balances of financial resources) rather than upon net income.

The City’s governmental fund types are as follows:

General Fund — The general fund is the general operating fund of the City.
It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.

Special Revenue Funds — Special revenue funds are used to account for the
proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than special assessments,
expendable trusts or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specified purposes.

Debt Service Funds — Debt service funds are used to account for the
accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, debt principal, interest
and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds — Capital projects funds are used to account for
financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major
capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

Proprietary Funds

The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating
income, changes in net assets, financial position and cash flows. The generally
accepted accounting principles applicable are those similar to businesses in the private
sector. The City maintains four proprietary enterprise fund types as well as its
discretely presented component unit under the following criteria:

Enterprise Funds — Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that
are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises
(a) where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (i.e., expenses
including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on
a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or
(b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of
revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate for
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or
other purposes.

Fiduciary Funds
The City maintains the following fiduciary fund types:

Private-Purpose Trust Funds — The private-purpose trust funds are used to
account for resources held by the City for the benefit of parties outside the
government.

Agency Funds — Agency funds are custodial in nature and are used to
receive and disburse funds for an entity/individual, which is not part of the
City. Agency funds function as a clearing account and do not measure results
of operations.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales
and services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government’s
policy to use restricted funds first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

The accompanying financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for governments as prescribed by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Pronouncements of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued after November 30, 1989 are not applied in the
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

presentation of the financial statements of the proprietary fund types in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 20.

Effective July 1, 2001, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial
Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments,”
GASB Statement No. 37, “Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and
Analysis for State and Local Governments: Omnibus — an amendment of GASB Statements
No. 21 and No. 34,” and GASB Statement No. 38, “Certain Financial Statement Note
Disclosures.” These Statements significantly change the financial reporting requirements for
state and local governments. The implementation of these Statements required the City to
retroactively and prospectively report all capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
including infrastructure assets (long-lived capital assets such as roads, sidewalks, etc.) in the
statement of net assets and report depreciation expense in the statement of activities. The
Statements also required the City to report government-wide financial statements on the
accrual basis of accounting, to focus on the government’s major governmental and enterprise
funds, and to present required supplemental information, which includes a management’s
discussion and analysis section.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Annual operating and project-length capital budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with
GAAP except that encumbrances are treated as budgeted expenditures in the year the
commitments are made.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for
the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable
operating budget appropriation, is employed as an extension of formal budgetary integration in
the general fund and in certain special revenue funds (in the fund financial statements).
Capital projects funds (in the fund financial statements) employ encumbrance accounting in
order to reserve for construction contracts that portion of the applicable capital projects
appropriation.

Encumbrances are recorded at the time purchase orders, construction contracts or other
contracts or commitments are awarded, except for contracts awarded contingent upon the
availability of nonbudgeted federal or state grant monies. Encumbrances outstanding at year
end are reported as reservations of fund balances (in the fund financial statements) and do not
constitute expenditures or liabilities because the commitments will be honored during the
subsequent year.

Cash and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be demand and time deposits primarily with
various financial institutions in Hawaii, with fiscal agents, short-term investments with original
maturity of three months or less from date of acquisition, and imprest and change funds. Cash
on deposit with financial institutions is collateralized in accordance with State statutes.

A-44



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

Investments consist of investments in U.S. government securities, investments purchased under
agreements to resell to banks (repurchase agreements), time certificates of deposit and mutual
funds. Included are participating interest-earning investment contracts (repurchase agreements
and U.S. government securities), as well as nonparticipating interest-earning investment
contracts (time certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements). Both categories of
investments are stated at amortized cost.

The City values investments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, “Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools.”  This
statement provides fair value standards for investments in certain types of financial instruments.
The City’s investments fall into categories that can be valued by cost-based measures.

Real Property Taxes

Real property taxes are assessed and billed annually. The City’s real property taxes, which are
levied on July 1 and billed on July 20 of each year are based on assessed valuations as of
January 1, and are due in two equal installments on the following August 20 and February 20.
Accordingly, real property taxes receivable at June 30, 2002 are delinquent and amounts that
are not collected within sixty days after year end are reported as deferred revenue in the fund
financial statements. A lien for real property taxes attaches as of July 1 of each year.

Unbilled Receivables

Included in the enterprise fund — discretely presented component unit and enterprise fund —
proprietary fund type receivables at June 30, 2002, were unbilled water and sewer charges
(due to the use of cycle billings) in the amounts of $7.9 million and $10.7 million,
respectively.

Inventories of Parts, Materials and Supplies

Inventories of parts, materials and supplies are stated at weighted average cost, which
approximates fair value. The costs of inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed
rather than when purchased.

Inventory of Real Estate Held for Sale

Real estate held for sale is stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value, with
cost being determined by the specific identification method. All estimated costs to the
anticipated date of disposition are considered in the determination of estimated net realizable
value. Costs include all costs directly related to the planning of improvements to be
constructed on the land, interest and other carrying charges. Interest on loans used to finance
development or construction activities is capitalized during the development period.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads,
bridges, sidewalks and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-
type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined
by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 for equipment
and $100,000 for buildings, structures and infrastructure, and an estimated useful life of more
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than one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value
at the date of donation. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly
extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs related to repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Depreciation on all assets is provided for on the
straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Infrastructure 15-100
Buildings and improvements 10-50
Transmission and distribution system 13-60
Equipment and machinery 3-25
Buses and other transit vehicles 7-12

Intrafund and Interfund Transactions

Interfund receivables and payables are reported in each fund. Transfers of financial resources
between agencies and activities included in the same fund, which are recorded as revenues by
the transferee and expenditures or expenses by the transferor, have been eliminated.
Transactions that represent reimbursements to a fund for expenditures or expenses initially
made from it that are properly applicable to another fund are recorded as expenditures or
expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of expenditures or expenses in the fund
reimbursed.

Operating transfers from the primary government include operating loss subsidies of
$75.4 million to the Public Transportation System and authorized transfers from funds
receiving revenues to funds that will expend those resources. Contributions to the capital
accounts of enterprise funds are reflected in the statement of revenue, expenses and changes in
fund net assets.

Net Assets

Net assets comprise the various net earnings (losses) from operating and nonoperating
revenues, expenses, operating transfers and contributed capital. Net assets are classified in the
following three components: invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted for
capital activity and debt service; and unrestricted net assets. Invested in capital assets, net of
related debt, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding debt
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Debt related to
unspent proceeds or other restricted cash and investments at year-end are not included in the
calculation of the amount invested in capital assets, net of related debt. Restricted for capital
activity and debt service consists of net assets for which constraints are placed thereon by
external parties, such as lenders, grantors, contributors, laws, regulations and enabling
legislation, including self-imposed legal mandates. Unrestricted net assets consist of all other
net assets not included in the above categories.
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Retirement Plan Contributions

The City’s contribution to the Employees’ Retirement System of the State of Hawaii is based
upon actuarial computations and is comprised of the normal cost plus a level annual payment
required to amortize an unfunded actuarial accrued liability over the remaining period of 27
years from July 1, 2002. The City is required by State statute to fund the actuarially
determined pension contribution requirement annually.

Deferred Compensation Plan

All full-time employees of the City and its component unit are eligible to participate in the City
and County of Honolulu’s Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Program (Plan), adopted
pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan permits eligible employees to defer
a portion of their salary until future years by contributing to a fund managed by a plan
administrator. The deferred compensation amounts are not available to employees until
termination, retirement, death or unforeseeable emergency.

A trust fund (annuity contract) was established to protect plan assets from claims of general
creditors and from diversion to any uses other than paying benefits to participants and
beneficiaries. Deferred compensation plan assets of $259 million are not reported in the
accompanying basic financial statements at June 30, 2002.

Compensated Absences
The City accrues accumulated unpaid vacation when earned (or estimated to be earned) by the
employee. Vacation benefits accrue at a rate of one and three-quarters working days for each
month. Each employee is allowed to accumulate a maximum of 90 days of vacation as of the
end of the calendar year.

Sick leave accumulates at the rate of one and three-quarters working days for each month,
without limit. Sick leave is taken only in the event of illness and is not convertible to pay;
accordingly, sick leave is not accrued in the accompanying financial statements. Employees
who retire or leave government service in good standing with sixty or more unused sick leave
days are entitled to an additional service credit in the retirement system. At June 30, 2002,
accumulated sick leave amounted to $276 million.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership are accounted for as
capital leases. Other leases are operating leases. Capital leases are included in fixed assets and,
where appropriate, are amortized over the shorter of their estimated economic useful lives or
lease terms. The related capital lease obligations are included in long-term debt. Operating
leases are expended (or expensed) when the related liability is incurred.

Enterprise Funds

The City maintains five enterprise funds consisting of the Public Transportation System (PTS),
the Solid Waste Special Fund, the Sewer Fund and the Housing Development Special Fund,
which are included in the proprietary fund type, and the Board of Water Supply, which is a
discretely presented component unit.
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Information describing these enterprise funds, including significant accounting policies, is
described in Notes 12 and 16.

Deficit Balances

At June 30, 2002, the $98.9 million accumulated deficit in the Solid Waste Special Fund
results from deficits of H-POWER due to operating transfers to the general fund and due to
operating losses. It is anticipated that the City will continue to provide significant operating
subsidies to the H-POWER facility to finance operations.

At June 30, 2002, the $558.2 million unreserved — undesignated fund deficit in the total
capital projects fund type results from encumbering the full amount of certain construction
contracts to be financed by future bond sales and federal and state grant awards to be received
in cash on a reimbursable basis.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses/expenditures, and
other financing sources and uses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Financial Statement Presentation

Certain prior year information have been presented in the supplementary fund financial
statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in financial position and
operations of these funds. Also, certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been
reclassified in order to be consistent with the current year’s presentation. :

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

On or before March 3, the Mayor submits to the City Council proposed operating and capital
projects budgets for the periods commencing the following July 1. The budgets are on a basis
consistent with GAAP except that encumbrances are treated as budgeted expenditures in the
year the commitments are made. After public hearings, and prior to June 15, the budgets are
legally enacted through passage of a budget ordinance by the City Council.

Formal budgetary integration is employed (i.e., annual operating budgets are legally adopted)
for the general fund and special revenue funds. Effective budgetary control for debt service,
trust and agency, and revolving funds is achieved through bond indentures, contractual
provisions and legislation. Formal budgetary integration is not employed for capital projects
because effective budgetary control is achieved through contractual provisions and project
oversight. Flexible budgeting (i.e., the relationship of costs to revenues) is employed for
enterprise funds.
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Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year if not expended or encumbered, except that
appropriations for capital projects lapse six months after the end of the fiscal year if not at least
partially expended or encumbered. Certain federal and state grant funds are automatically
appropriated when received.

The Mayor is authorized to transfer appropriations between activities within a department. To
transfer appropriations between departments, the legal level of budgeting, amendments must
be made to the enacted budget ordinance. Only the Mayor may propose amendments to the
enacted budget ordinance. Amendments for items not included in the enacted budget
ordinances may be proposed by the Mayor or the City Council.

The financial statements aggregate budgetary information at the functional level. The legal
level of budgetary control (i.e., department level) is reported in the individual fund statements.

The budget figures presented include all amendments to the enacted budget ordinances.

During the year, several supplementary appropriations were necessary. The overall effect of
these supplementary appropriations on the budget was not significant.

3. Restated Beginning Net Assets

The implementation of GASB Statement No. 34 resulted in the following adjustments to the
City’s June 30, 2001 net assets for the governmental activities (amounts in thousands):

Governmental
Activities
Net Assets:
Fund balances at June 30, 2001, as previously reported by
governmental fund type:
General 3 41,536
Special revenue 58,983
Debt service 1,329
Capital projects 72,660
Total fund balances at June 30, 2001, as previously reported 174,508
GASB Statement No. 34 adjustments:
Addition of:
Net capital assets 1,441,291
Long-term liabilities (1,235,774)
Accrued interest (17,035)
Reductions of:
Deferred credits offsetting long-term loans receivable
in the fund statements 79,699
268,181
Net Assets at June 30, 2001, as restated $ 442 689

A-49



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet
and the Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance of total
governmental funds and net assets of governmental activities as reported in the government-
wide statement of net assets. One element of that reconciliation explains that, “long-term
liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.” Long-term liabilities applicable to the City’s
governmental activities are not due and payable in the current period and, accordingly, are not
reported as fund liabilities. However, all current and long-term liabilities are reported in the
statement of net assets. The details of this $1.5 billion difference are as follows (amounts in
thousands):

Long-term liabilities (see Note 9) $ (1,458,564)
Accrued interest payable (17,022)

$ (1,475,586)

The government fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
includes a reconciliation between net change in fund balances of total governmental funds and
change in net assets of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of
activities. One element of that reconciliation states that, “Governmental funds report capital
outlays as expenditures. The statement of activities reports depreciation expense on capital
assets.” The details of this $129 million difference are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Capital outlays $ 177,028
Depreciation expense (47,588)
$ 129,440
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Another element of that reconciliation states that, “Proceeds from the issuance of long-term
debt are reported as providing current financial resources in the governmental funds, but are
reported as long-term debt in the government-wide financial statements. Repayment of such
debt is reported as an expenditure for governmental funds but is reported as a reduction of
debt in the government-wide financial statements. The details of this $204 million difference
are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Debt issued:

General obligation bonds $ (243,000)
Tax-exempt commercial paper (52,599)
Notes payable (1,119)
Total (296,718)
Principal Repayments:
General obligation bonds 38,706
Tax-exempt commercial paper 50,579
Other long-term debt 1,608
Other 1,493
Total 92,386
Net adjustment $ (204,332)

Another element of that reconciliation states that, “Some expenses reported in the statement
of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported as expenditures in governmental funds.” The details of this $18 million difference
are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Compensated absences $ (3,751)
Claims and judgments (4,478)
Early incentive retirement payable 561
Short-term debt (92,300)
Other (1,477)
Net adjustment $ (18,445)
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5. Cash and Investments

The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is used by all funds including the
component unit, except the workers” compensation trust fund, which is held separately by the
independent plan administrator. Each of the funds’ and the component unit’s portion of this
pool are displayed in the accompanying financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City’s demand and time certificates of deposits, including those of its fiduciary funds and
component unit, are categorized below to give an indication of the level of risk assumed at
June 30, 2002. Category 1 includes bank balances, which are fully insured or collateralized
with securities held by the City or its agent in the City’s name. Category 2 includes bank
balances that are collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust

department or agent in the City’s name. Category 3 includes uninsured and uncollateralized
cash,

Bank balances and deposits at June 30, 2002 were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Category Bank Carrying

1 2 3 Balances Amount

Primary government $ 78,559 § - % 627 $ 79,186 $ 78,799
Component unit 25,392 - - 25,392 25,392
Total $ 103,951 $ - 3 627 $104,578 $ 104,191
Fiduciary funds $ 37,708 § - 3 - $ 37,708 $ 37,708

Approximately $500,000 of total bank balances of deposits was covered by federal depository
insurance.

The City reports cash with fiscal agents as City cash until the agents use the cash to pay the
bond principal and interest amounts due. The fiscal agents typically pay the principal and
interest amounts due within two days after receiving the cash from the City. At June 30,
2002, $627,000 was classified as Category 3.

Investments

State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies,
obligations of other states, cities, and counties, mutual funds and bank repurchase agreements.
Investments in repurchase agreements are primarily U.S. government or federal agency
securities. To minimize credit risk, the City invests in U.S. government securities through the
book entry systems of the two largest commercial banks in the State. Book entry securities are
held in the banks’ custodial (i.e., safekeeping) accounts at a Federal Reserve Bank.
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The following tables present the City’s investments at June 30, 2002 and provide information
about the credit and market risks associated with the City’s investments. Category 1 includes
investments that are insured or registered, or securities held by the City or its agent in the
City’s name. Category 2 includes investments which are uninsured and unregistered, with
securities held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the City’s name. Category 3
includes investments which are uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the
counterparty, or by its trust department or agent but not in the City’s name.

Investment balances at June 30, 2002 were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Category Reported Fair
1 2 3 Amount Value
Primary Government:
Repurchase
agreements $ 302,675 §$ - $ - $ 302,675 $ 302,675
U.S. government
securities 110,882 - - 110,882 111,639
Total $ 413,557 $ 413,557 $ 414,314
Component Unit:
Mutual funds $ 54,565 $ 54,565 $ 54,565
U.S. government
securities 100,784 100,784 100,784
Total $ 155,349 $ 155,349 $ 155,349
Fiduciary Funds:
Repurchase
agreements $ 1,643 $ 1,643 $ 1,643
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6. Receivables

Receivable balances, net of allowances for uncollectible accounts, at June 30, 2002 consisted
of the following (amount in thousands):

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities

Real property taxes $ 5234 $ -
Accounts 510 33,655
Special assessments 14,133 -
Notes 54,128 3,501
Intergovernmental 16,414 -
Interest 774 3,014
Component unit — CASE fees 3,326 -
Allowance for uncollectible accounts - (1,641)

$ 94,519 § 38,529

The only receivables not expected to be collected within one year are the noncurrent portion
of the notes receivable, which are generally due to the City on various dates through 2055.
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7. Fixed Assets

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2002 (amounts in thousands):

Primary Government

Balance at Balance at
July 1, Retirements/ June 30,
2001 Additions Transfers 2002
Governmental Activities:
Depreciable Assets —
Infrastructure $ 675,947 $ 3,733 % (30) $ 679,650
Buildings and improvements 631,198 113,993 (1,744) 743,447
Equipment and machinery 193,689 28,876 (5,968) 216,597
Total depreciable assets 1,500,834 146,602 (7,742) 1,639,694
Less Accumulated Depreciation —
Infrastructure (345,310) (11,814) 1 (357,123)
Buildings and improvements (224,966) (21,667) 29 (246,604)
Equipment and machinery (113,040) (14,107) 4,676 (122,471)
Total accumulated
depreciation (683,316) (47,588) 4,706 (726,198)
817,518 99,014 (3,036) 213,496
Land 406,453 24,004 - 430,457
Construction Work in Progress 217,320 123,340 (113,882) 226,778

Governmental activities —
capital assets, net $1,441,291 $ 246,358 $ (116,918) $1,570,731

Business-type Activities:
Depreciable Assets —

Infrastructure $ 754,021 $ 33,498 $ - $ 787,519
Buildings and improvements 590,516 24,136 (6,298) 608,354
Equipment and machinery 405,126 25,770 (7,517) 423,379
Total depreciable assets 1,749,663 83,404 (13,815) 1,819,252
Less Accumulated Depreciation —
Infrastructure (33,041) (17,508) - (50,549)
Buildings and improvements (74,236) (17,201) 3,226 (88,211)
Equipment and machinery (238,657) (30,254) 4,985 (263,926)
Total accumulated
depreciation (345,934) (64,963) 8,211 (402,686)
1,403,729 18,441 (5,604) 1,416,566
Land 85,350 19,436 (2,371) 102,415
Construction Work in Progress 109,966 77,919 (59,579) 128,306

Business-type activities ~
capital assets, net $1,599,045 §$ 115796 $ (67,554) $1,647,287
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Component Unit

Balance at Balance at
July 1, Retirements/ June 30,
2001 Additions Transfers 2002
Depreciable Assets —
Infrastructure : $ 845,208 $ 68,051 $ (5053) $ 908,206
Buildings and improvements 113,308 4,430 (183) 117,555
Equipment and machinery 149,139 14,296 (1,655) 161,780
Total depreciable assets 1,107,655 86,777 (6,891) 1,187,541
Less Accumulated Depreciation —
Infrastructure (287,951) (19,557) 4,698 (302,810)
Buildings and improvements (20,835) (2,802) - (23,637)
Equipment and machinery (75,499) (8,797) 1,590 (82,706)
Total accumulated
depreciation (384,285) (31,156) 6,288 (409,153
723,370 55,621 (603) 778,388
Land 29,562 500 - 30,062
Construction Work in Progress 107,168 120,377 (100,586) 126,959

Component uni¢ —
capital assets, net $ 860,100 §$ 176,498 ¢ (101,189) $ 935,409

Depreciation expense was charged as follows (amounts in thousands):

Governmental Activities:

General government $ 11,492
Public safety 14,155
Highways and streets 10,502
Health and human resources 246
Culture-recreation 10,493

Total depreciation expense — governmental activities $ 47,588

Business-type Activities:

Sewer $ 29,982
Solid waste 16,630
Housing 3,583
Public Transportation System 14,768

Total depreciation expense — business-type activities $ 64,963

Component Unit:
Board of Water Supply ($1,153 of depreciation expense was capitalized to projects.) $ 30,003

A-56



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

8. Interfund Balances

The following is a summary of amounts due from and due to other funds at June 30, 2002
(amounts in thousands):

Due From Due to
Other Funds Other Funds

General Fund $ 305 $ 640

Highway Fund 22 -

General Improvement Bond Fund - 7,298

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 408 373
Enterprise Funds:

Sewer Fund 6,858 111

Solid Waste Special Fund 885 56

$ 8,478 $ 8,478

There are no interfund balances that are not expected to be repaid by June 30, 2003.

The following is a summary of amounts transferred from and transferred to other funds at
June 30, 2002 (amounts in thousands):

Transferred From Transferred to

Other Funds Other Funds

General Fund $ 82,919 $ 185,348

Highway Fund - 45,303

G.0O. Bond and Interest Redemption Fund 105,316 -

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 23,674 22,614
Enterprise Funds:

Housing Development Special Fund 148 -

Sewer Fund - 46,995

Solid Waste Special Fund 46,155 33,364

Public Transportation System 75,412 -

$ 333,624 % 333,624

The main purpose for these interfund transfers, as provided by ordinance, are for: the recovery
of central administrative expenses; debt service payments and recoveries through the general
fund; and reimbursement for capital contributions to the general fund. During 2002,
$41 million was transferred from the Sewer Fund to the general fund for reimbursement of
capital contributions.

There are no significant transfers that either do not occur on a routine basis or are inconsistent
with the fund making the transfer.
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9. Long-Term Liabilities

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities included in the governmental
activities, business-type activities, and the component unit during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2002 (amounts in thousands):

Balance at Balance at Amounts
July 1, June 30, Due Within
2001 Additions Reductions 2002 One Year
Governmental Activities:
General obligation bonds $ 1,093,784 $ 243,000 $ 38,706 $ 1,298,078 $ 44,985
Tax-exempt commercial
paper 9,297 52,599 50,579 11,317 11,317
Special assessment
bonds with government
commitment 2,115 - 370 1,745 370
Notes payable to federal
and state governments 3,700 1,119 199 4,620 228
Capital lease obligations
(Note 13) 1,742 - 503 1,239 545
Installment purchase
contracts 3,155 - 536 2,619 609
Compensated absences 468,915 24,654 20,903 72,666 5,137
Claims and judgments
(Note 14) 52,468 21,686 17,208 56,946 12,321
Early incentive retirement
payable 9,895 - 561 9,334 561
Total $ 1,245,071 $ 343,058 $ 129,565 $ 1,458,564 $ 76,073
Business-Type Activities:
General obligation bonds $ 441,431 $ 7,000 $ 31,336 $ 417,095 $ 32,452
Revenue bonds 319,453 136,020 1,010 454,463 1,050
Tax-exempt commercial
paper 3 10,183 3 10,183 10,183
Notes payable to state
governments 68,829 26,022 4,441 20,410 5,408
Operating fee obligation
{Note 12) 95,689 - 1,365 94,324 4,203
Estimated liability for
landfill closure and
postclosure care costs
(see Note 15) 13,152 - 1,125 12,027 69
Total $ 938,557 $ 179,225 $ 39,280 $ 1,078,502 $ 53,365
Discretely Presented
Component Unit:
Revenue bonds $ 66,600 $ 54,400 $ - $ 121,000 $ 780
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General Obligation Bonds

The City issues general obligation bonds for the construction of major capital facilities. General
obligation bonds in the governmental activities are direct obligations of the City for which its
full faith and credit are pledged. Debt service is paid from the debt service fund. These bonds
were issued during the fiscal years 1977 through 2002 in the original amount of $1.9 billion,
less a discount ($1.2 million at June 30, 2002 which is being amortized over the related term
of the bond), bear interest at 2.85% to 8.75%, and mature serially through fiscal year 2025.
General obligation debt authorized but not yet issued amounted to $506 million at June 30,
2002. ‘

General obligation bonds in the City’s business-type activities are expected to be paid from
their respective revenues. These instruments are also direct obligations of the City for which its
full faith and credit is pledged. These bonds were issued during the fiscal years 1991 through
2002 in the original amount of $886 million, less a discount ($622,000 at June 30, 2002,
which is being amortized over the related term of the bond), bear interest at 2.85% to
8.75%, and mature serially through fiscal year 2024.

In December 2001, the City issued Series 2001C general obligation bonds in the amount of
$250 million. The bonds bear variable interest rates and mature annually on December 1,
2006 through 2020. The Series 2001C bonds are subject to redemption, at the option of
the City, in whole or in part on any interest payment date but not prior to December 4,
2002. Proceeds from the bonds will be used to fund the cost of certain public improvements
and capital equipment of the City.

Short-term general obligation tax-exempt commercial paper in a maximum aggregate principal
amount not to exceed $150 million outstanding at any time was authorized for issuance by the
City, in accordance with Ordinance 01-28, during June 2001, to refinance long-term bonds.
The $21.5 million commercial paper bear interest at variable rates (1.35% to 1.50% at
June 30, 2002) with varying maturities to a maximum of 270 days from the respective date
of issue, and are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. In connection with the issuance,
the City entered into an irrevocable letter of credit agreement in which the City may borrow
up to $150 million for payment of principal and up to $13.3 million for payment of interest.
There were no drawings on the letter of credit during fiscal 2002.

Interest on certain variable-rate general obligation bonds reset weekly at prevailing rates.

Revenue Bonds

Water system revenue bonds in the City’s component unit were issued during fiscal years 2002
and 2001 in the original amounts of $54.4 million and $66.6 million, respectively. Water
system revenue bonds are subject to redemption on and after specified dates prior to maturity
at the option of the Board at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus
accrued interest. The bonds bear interest at variable rates (1.45% auction rate to 4.0% at
June 30, 2002) and mature serially through fiscal year 2032. Proceeds from the bonds were
primarily used to fund the acquisition of a water reclamation facility, to fund capital
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improvement projects and to retire outstanding bonds. The revenue bonds are collateralized
by the component unit’s revenues.

Wastewater system revenue bonds in the City’s business-type activities were issued during fiscal
years 2002 (Series 2001) and 1999 (Series 1998) in the original amounts of $136 million
and $319 million, respectively. The 2001 and 1998 Series are subject to redemption, at the
option of the City, on or after July 1, 2011 and July 1, 2009, respectively. The bonds bear
interest at 4.0% to 5.0% at June 30, 2002 and mature at various dates through fiscal year
2032. The revenue bonds are collateralized by the wastewater system revenues.

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds (including tax-
exempt commercial paper) and revenue bonds at June 30, 2002, including interest of
$1.3 billion, were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Governmental Activities Busi Type Activities Component Unit Total
Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Prinicipal
Year Ending June 30:

2003 $ 65,247 $ 44,985 $ 43,880 $ 33,502 $ 4,167 $ 780 $ 113,294 $ 79,267
2004 61,172 61,871 41,957 37,629 4,116 2,040 107,245 101,540
2005 57,806 65,480 39,655 38,874 4,056 2,135 101,517 106,489
2006 54,837 464,050 37,470 42,729 3,990 2,180 96,297 108,959
2007 52,034 74,759 35,426 43,840 3,921 2,290 91,381 120,889
2008 - 2012 195,749 412,912 142,460 183,485 18,456 13,135 356,665 609,532
2013 - 2017 98,879 315,107 121,559 125,411 16,012 16,535 236,450 457,053
2018 - 2022 34,394 226,562 86,252 137,909 12,718 21,060 133,364 385,531
2023 ~ 2027 3,420 43,669 39,709 146,312 8,514 26,745 51,643 216,726
2028 - 2032 - - 7,844 92,050 5,190 34,100 13,034 126,150

Total $ 623538 $ 1,309,395 § 596,212 $ 881,741 $ 81,140 $ 121,000 $ 1,300,800 $ 2,312,136

General obligation bonds are generally subject to redemption by the City for a premium.

Total interest costs incurred by the business-type activities and the component unit for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2002 was $49.3 million, of which $12.7 million was capitalized.

Other Long-Term Debt

In December 1994, the City issued $4.4 million of special assessment refunding bonds, which
bear interest at variable rates (6.4% to 6.9% at June 30, 2002) and require annual principal
and interest payments through fiscal year 2007. These bonds are collateralized by liens on the
properties the assessments are levied against and are term bonds subject to prior redemption
based on the availability of funds. They are reported under the governmental activities column
of the City’s government wide statement of net assets because, should collections of special
assessments be insufficient, the City is authorized to use funds in the improvement district
revolving fund to make principal and interest payments. These bonds amounted to
$1.7 million at June 30, 2002.
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The note payable to federal government is for the City’s share of costs for a federal project to
develop recreational facilities and fish and wildlife resources at the Kaneohe Reservoir. The
note bears interest at 5.1% and requires annual principal and interest payments through fiscal
year 2016. The note amounted to $3.5 million at June 30, 2002.

The notes payable to state government are for the construction of necessary treatment works
and for other projects intended for wastewater reclamation or waste management. The notes
amounted to $91.5 million at June 30, 2002, bear interest at 2.1% to 3.0%, and require
annual principal and interest payments through fiscal year 2022.

The City has lease purchase contracts for certain equipment, which are accounted for as capital
leases (see Note 13).

The City also utilizes installment purchase contracts to finance purchases of equipment. The
equipment is recorded at cost.

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the City’s governmental activities and
business-type activities for other long-term debt at June 30, 2002, including interest of
$28.5 million, were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Special Notes, Leases
Assessment Bonds and Contracts Total
Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal
Year Ending June 30:

2003 $ 105 $ 370 $ 3,133 $ 6,790 $ 3,238 $ 7,160
2004 81 365 3,089 6,986 3,170 7,351
2005 56 365 2,884 6,635 2,940 7,000
2006 32 355 2,715 6,942 2,747 7,297
2007 10 290 2,530 6,253 2,540 6,543
2008 - 2012 - - 9,741 33,700 9,741 33,700
2013 - 2017 } - - 3,680 24,329 3,680 24,329
2018 - 2022 - - 425 7,253 425 7,253
Total $ 284 $ 1,745 $ 28,197 $ 98,888 $ 28,481 $ 100,633

I e——————c——. St—————————— Sttt ittt i ottt s, |ttt ettt

The compensated absences liability attributable to the governmental activities will be liquidated
by primarily the City’s general and highway funds.

Refunded Bonds

The City defeased certain general obligation bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in an
irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds.
Accordingly, the assets of the irrevocable trust and the liability for the defeased bonds are not
included in the City’s basic financial statements. At June 30, 2002, $513 million of bonds
outstanding were considered defeased.
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10.Net Assets

At June 30, 2002, net assets of the primary government consisted of the following (amounts
in thousands):

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt:
Net property, plant and equipment $ 1,570,731 $ 1,647,287
Less:
General obligation bonds payable (1,298,078) (417,095)
Revenue bonds payable : - (454,463)
Notes payable and other fong-term debt (10,223) (90,410)
Tax-exempt commercial paper (11,317) (10,183)
Amount of debt related to unspent debt proceeds 24,343 50,374
275,456 725,510
Restricted for Debt Service 1,347 54,489
Unrestricted 79,576 63,894
Total net assets $ 356,379 $ 843,893

1 1.Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Plan Description — All full-time employees of the City are eligible to participate in
the Employees’ Retirement System of the State of Hawaii (ERS), a cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The ERS was established by Chapter
88 of the Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) and is governed by a Board of Trustees. All
contributions, benefits and eligibility requirements are established by Chapter 88,
HRS, and can be amended by legislative action.

The ERS is composed of a contributory retirement plan and a noncontributory
retirement plan. Prior to June 30, 1984, the plan consisted of only a contributory
option. In 1984, legislation was enacted to create a new noncontributory option for
members of the ERS who are also covered under social security. Persons employed in
positions not covered by social security are precluded from the noncontributory
option. The noncontributory option provides for reduced benefits and covers most
eligible employees hired after June 30, 1984. Employees hired before that date
were allowed to continue under the contributory option or to elect the new
noncontributory option and receive a refund of employee contributions. Both plans
provide death and disability benefits and cost-of-living increases. In the contributory
plan, employees may elect normal retirement at age 55 with 5 or 10 years of
credited service or elect early retirement at any age with 25 years of credited service.
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Such employees are entitled to retirement benefits, payable monthly for life, of 2%
or 2.5% of their average final salary, as defined for each year of credited service with
certain limitations. Benefits fully vest on reaching 5 years of service; retirement
benefits are reduced for early retirement. In the noncontributory plan, employees
may elect normal retirement at age 62 with 10 years of credited service or at age 55
with 30 years of credited service, or elect early retirement at age 55 with 20 years of
credited service. Such employees are entitled to retirement benefits, payable monthly
for life, of 1.25% of their average final salary, as defined, for each year of credited
service. Benefits fully vest on reaching 10 years of service; retirement benefits are
reduced for early retirement.

The ERS issues a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report that may be obtained by
writing to the Employees’ Retirement System of the State of Hawaii, 201 Merchant
Street, Suite 1400, Honolulu, Hawaii 96813.

Funding Policy — All funding requirements are established by Chapter 88, HRS, and
can be amended by the State legislature. Covered contributory plan employees are
required to contribute 7.8% or 12.2% of their salary to the plan; the City is
required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to pay contributory plan
benefits when due. The City is also required to contribute all amounts necessary to
pay noncontributory benefits when due. The City’s contribution requirements are
actuarially determined based on actuarial assumptions established by Chapter 88,
HRS. Act 100 of the 1999 State Legislative Session authorizes the use of actuarial
investment earnings in excess of a ten percent actuarial investment yield rate to
reduce the City’s contribution requirements. The City’s contributions to the ERS,
inclusive of its component unit, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and
2002 were $10.3 million, $1.1 million and $34.4 million, respectively, which were
equal to the required contributions for each year.

Post-Retirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

In addition to providing pension benefits, the State of Hawaii Public Employees Health Fund
provides certain health care (medical, prescription, vision and dental) and life insurance
benefits for retired City employees. Contributions are based on negotiated collective
bargaining agreements and are limited by State statute to the actual cost of benefit coverage.
Prior to July 1, 1996, the City pays for 100% of these benefits for employees who have at
least 10 years of service. According to Act 217, SLH 1995, employees hired after June 30,
1996 with 25 years or more of service receive 100% employer funding. The City’s share of
the cost of these benefits is prorated for employees with less than 25 years of service. The
City also reimburses 100% of Medicare expenses for retirees and qualified dependents
(through the State) who are at least 65 years of age and have at least 10 years of service.
Currently, approximately 9,124 retirees and qualified dependents are receiving post retirement
health care and benefits paid for by the City. The City’s contributions for post retirement
benefits, which are funded as accrued, amounted to $32 million for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2002.
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Early Retirement Incentive

Act 212 of the 1994 regular session of the State legislature authorized an early retirement
incentive to state and county employees with at least 25 years of service as of December 31,
1994. Qualifying employees received two additional years of service credits for purposes of
calculating their retirement benefits. 571 City employees received early retirement benefits,
which cost the City $7.5 million in payouts for accrued vacation during fiscal 1995.

Act 216 of the 2000 State Legislative Session lowered the employer contributions to ERS by
extending the payment schedule for the actuarial present value cost of the early retirement
incentive bonus from 5 to 19 years effective for the year end 1999. The City’s annual
payments amount to $1,070,400 per year. Based on the per-employee analysis of additional
retirement contributions calculated by the ERS, the additional retirement contribution,
including interest, to be paid by the City for the early retirees is $20.3 million. At June 30,
2002, the remaining balance was $9.3 million.

12.Enterprise Funds

The City maintains five enterprise funds: the Housing Development Special Fund, the Sewer
Fund, the Solid Waste Special Fund and the Public Transportation System, which are business-
type activities, and the Board of Water Supply, which is a discretely presented component unit.

Housing Development Special Fund

The Housing Development Special Fund was created to develop affordable housing for sale or
for rental by the City. At June 30, 2002, the City had $123.3 million of general obligation
bonds outstanding, which were used to finance the development of various residential lots and
recreational facilities.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, the City evaluated the recoverability of its
dwelling units and lots and determined that estimated future cash flows were below the
carrying value of the dwelling units and lots. Accordingly, the City adjusted the carrying value
of the dwelling units and lots to their estimated net realizable value by recording a provision for
losses on dwelling units and lots of $2.8 million.

Sewer Fund

The Sewer Fund was created to account for the operations of the City’s wastewater system and
is operated primarily through user charges. The Sewer Fund also accounts for the proceeds of
revenue bonds issued to pay all or part of those appropriations for improvements, repairs, and
maintenance of the wastewater treatment system.

During 2002, the City identified capital assets belonging to the Sewer Fund that were
erroneously recorded in the City’s general fixed assets, certain assets that were required to be
capitalized and certain assets acquired by contribution, which had never been recorded.
Therefore, the Sewer Fund’s prior year’s financial statements have been restated to reflect
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these additional assets, related depreciation expense and contributed capital, which resulted in
an adjustment of approximately $213.7 million to the July 1, 2001 net asset balance.

The City also determined that the inventories of materials and supplies and related expense
were overstated at June 30, 2001 based on a study performed by a third party in 2002. As
a result, the materials and supplies expense and the year-end inventory balances were restated,
resulting in an adjustment of approximately ($7.7 million) to the July 1, 2001 net asset
balance.

The total impact of these changes was an increase of approximately $206 million to the
July 1, 2001 net asset balance previously reported.

Solid Waste Special Fund
The Solid Waste Special Fund accounts for the following activities related to the operations of
the refuse division:

o the City’s refuse collection and disposal operations, which are funded primarily through
general fund subsidies.

o the recycling program revenues assessed as 4% of refuse disposal charges and are expended
for the establishment, operation, management and expansion of the City’s recycling
programs, including programs for waste reduction, development of recycling markets and
recycling awareness.

o the glass incentive program revenues derived for the recycling of glass containers and
paying incentives to glass recyclers.

o operation of the solid waste disposal and energy and materials recovery project (H-POWER
Facility).

H-POWER Facility

The City has agreements with Honolulu Resource Recovery Venture (HRRV) to
operate a solid waste disposal and energy recovery project, the Honolulu Program of
Waste Energy Recovery (the “H-POWER Facility”). The H-POWER Facility processes
and disposes of solid waste and, together with combustion facilities, produces steam
used for the generation of electricity. Revenues are generated from user tip fees and
from the sale of energy products and recovered materials. The operating agreement
with HRRV has a 20-year term, and the H-POWER Facility’s revenues and expenses are
reported in the accompanying financial statements. The operating agreements also
require a supplemental operating fee to be paid by the City equivalent to the ground
lease payments. The H-POWER Facility commenced commercial operations on
May 21, 1990, and the City has a 20-year contract to sell electricity generated to a
utility company.

A-65



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

Notes to the Financial Statements

In November 1989, the City sold the H-POWER Facility for $312.5 million, receiving
an $80 million cash payment and a 20-year note for $232.5 million with interest at
8.04%. On the same date, HRRV entered into a 20-year lease for the H-POWER
Facility with the new owner. Although the City is not a party to this lease agreement,
the operating fee to be paid by the City to HRRV was increased by an amount equal to
the lease payments. Accordingly, the H-POWER Facility has been recorded as an asset
and a liability in the H-POWER Facility enterprise fund at an amount equal to the
present value of this increase in the operating fee for the lease payments.

In November 1989, the City leased the land underlying the H-POWER Facility to the
owner of the H-POWER Facility for 35 years.

The note receivable and the obligation for the increase in the operating fee for the
H-POWER facility lease payments ($126.2 million and $220.5 million at June 30,
2002, respectively) have been offset for financial statement reporting purposes. At
June 30, 2002, future payments are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Operating -
Fee Note
Obligation  Receivable Difference

Year Ending June 30:

2003 $ 30,613 $ 23926 $ 6,687
2004 30,613 23,321 7,292
2005 30,613 22,894 7,719
2006 30,613 24,294 6,319
2007 30,613 21,881 8,732
2008-2010 154,340 55,752 98,588
Subtotal 307,405 172,068 135,337

Less amount representing interest 86,879 45,866 41,013
Total $ 220,526 $ 126,202 $ 94,324

At June 30, 2002, the City had $143.5 million of general obligation bonds
outstanding, which were used to finance the construction of the H-POWER Facility.

Public Transportation System
The Department of Transportation Services oversees the administration and operation of the
Public Transportation System (the City’s bus and paratransit systems or “PTS”) on the island of

The City has an agreement with Oahu Transit Services, Inc. (OTS), which expires on
September 30, 2007, to provide for the management of the City’s bus and paratransit
systems. OTS provides the employees to operate and manage the bus and paratransit systems.
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The City reimburses OTS for operating expenses. In addition, the agreement requires the City
to pay OTS an annual management fee of $365,000 through September 30, 2007.

The agreement provides that the City furnish, but retain title to, the transit buses, paratransit
buses, properties, facilities and equipment used in the systems. Revenues collected by OTS,
excluding management fees, are the property of the City and are remitted to a depository
controlled by the City.

During fiscal 2002, the City and OTS identified certain property and equipment, which should
have been recorded in the PTS financial statements in prior years. Accordingly, the property
and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation amounting to approximately $20 million,
resulted in an adjustment to the July 1, 2001 net asset balance previously reported.

Restricted Assets — OTS established trust funds for the purpose of maintaining adequate
funds for expenses incurred through its workers’ compensation, general, and auto liability self-
insurance programs. At June 30, 2002, the restricted assets held by OTS amounted to
$819,000.

Reserve for Insurance Claims Payable — The City sponsors an automotive and general
liability self-insurance program for OTS. The self-insurance program is for claims up to
$1,000,000. The City also implemented a workers’” compensation self-insurance program,
which covers OTS claims up to $300,000 per occurrence for policy periods through June 30,
1995 and $250,000 per occurrence for policy periods after July 1, 1995. OTS has
obtained excess insurance coverage for general liability, automotive claims and workers’
compensation through various insurance companies for amounts in excess of claims covered
under the two self-insurance programs.
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13.Commitments

Leases

The City leases equipment and office space under capital and operating leases, which expire at
various dates through 2055. At June 30, 2002, the cost of equipment recorded under
capital lease arrangements and included in capital assets amounted to $5.9 million.

Future minimum obligations under capital and operating leases at June 30, 2002 were as
follows (amounts in thousands):

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
Year Ending June 30:
2003 $ 625 § 1,824
2004 625 1,639
2005 104 1,505
2006 - 1,194
2007 - 653
2008 - 2012 - 442
2013 - 2017 - 355
2018 - 2022 - 355
2023 - 2027 - 355
2028 - 2032 - 193
2033 — 2055 ($175 for each five-year increment
except $107 for 2052 - 2055) - 807
Total minimum payments 1,354 §$ 9,322
Less amount representing interest 115
Present value of future minimum
capital lease payments $ 1,239

Certain leases provide for payment of common area charges and for periodic renegotiation of
rents. Rent expense under operating leases, principally recorded in the general fund,
amounted to $4.6 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.
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The City leases to others concession rights and real property under operating leases, which
expire at various dates through 2049. Certain leases provide for periodic renegotiation of
rents. Future minimum rental income under such leases at June 30, 2002 were as follows
(amounts in thousands):

Year Ending June 30:

2003 $ 7,381
2004 7,203
2005 6,845
2006 6,490
2007 6,322
2008 - 2012 19,976
2013 - 2017 10,143
2018 - 2022 8,051
2023 - 2027 6,737
2028 — 2032 6,732
2033 - 2037 6,722
2038 - 2042 6,632
2043 - 2049 2,180

Total minimum rental income $ 101,414

Other Commitments

Business-type activities, which do not employ encumbrance accounting, have contractual
commitments of approximately $333 million at June 30, 2002, primarily for construction
contracts, which includes the Board’s commitments of $144 million. Other contractual
commitments for the expenditure of City monies are encumbered in the governmental funds.

Litigation

OTS and the City are involved in various lawsuits arising from the normal operations of the
City bus and paratransit systems. Claims for punitive damages related to certain lawsuits may
not be covered by insurance.

14.Contingent Liabilities

The City is exposed to various risks of loss due to claims filed against the City for personal
injury, property and other damages. The City’s Corporation Counsel reported that these cases
are set for pretrial conferences, awaiting actions from plaintiffs, being investigated, ready for
trial calendar, or on appeal.

The City is substantially self-insured for workers’ compensation claims, general liability claims
up to $1 million, except for public official’s liability insured up to $100,000, and automobile
claims up to $1 million, with certain exceptions. The City purchases excess liability insurance
through insurance companies for claims in excess of self-insured amounts as well as when
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required by contract or law. Settled claims have not exceeded these coverages in any of the
past three fiscal years.

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred
but not reported. The basis for estimating the liabilities for unpaid claims includes the effects
of specific incremental claim adjustment expenses, salvage, and subrogation, and other
allocated or unallocated claim adjustment expenses. At June 30, 2002, the estimated total
liability of the City for claims and judgments amounted to $56.9 million, which included
claims incurred but not reported by the claimant and settled claims for which funds have not
yet been appropriated. The estimated total liability has been determined through case-by-case
analysis and from actuary studies performed by independent third parties. Expenditures for
claims and judgments are appropriated annually. In the opinion of management, the City has
adequately reserved for such claims.

The City is subject to a number of claims arising from the City’s designation and downzoning of
several parcels of property in East Honolulu to prevent shoreline development. The City
conducted settlement discussions with the landowners, including a settlement proposal in which
the landowners would drop their claims in return for development approvals. However, due to
strong opposition, settlement discussions ceased and the matters have resumed in court. The
City estimates that the possible loss will be approximately $30 to $50 million based on the
value of the property. Should the damages be assessed based on the lost profits had the
plaintiff been able to develop the property, the total liability could exceed $ 100 million.

While the ultimate liability for the matter described in the previous paragraph cannot be
determined, it is the City’s belief that this claim is not likely to have a material adverse effect
on the City’s financial position. Accordingly, no provisions for any liabilities that might result
from the resolution of these claims have been made in the accompanying financial statements.
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The following is a summary of changes in the claims and judgments liability account during the
fiscal year (amounts in thousands):

Automobile
and General Workers’
Liability Compensation Total
Balance at July 1, 2000 $ 22,980 $ 36,478 $ 59,458
Incurred losses and loss '
adjustment expenses 2,396 6,059 8,455
Payments (4,089) (11,356) (15,445)
Balance at June 30, 2001 21,287 31,181 52,468
Incurred losses and loss
adjustment expenses 3,123 18,563 21,686
Payments (4,846) (12,362) (17,208)
Balance at June 30, 2002 $ 19,564 $ 37,382 $ 56,946

The claims and judgment liability will be liquidated from the City’s general fund.

15.Environmental Issues

Solid Waste Landfill Costs

GASB Statement No. 18, “Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and
Postclosure Care Costs,” which is based on the October 9, 1991 United States Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA) rule, “Solid Waste Disposal Facility Criteria,” establishes closure
requirements for all municipal solid waste landfills that receive waste after October 9, 1991.
The EPA rule also establishes thirty-year postclosure care requirements for those landfills that
accept solid waste after October 9, 1993 or for those landfills that stopped accepting solid
waste between October @, 1991 and October 9, 1993 and have not met certain
requirements established by the EPA rule. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 18, the
City estimates in advance the total cost of closure and postclosure care during the life of those
landfills rather than after their closings.

Federal and state laws and regulations require the City to place final covers on certain landfill
sites when they stop accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring
functions at the sites for thirty years after closure. Annual additions to the liability for closure
and postclosure care costs are based on landfill capacity used as of each balance sheet date.
The $12.0 million reported as the liability in the Solid Waste Special Fund for closure and
postclosure care costs at June 30, 2002 represents the cumulative amount reported to date
based on the percentage of the estimated capacity used for the following landfills (amounts in
thousands). Actual costs may differ from estimates if additional postclosure care requirements
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are determined (due to inflation or deflation, changes in technology, or changes in applicable
laws or regulations).

Liability at Total

Capacity June 30, Estimated

Used Closure Date 2002 Cost
Waipahu incinerator landfill 100.0% October 1991 $ 8,277 $ 9,600
Kapaa sanitary landfill 100.0% May 1997 3,750 12,797
Total $ 12,027 § 22,397

For fiscal year 2002, the City has provided the financial resources that will be available to
provide for closure, postclosure care and remediation or containment of environmental hazards
at the above landfills. The EPA has proposed amendments to the existing financial assurance
rules. The proposed amendments added a local government financial test consisting of a
financial component, a public notice component, and a recordkeeping and reporting
component. Local governments are required to satisfy each of the three components to pass
the annual test. Management believes that the City has satisfied each of the components of the
local government financial assurance requirements.

Clean Water Act

In 1991, the EPA filed an administrative action against the City alleging violations of the Clean
Water Act and conditions and limitations of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System Permits by failing to develop and administer pretreatment programs for all of its
treatment plants and for unauthorized discharges from the collection system. As a result of a
settlement reached between the EPA and the City, a consent decree has been filed which
requires certain compliance actions and penalties of $1.2 million, which were paid in fiscal
year 1995. The City has implemented certain compliance actions such as developing
rehabilitation and maintenance of the collection system and implementation of the plans. The
City has committed to spend at least $20 million for effluent reuse.

The City has committed to spend at least $10 million for sludge reuse. Sludge reuse is being
accomplished through the U.S. Navy Biosolids Treatment Facility. The cost to the City is $82
per wet ton of sludge delivered to the facility; currently, the City is delivering an average of
7.2 dry tons (20.1 wet tons) a day. The consent decree cites potential stipulated penalties of
$2,000 per day per violation for failure to comply.

The State and certain environmental groups (nonprofit organizations) also filed actions against
the City for declaratory judgment, injunctive relief and civil penalties for violations of the Clean
Water Act for the following wastewater treatment plants.

Kailua and Kaneohe — As a result of a settlement reached between the parties, a

consent decree has been filed for the Kailua and Kaneohe plants, which requires certain
compliance actions such as developing a facilities plan, constructing a feasible ultraviolet
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disinfection facility and establishing and supporting an advisory council. The conceptual
facilities plan and the environmental impact statement preparation notice were
completed in September 1998. The design phase of the ultraviolet disinfection project
was completed in October 1998. Responses to public comments were completed in
June 1999. The City contracted a construction company to complete the construction
phase for approximately $2.3 million, which was completed in November 2000.
Approximately $4.3 million and $2.3 million has been paid as of June 30, 2002 and
2001, respectively, related to these compliance actions. The Kailua Bay Advisory
Council was established in October 1995. The City established a $2.1 million trust
fund; hired a program administrator and a third party to provide watershed mapping
services; awarded grant projects to four community groups; developed short-term
implementation plans for erosion control initiatives, stream bank restoration and refuse
control; and developed a web site for the Kailua Bay Advisory Council to disseminate
information to the public.

The consent decree cites total costs of at least $7.4 million for capital improvements,
consulting and other fees. The consent decree cites stipulated penalties of $500 per
day per violation for failure to meet the specified obligations and deadlines. The City
has not been assessed any penalties, as the specified obligations and deadlines continue
to be met. The Kaneohe treatment facility has been converted into a temporary
treatment facility.

Wahiawa — A civil action was filed by the State for operating the Wahiawa plant
without a permit. Settlement with the State was reached and a consent decree was
approved on February 27, 1998. The consent decree requires the City to upgrade the
existing treatment plant to produce water suitable for reuse and adjust the outfall. The
consent decree stipulates damages of $600,000 plus $1,000 — $5,000 per day if the
upgrades are not completed by specified deadlines. In June 2001, the City completed
construction of the reclamation system, which amounted to approximately $12 million.
As required by the consent decree, the City also disbursed $150,000 to various
agencies for supplemental environmental projects. A motion to terminate the consent
decree has not been filed by the State or City.

Sand Island — The Sand Island wastewater treatment plant operates under a 301(h)
waiver permit issued by the EPA. The current permit was effective November 1998. That
permit included, amongst other things, a specific timetable for various construction projects
related to the Sand Island plant. In October 1999, the EPA issued a finding of violation
and order for compliance that required corrective measures and compliance with the
November 1998 permit. Although the City responded to that order, some of the
construction projects are behind the permit schedule due to unanticipated construction
difficulties. For example, an Ultraviolet Disinfection facility was to be constructed by
July 1, 2002. That facility is still under construction and is not currently estimated to be
completed until December 31, 2003. In October 2002, the EPA identified that the Sand
Island plant violated certain discharge limits and ordered the City to stop discharge
violations at the Sand Island plant and to submit a plan by December 1, 2002, to bring the
facility into continuous compliance with its EPA permit. The City submitted the required
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plan and compliance schedule on November 29, 2002. The EPA has reviewed the plan
and is currently discussing it with the City. Failure to comply with the EPA orders could
result in fines up to $27,500 per day and a revocation or non-renewal of the 301(h)
waiver permit. Revocation or non-renewal of the 301(h) waiver permit would require the
City to upgrade the Sand Island plant to a secondary facility at a construction cost of
hundreds of million of dollars.

Kahuku — The State issued a notice of apparent violation resulting from discharge of
chlorinated secondary filtered effluent from an effluent pipe break at the Kahuku
Wastewater Treatment Plant onto private property. The City has not been assessed any
penalties, however, $750,000 in costs were incurred to construct a new line.

In the opinion of management, the final outcome of the order and complaints as described
above are unknown at this time but should not have a material adverse effect on the City’s
financial statements.

16.Component Unit Disclosure

Board of Water Supply
The Board is a semi-autonomous agency of the City which has full and complete authority to
manage, control and operate the City’s water system and related properties.

Other Legal Matters — The Board is party to various legal proceedings arising in the normal
course of business. The outcome of individual matters is not predictable. However,
management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters, after considering
insurance coverages, will not have a material adverse effect on the Board’s financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.

Major Transactions with the City —

Billing and Collection Services — The Board has an agreement with the Department
of Environmental Services, City and County of Honolulu to provide certain services
through June 30, 2004, relating to the billing and collection of sewer service charges.
Fees related to these services were negotiated at approximately $100,000 per year
through fiscal 2003. The fees for fiscal 2004 are subject to renegotiation. The
revenues related to these fees are included in other operating revenues and the
corresponding expense in the Sewer Fund.

Central Administrative Services Expense (CASE) Fee — During fiscal year 2000,
the Board entered into an agreement with the City to pay a Central Administrative
Services Expense (CASE) fee for treasury, personnel, purchasing and other services that
the City provides to the Board on an on-going basis. For fiscal year 2001, the CASE
fee was calculated as 4% of the Board’s total operating budget less budgeted transfers
to the capital improvement, renewal replacement, and other Board funds. The Board’s
Charter allows for a CASE fee to the extent that it represent a reasonable charge for
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services necessary for the Board to perform its duties. Although CASE fees for fiscal
year subsequent to 2001 are currently being negotiated between the Board and the
City, the Board accrued their best estimate of approximately $3.3 million for fiscal year
2002.

Honouliuli Reclamation Facility — In July 2000, the Board entered into a Water
Reclamation Facility Sale Agreement and Assignment of Water Reclamation Facility
Agreement (the Sale Agreement) with a third-party contractor and the City for the
purchase of a water reclamation plant. The total cost of the acquisition is estimated at
$51.6 million, including the initial purchase price of $48.1 million for the plant and
$3.5 million for certain components of the distribution system. Of the initial purchase
price, $44 million was paid as of June 30, 2002 and the remaining balance of
$4.1 million is to be paid when the facility meets certain performance standards
specified in the Sale Agreement and is included in contracts payable from restricted
assets at June 30, 2002.

In conjunction with the acquisition, the Board also executed a 20-year service contract
with the same third-party contractor to provide design, engineering, operations and
maintenance services for the facility. The Board provided for separate financing of the
acquisition through a bond offering in fiscal 2002.

During fiscal 2002, the Board had determined that the customer advance liability was
overstated as the liability was not properly reduced and recognized as contributions in aid of
construction revenue when the related water service was made available to the customer.
Accordingly, proper adjustments were made to correct the customer advance liability and
contributions in aid of construction revenue, which resulted in an adjustment of approximately
$39.6 million to the July 1, 2001 net asset balance as follows (amounts in thousands):

Net assets, as previously reported $ 208,004
Adjustment 39,630
Net assets, as restated $ 947,634
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BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES

For a brief explanation of the General Fund and Highway Fund, please refer to the divider page for
the Governmental Fund Financial Statements preceding page 35.
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CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

GENERAL FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

(Amounts in thousands)

Revenues:
TAXES teerueeerenreeeeneriernnrerersssssssraneseresserenssesnsensannn
Licenses and PErmits .......evvereerueeeerinrereueeeeneseensnnes
INtergovernmental .......cevuevevereiecireneniensesrenseeeenanes
Charges fOr SEIVICES ...cuvvuerrrerinreernreerennierenncreennnces
Fines and fOrfeits ...ouumvviermeiiiieeiiinicoierrenesereeerennss
Miscellaneous:
Reimbursements and reCoveries .......ccceevrmvnevreenneneee
INEETESE «uverrrnernreerenerereeresiseraseresesenesassssonneennnee

Expenditures:
Current:
General government:
Budget and Fiscal Services ....cccovevrevecievenrierennnnenes
(@113 2 11 TR
161528 €011 1o | [T
Corporation COUNSel ........coeevvereeemmeneerenrereennsnnene
CUSLOMET SEIVICES vuvvrrenerrerereniievrereeeeenreancsenneen
Design and Construction ......veeeerveereeeeneerrvnnesneenee

(Page 1 of 2)

Facility Maintenance

.........................................

Human Resources

.............................................

Information Technology

....................................

3¢ 37 o ST
Planning and Permitting .......ccoeeieveniirmneienireennnens
Prosecuting AttOIMEY .....ceevevrrenerirreneererenerernnnes

Total General government .........ccceeevvvrnnennenan.

Public safety:
Emergency Services .....ccovevermruerereeereveenieneennnns
FIrE it s e eer e
|3 ) TSN
Medical Examiner .....c..cceeeveniiiieriiiiennnnneeenennnnnn.
Planning and Permitting .......c.ucveveeeiereveniereernnnnnns
POLICE .eeiiiiiiirercce e ceectteitccee s eeeee s e e e e

Total Public safety ...oovvvvvvevvereiciiereecreeeneeerens

Highways and streets:
Facility Maintenance .......cccovceeveeiniveniirereenneseenns

Sanitation:
Environmental SErvices .....c.vcivveerenieenoreversrnnnnens

Health and human resources:
COMMUNILY SEIVICES ..evvvuerrrernrererinsirerrensereeesnnnns
EMErgency SEIVICES ...cuueeerererrennirnrneeresseenseeenneees

Total Health and human resources ........cceereuen..

Actual on Final Variance
Original Final Budgetary Favorable
Budget Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
$ 394,234 $ 394,234 $ 407,270 $ 13,036
25,873 25,873 25,897 24
39,117 39,117 32,063 (7,054)
3,865 3,865 3,912 47
125 125 249 124
79,874 79,874 76,706 (3,168)
10,002 10,002 7,519 (2,483)
13,258 13,258 21,023 7,765
566,348 566,348 574,639 8,291
12,172 12,464 11,940 524
2,358 2,433 2,341 92
4,587 4,627 4,445 182
7,917 7,917 9,073 (1,156)
18,428 18,671 17,351 1,320
14,340 13,715 12,729 986
10,307 10,159 9,787 372
4,395 4,555 4,451 104
9,843 9,347 8,099 1,248
6,232 6,190 5,609 581
7,086 7,101 6,345 756
12,239 12,309 12,159 150
109,904 109,488 104,329 5,159
4,936 5,425 5,339 86
57,596 59,156 58,928 228
563 605 574 31
973 973 972 1
4,061 4,046 3,965 81
142,650 142,650 136,009 6,641
210,779 212,855 205,787 7,068
6,328 6,328 5,856 472
47 47 28 19
2,231 2,231 1,995 236
15,082 15,082 13,727 1,355
17,313 17,313 15,722 1,591




CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

GENERAL FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
(Amounts in thousands)

(Page 2 of 2)
Actual on Final Variance

Original Final Budgetary Favorable
Budget Budget Basis (Unfavorable)

Culture-recreation:

ENterprise SErviCes .oovvuvverrvineeereneeevirenneesrennsesnene 69 69 69 -
|3 F:) o) RN 1,563 1,563 1,541 22
Parks and RecCreation .....cceeevevveeenireeennieeenneinnnnnens 43,835 43,835 42,275 1,560
Total Culture-recreation .......ceeeeeeereeereenneenaenes 45,467 45,467 43,885 1,582
Miiscellaneous:
Retirement and health benefits:
Budget and Fiscal Services ......ccoeeverevnerenivnnrennss 120 120 68 52
(613 A €s111; o | [T UOR 1,418 1,418 1,387 31
Provisional .......ccvvveerermvreerenenrerniineessecesnseenns 80,326 81,383 80,192 1,191
Total Retirement and health benefits ................ 81,864 82,921 81,647 1,274
Other:
Budget and Fiscal Services ......ccccoeeevrirvnnnnareenennee 6,267 6,267 6,118 149
(61 A 0s 1111 o | O 210 82 12 70
Provisional .c...ceeevieeeicinviiiiniriirieeirecenecennecnanes 22,743 18,848 13,918 4,930
Total Other ..ccvvveeiirieie v s ceens 29,220 25,197 20,048 5,149
Total Miscellaneous .....ccveevernserereenrrernnieennnenes 111,084 108,118 101,695 6,423
Debt Service:

Budget and Fiscal Services ........cevuervvemnirrerenerrenennns 359 359 359 -
City COUNCI .rvrierreiireiesitceetr e caeceernccaeriernnens - 12 12 =
(O 170)11 13 Y] o (ol SR - 25 25 -
Design and Construction ..........eeeeeveeeereeneeernenernnenes - 625 625 -
Information Technology ..c.cvvveveeveeenecieirencreeneeenn. - 496 496 --

Total Debt Service ...cuvuevereencreerennerereeeirrnnerenns 359 1,517 1,517 -

Total EXpenditires ......cveveverrniireniiennennnennneen. 501,281 501,133 478,819 22,314
Revenues over EXpenditures .......ccuveermnerenniineerenenes 65,067 65,215 95,820 30,605

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Sales of general fixed asS€tS ...ccceervvrmmrerirerrernirnrennes 200 200 187 (13)
Operating transfers in ......eeeeecevneneeeeceersnnessseeeneeens 85,590 85,590 82,919 (2,671)
Operating transfers OUL .......evvvereevsenrirereeereensenceeeens (197,896) (198,044) (185,348) 12,696
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) .....cc.vuuuuee. (112,106) (112,254) (102,242) 10,012

Net change in Fund Balance ........cccevemvvivnnnianns (47,039) (47,039) (6,422) 40,617
Encumbrances ....c..oceevveiiiciiininmneerneeeennesesnnnnnaneneens - - 19,236 19,236
Fund Balance - JUIY 1 ....eiiecccccccccccrerrecccceeeees 47,121 47,121 41,536 (5,585)
Fund Balance - June 30 .....ccoocvimmrimrrrrrceciunreneneneennnn. $ 82 $ 82 $ 54,350 $ 54,268

Budgetary basis includes encumbrances.
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Revenues:

Licenses and permits .................

CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

HIGHWAY FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

(Amounts in thousands)

............................

Charges for SErVICES ..uuuiieerireruerirearrerneererneiaernneaens
Fines and forfeits .....ccvrvrreviiieieiiiiiicneirrrecrncenreneees

Miscellaneous:
Reimbursements and recoveries
INLEIESE cvvvvnerreerrneereenerireennnns

Expenditures:
Current:
General government:

.............................

............................

............................

............................

Design and Construction ........eceeveeverennernnreneenens
Facility Maintenance ......ccveveevevinivinirmncrnereceeennes
Planning and Permitting .......ccceevvveerniireeneniennenne

Total General gOVErNMeNt ........cccevrrenvrerneennnne

Public safety:
Police covnrieinniniiiiiiiins

.............................

Transportation SEIVICeS ....cvuvvirereiereinnrrnrenssencensas

Total PUDIIC Safety .euverevrmnienienieresrneeesseerennns

Highways and streets:

Facility Maintenance ......ccvvevevereirneerenceeneeninennns

Sanitation:
Environmental Services .........

Utilities or other enterprises:

.............................

Transportation SEIrVICES .....ccevrvurereerreieeeriensennnens

Miscellaneous:

Retirement and health benefits:
Provisional .....coveeeeveniiiiiiirenirnnrceee i rensens

Other:

Provisional ......c.ceuvveecciiniireninrnnnrenrerseeneresssens

(Page 1 of 2)

Actual on Final Variance
Original Final Budgetary Favorable

Budget Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
67,600 67,600 70,476 $ 2,876
26,508 26,508 27,800 1,292
3,927 3,927 4,123 196

12 12 2 (10)

318 318 144 (174)
1,413 1,413 4,358 2,945
99,778 99,778 106,903 7,125
3,350 3,350 3,193 157
6,499 6,999 6,953 46
1,328 1,328 1,247 81
11,177 11,677 11,393 284
16,804 16,804 16,643 161
4,078 4,061 3,870 191
20,882 20,865 20,513 352
13,112 12,612 9,677 2,935
871 871 641 230
1,762 1,779 1,472 307
9,668 9,668 9,100 568
2,813 2,813 1,300 1,513
12,481 12,481 10,400 2,081
60,285 60,285 54,096 6,189
39,493 39,493 52,807 13,314

A-81



CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

HIGHWAY FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
(Amounts in thousands)

(Page 2 of 2)
Actual on Final Variance
Original Final Budgetary Favorable
Budget Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
Other Financing Source (Use):
Sales of general fixed assets ......cceveueeruirenrrnrrvnceennnns 319 319 345 26
Operating transfers OUL c.uvevcievvereevrereenrnnerneeneensennens (47,934) (47,934) (45,303) 2,631
Total Other Financing Source (Use) ...cuevvenrnennres (47,615) (47,615) (44,958) 2,657
Net change in Fund Balance ......cccovvennivnnnneee. (8,122) (8,122) 7,849 15,971
ENCUMDIances .......cccecvirrmnerennereruireicnrerenssennnesansnnns - - 1,533 1,533
Fund Balance - July T coerrniirniiircciecr e eeiienenas 8,122 8,122 17,702 9,580
Fund Balance - June 30 ..uvvevreeeieeeiceiiiineeceecesnnenens $ - $ - $ 27,084 $ 27,084

Budgetary basis includes encumbrances.
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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APPENDIX B
ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS
Introduction

The economy of the City and County of Honolulu is somewhat diversified. Employment is provided by
tourism, federal government and military, State and county governments, manufacturing, construction, education,
research and science, together with the related activities of trade and services, finance, transportation and
communications. A brief description of each of these segments of the economy follows. The economic and
demographic statistics are the most recent available from sources used by the City and County.

Oahu is situated between 21 degrees and 22 degrees north latitude, just below the Tropic of Cancer. The
climate has an average mean winter temperature of 70.2 degrees and an average mean summer temperature of 78.6
degrees. Oahu has neither the cold of the temperate zones nor the heat and humidity of the tropics. Two modest
mountain ranges, the Koolau and the Waianae, intercept the dominant northeast tradewinds. Average rainfall varies
widely from one area of Oahu to another. Rainfall is comparatively light in the leeward coastal area where the
larger part of the population is located. Waikiki, located on the leeward side of Oahu, has a dry climate with annual
precipitation averaging about 27 inches; precipitation in the upper reaches of the Koolau mountains averages about
400 inches a year and provides an adequate supply of water for irrigation use and retention in large subterranean
reservoirs for household and industrial uses.

The population of the City and County, based on U.S. Census data, was 353,020 in 1950, 500,409 in 1960,
630,528 in 1970, 762,565 in 1980, 836,231 in 1990 and 876,156 in 2000. The population of the City and County
represents approximately 72% of the population of the State of Hawaii.

The per capita income for the City and County for 2001 was $31,115. Gross State Product increased by
$2.1 hillion from $44.0 billion in 2001 to $46.1 billion in 2002.

Land Use

State law establishes four major land use categories in which all lands in the State are to be placed: urban,
rural, agricultural, and conservation. The Hawaii State Land Use Commission is vested with authority for grouping
contiguous land areas in all of the counties into one of these four major categories. For the City and County of
Honolulu, the permitted major uses are: (1) urban, (2) agricultural and (3) conservation. Conservation lands include
mountainous regions unsuitable for urban or agricultural development, lands of a historic or scenic nature and lands
having recreational uses. As of December 2001, of the total 386,188 acres on Oahu, 99,686 acres, or 25.8%, were
classified urban, 156,618 acres, or 40.6%, were classified conservation, and 129,884 acres, or 33.6%, were classified
agricultural.

Visitor Industry

The visitor industry encompasses an array of businesses including hotels, restaurants, airlines, travel
agencies, taxis, tour-bus operators, gift shops and other service and recreational industries.

Approximately 6.4 million visitors came to the State of Hawaii in 2002, representing an increase of 0.9%
over 2001. The domestic arrivals of 4.44 million visitors represented an increase of 2.7% over 2001. The
international arrivals of 2.0 million visitors decreased by 2.9% in 2001. The preliminary average daily visitor
census figure for 2003 as of April 2003 was 168,205, or an increase of 3.1% compared to 155,753 for the same
period in 2003. Oahu has 36,457 hotel rooms, or 51.5% of the total hotel rooms in the State. Hotel occupancy rates
on Oahu averaged 70.3% in 2002. More detailed statistics on the visitor industry are as follows:
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Tablel

SELECTED STATE OF HAWAII AND OAHU VISITOR STATISTICS

1998 — 2002

1998 1999®) 2000 2001 2002
Overnight and longer visitors (thousands)............ccoveeene. 6,738 6,741 6,949 6,304 6,360
Domestic (thousands)* ........coerrerererenesenesesseeessesesseseeens 4,245 4,256 4,447 4,224 4,340
International (thousands)* 2,493 2,485 2,502 2,080 2,020
Domestic average daily visitor census (thousands)* ....... 119.7 118.0 1234 118.1 124.1
Domestic average length of stay (number of days)* ....... 10.3 10.1 10.2 10.2 104

International average daily visitor census (in
thOUSANAS)™ ... 40.2 46.4 452 40.1 38.7
International average length of stay (number of days)* .. 5.9 6.8 6.6 7.0 7.0
Hotel inVentory-State........cccevveeecnvencsesesee e 71,480 71,157 71,506 72,204 70,783
Hotel inventory — Oahu 36,206 35,861 36,303 36,824 36,457
Occupancy-State (percent).......c.coceeeene. 720 73.1 77.2 69.2 69.3
Occupancy — Oahu (percent)................ 738 731 79.0 68.6 70.3
Oahu Average Daily Room Rate $123 $119 $121 $116 $111

Source: State of Hawaii Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism.

* 1n 1998, the Hawaii Visitors and Convention Bureau(now known as the Hawaii Tourism Authority) began
reporting visitors as domestic and international instead of eastbound and westbound. For purposes of
simplicity ,for 1998, “ westbound” visitorsare reported as“ domestic” and “ eastbound” visitors as
“international.”

P Revised.

® Preliminary.

More than $1 billion in public and private investment has gone into wider roads, lush landscaping, sandy
beaches and the first major hotel and commercial construction in Waikiki since Hawaii’s recession set in 10 years
ago. The City and County of Honolulu's recently finished project along Kalakaua Avenue — featuring wider
sidewalks, new sand, a waterfall, and extensive landscaping — is the most visible of recent work. The city aso
contributed a $3 million bandstand and put $11.5 million into a new facade for the crumbling Waikiki Natatorium.

Other work to be done includes $5 million pedestrian bridge over Kalakaua Avenue and $12.6 million in
dredging and other work on the AlaWai Canal, both state projects.

Outrigger Enterprises Inc. is continuing with its $300 million redevelopment plan for Waikiki. This project
will be will be one of the biggest in the area’ s history, razing some of the most dated shops and hotels and creating a
retail and entertainment complex, higher grade rooms and lavish open space in the center of Waikiki. The first
phase, to begin later in 2003, will concentrate on retail, and by the end of the project Outrigger will nearly double its
Waikiki shop space to 75,000 square feet. The second phase, expected to break ground in 2005, will see the
construction of a new 27-story, 890-room hotel where three small hotels stand. The project, called Waikiki Beach
Walk, may be the largest single redevelopment effort ever to take place in Waikiki.

The interisland cruise ship business continues to grow. Since 2002, Norwegian Cruise Lines has operated
cruises, which have included a required stopover in the nation of Kiribati to comply with federal restrictions on
foreign flagged vessels. Norwegian recently gained U.S. Congressional approval to reflag one of its cruise ships as
a U.S. vessel to avoid such restrictions. Norwegian hes also purchased one of two vessels from the bankrupt
American Hawaii Cruises, which will also operate as a U.S. flagged ship beginning in July 2004. The State’s
Harbors Division is considering the expansion of certain terminal facilities statewide to accommodate the increased
activity.

B-2



Employment

At the end of 2002, employment was estimated to be 396,050 and the unemployment rate was estimated to
be 3.9%. The following table sets forth certain employment statistics for the most recent five years for which data
areavailable.

Tablell
EMPLOYMENT STATISTICS--CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU

1998 — 2002
1998 1999W 2000 2001 2002?
Civilian Labor FOrce........oooowmreereeneen. 427,650 423150 423,700 429,250 412,100
EMployment........c..ceereeveeereeereeerneen. 404,700 402,250 407,800 411,750 396,050
Unemployment .........c.coevereereenennns 22,950 20,900 15,900 17,500 16,000
Unemployment Rate............ccccoueeee. 5.4% 4.9% 3.8% 4.1% 3.9%
Total Job Count® ......ooeeeeeerererean, 420,850 403,650 414,250 414,750 413,800

Source: Sate of Hawaii Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism.

W Revised.
@ preliminary
®  Refersto number of jobs rather than number of persons employed..

Federal Government and Military

Total expenditures by the federal government in the State of Hawaii amounted to $9.7 billion during Fiscal
Year 2001, representing a 7.8% increase over the preceding year. Of the total, $3.7 billion was expended by the
Department of Defense. The remaining $6.0 billion was expended for nondefense activities in the State, principally
for health, education, welfare and transportation. Federal government outlays for both defense and nondefense
activities are among the largest expendituresin the State of Hawaii.

The large military establishment maintained in Hawaii is almost entirely on the Island of Oahu. Members
of the armed services, as of September 30, 2002, totaled 34,608, an increase of 5.8% since 1999. Civilian
dependents of these military personnel numbered 47,002. In addition to uniformed personnel and their dependents,
the military agencies in Hawaii provided employment for some 15,500 civilians in 2002. Pearl Harbor, located on
the island of Oahu, is home of the Commander-in-Chief of the United States Pacific Fleet and headquarters of the
Third Fleet. The command stretches from the West Coast of the Americas to the Indian Ocean and from the North
Pole to the South Pole.

The U.S. military has announced plans and begun the process of privatizing the military housing stock on
Oahu. The plans, at various stages by each branch of service, callsfor $2.2 hillion to be spent over the next 10 years
for the renovation and new construction of over 16,000 homes.

Total federal civilian employment, including both defense and nondefense agencies (Postal Service,
Internal Revenue Service, the Social Security Administration, etc.), in Hawaii in 2002 was approximately 31,000.

Other recent and current federal construction includes a $100 million 670-bed federal pretrial detention
facility near the Honolulu International Airport, command center headquarters for the Pacific Command Air Force,
construction d six buildings and a 4-lane connector road for the Kolekole Barracks renewal, and a new
administration building, education facility, mess hall, auditorium billets, formation plaza, parade ground and track
for the Regional Training Institute.
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State and County Governments

With Honolulu as the State capital, most State government activity is concentrated on the Island of Oahu.
In 2001, the State government generated 67,300 jobs, of which approximately 76.4% were located on Oahu. The
largest number of employees work in the public education and university system.

The City and County of Honolulu government generated 11,650 jobs in 2002, with the police and public
works departments having the most employees.

Construction

Construction activity statewide amounted to $4.3 billion in 2002, with the bulk of the activity generated on
Oahu. For 2002, the construction industry generated 25,700 jobs, or 4.6% of the total non-agricultural job count of
the State. Construction contracting receipts, as summarized by the State of Hawaii Department of Taxation (in its
General Excise and Use Tax Base), decreased 5.7% in 1995, increased 4.8% in 1996, decreased 10.4% in 1997,
increased 2.4% in 1998, and decreased .8% in 1999, and increased 20.8%, 4.2%, 13.5% in 2000, 2001 and 2002,
respectively. The value of building permits, a measure of future construction, increased a substantial 28.3% in 2002.
During Fiscal Year 2002, the City and County expended $257.9 million on various public improvement projects, an
increase of $54.2 million from the previous fiscal year. See also “Visitor Industry” above for a description of certain
construction projects related to the visitor industry. Table Il shows the estimated value of construction
authorizations for private buildings for the State of Hawaii as a whole and for the City and County of Honolulu for
the last ten years for which such information is available.
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Tablelll

ESTIMATED VALUE OF PRIVATE BUILDING
CONSTRUCTION AUTHORIZATIONS
1993 — 2002
(in thousands of dollars and per centage change from the previous year)

% Change % Change

from Prior City & County  from Prior
Y ear State Y ear of Honolulu Y ear
1993 1,496,485 -14.6% 959,041 -9.6%
1994 1,612,899 7.8% 1,073,264 11.9%
1995 1,531,317 -5.1% 980,703 -8.6%
1996 1,117,760 -27.0% 698,697 -28.8%
1997 1,179,182 5.5% 772,825 10.6%
1998 1,054,281 -10.6% 624,226 -19.2%
1999 1,320,218 25.2% 706,358 13.2%
2000 1,513,073 14.6% 694,223 -1.7%
2001 1,585,739 4.8% 682,660 -1.7%
2002 1,772,027 11.7% 876,049 28.3%

Source: Sate of Hawaii Department of Business, Economic Development and Tourism (Compiled monthly from
county building departments.).

Diversified Manufacturing and Agriculture

Manufacturing, other than sugar milling and pineapple canning, consists principally of manufacturing
cement (one plant), refining oil (two refineries), and converting oil into synthetic natural gas (one plant). Other
activities include the manufacturing of garments, plastic and concrete pipe, jewelry and gift items, and the
processing and packaging of tropical fruits, nuts and other food items. Manufacturing is a relatively small sector in
the State’ s and the City and County’ s economy.

Education, Research and Science

The main campus of the University of Hawaii is located on Oahu, as are four @mmunity colleges, three
private universities, and one private college. The federally funded East-West Center is adjacent to the Manoa
Campus of the University of Hawaii. Research and development activity in Honolulu is expanding, particularly in
the fields of oceanography, geophysics and biomedicine. The University of Hawaii has 14 research units which are
funded by the State of Hawaii, the six largest of which are the Hawaii Institute of Tropical Agriculture and Human
Resources, the Institute for Astronomy, the Hawaii Institute of Geophysics, the Pacific Biomedical Research Center,
the Curriculum Research and Development Group, and the Cancer Research Center of Hawaii. In addition, the
University of Hawaii broke ground for a $150 million new medical school in October 2002 in the Kakaako District
of Honolulu. The first building which includes classrooms is expected to be completed in Fall 2004 with the second
building, the Biomedical Research Building, to be completed in Fall 2005. Federal government research agenciesin
Honolulu include the U.S. Bureau of Commercial Fisheries and the Environmental Science Services Administration.
Among private research organizations on Oahu are the Oceanic Institute and the Bishop Museum. The three high
technology centers located on Oahu are the Mililani Technology Park, the Kaimuki Technology Enterprise and the
Manoa Innovation Center.

Trade and Services

The economy of both the City and County and the State as a whole is heavily trade and service-oriented,
largely because of the heavy volume of purchases by visitors to the State, including approximately 6.4 million who
arrived in 2002. Another reason for the high volume of trade and service activity is the above-average per capita
personal income of the resident population, which ranks among the highest in the country. Total retail trade in
Hawaii was approximately $17.9 billion in 2002, a 0.3% increase over the previous year. Wholesale trade activity
amounted to $9.3 billion in 2002, an increase of 1.3% from the previous year. Of the State’s non-agricultural job
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count of 555,400, the retail sector generated 64,050 jobs (a 3.1% decrease) and the wholesale sector generated
16,250 jobs (a1.2% decrease). Services accounted for $7.4 billion in activity.

Finance

Honolulu has a full range of financial services, including banks, savings and loan associations and
industrial loan companies. Branch banking is permitted in Hawaii. As of December 31, 2001, total assets of all
State of Hawaii chartered financial institutions, including banks, trust companies and savings and loan associations,
were reported at $23.6 billion. The four state chartered banks (196 branches) in Hawaii had combined assets of
some $22.6 billion. In addition, there is one state chartered savings and loan association, with 17 branches and
assets totaling $553.7 million, and three state chartered financial services companies that issue investment
certificates, with assets of $488.2 million.

Transportation

A comprehensive network of roads, highways, and freeways connect all parts of Honolulu; and all the of
the populated areas of the island are also served by a bus transit system, named the “Best Bus System in America’
by a national transit publication. The City and County has proposed a new transit plan that includes a network of
dedicated bus and high occupancy vehicle lanes and transit amenities. A new fleet of electric bus rapid transit
vehicles will be used in the core of the city, and express buses operating on contra flow lanes and dedicated ramps
on freeways will serve the suburbs. The proposal was approved in concept by the City Council in December, 2000,
and is currently undergoing environmental review, which is expected to be completed by the end of 2001. The
estimated capital cost of the system through 2010 is $882 million, with approximately 63% to be derived from
federal funds, 4.6% from State funds, and 32.4% from City and County funds.

Honolulu is the hub of air and sea transportation for the entire Pacific. Honolulu International Airport is
located approximately five miles by highway from the center of the downtown area of Honolulu. It has four
runways, of which two, at 12,001 feet and 12,357 feet, respectively, are among the nation’s longest. According to
the publication of the Airports Council International, Honolulu International Airport is one of the busiest air
terminals in the world, ranking 42nd in the world and 23rd in the United States in total passengers serviced in 2002.
Honolulu International Airport is the fifth busiest airport in the Pacific Rim, after Los Angeles International Airport,
Tokyo International Airport (Haneda), San Francisco International Airport and New Tokyo International Airport
(Narita). Approximately 60 aircraft can be handled at one time at the terminal complex, including 36 wide-bodied
aircraft.

Since January 2002, a number of major airlines have announced the addition of new routes to Hawaii.
Delta began nonstop service to Honolulu from its Salt Lake hub in 2002, and it has announced new nonstop service
to Honolulu from its Atlanta and Cincinnati hubs to begin in August and November 2003, respectively. Continental
added a second daily nonstop flight to Honolulu from Houston. United added a nonstop flight to Honolulu from its
Denver hub in 2002, and it upgraded the service to daily in 2003. Hawaiian Airlines added new nonstop flights to
Honolulu from Phoenix, Sacramento, Ontario and San Diego during this period, and Aloha added new nonstop
service to Honolulu from Vancouver and Burbank. While domrestic airline service to Hawaii increased overall
during the period, international service from Asia declined. Additionally, interisland flights have been reduced due
to thefinancial difficulties of Aloha Airlines and Hawaiian Airlines.

Honolulu Harbor & the hub of the State’s Statewide System of Harbors, where it serves as a major
distribution point of overseas cargo to the neighbor islands and a primary consolidation center for export of overseas
cargo. Overseas and interisland cargo tonnage handled through the Honolulu Harbor was 8.2 million short tons in
fiscal year 2000, 8.4 million short tons in fiscal year 2001, and 8.2 million short tons in fiscal year 2002. The
harbors are continuously maintained through the issuance of appropriate special maintenance contracts to ensure the
availability of safe and effective harbor facilities.
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APPENDIX C

PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL

[Closing Date]

City and County of Honolulu
Honolulu, Hawaii

Re: City and County of Honolulu
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A
(Final Opinion)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City and County of Honolulu (the
“City") of $250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of City and County of Honolulu, General Obligation Bonds,
Series 2003A (the “Bonds’), pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 47, Hawaii Revised Statutes (the “Act”), a
Certificate of the Director of Budget and Fiscal Services of the City dated , 2003 (the “Certificate”), and
various bond authorizing ordinances adopted by the City Council and identified in the Certificate (the “Bond
Ordinances’).

In such connection, we have reviewed the Bond Ordinances, the Certificate, the Tax Certificate of the City,
dated the date hereof (the “Tax Certificate”), an opinion of the Corporation Counsel of the City, certificates of the
City and others, and such other documents, opinions and matters to the extent we deemed necessary to render the
opinions set forth herein.

The interest rate on the Bonds and certain agreements, requirements and procedures contained or referred
to in the Bond Ordinances, the Certificate, the Tax Certificate and other relevant documents may be changed and
certain actions may be taken or omitted under the circumstances and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
such documents (including, without limitation, refunding of the Bonds). No opinion is expressed herein as to any
Bond or the interest thereon if any such change occurs or action is taken or omitted upon the advice or approval of
counsel other than ourselves.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court
decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. Such opinions may be affected by
actions taken or omitted or events occurring after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to
inform any person, whether any such actions are taken or omitted or events do occur or any other matters come to
our attention after the date hereof. Our engagement with respect to the Bonds has concluded with their issuance, and
we disclaim any obligation to update this letter. We have assumed the genuineness of all documents and signatures
presented to us (whether as originals or as copies) and the due and legal execution and delivery thereof by, and
validity against, any parties other than the City. We have assumed, without undertaking to verify, the accuracy of
the factual matters represented, warranted or certified in the documents, and of the legal conclusions contained in the
opinions, referred to in the second paragraph hereof. Furthermore, we have assumed compliance with all covenants
and agreements contained in the Bond Ordinances, the Certificate and the Tax Certificate, including (without
limitation) covenants and agreements compliance with which is necessary to assure that future actions, omissions or
events will not cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. We call
attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Bonds, the Bond Ordinances, the Certificate and the Tax
Certificate and their enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement,
fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights, to the application of
equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases, and to the limitations on legal
remedies against counties in the State of Hawaii. We express no opinion wth respect to any indemnification,
contribution, penalty, choice of law, choice of forum or waiver provisions contained in the foregoing documents.



Finally, we undertake no responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of any official statement or other
offering material relating to the Bonds and express no opinion with respect thereto.

Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof, we are of the following
opinions:

1 The Bonds constitute valid and binding general obligations of the City.

2 The Certificate has been duly executed and delivered by the Director of Budget and Fiscal
Services; and the Certificate constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the City.

3. Under the Act, the City is obligated to levy ad valorem taxes, without limitation as to rate or
amount, for the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon, upon all the real property within the City subject to
taxation by the City.

4, Interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under
Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all
taxation by the State of Hawaii or any county or other political subdivision thereof, except inheritance, transfer,
estate and certain franchise taxes. Interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal
individual or corporate aternative minimum taxes, although we observe that it is included in adjusted current
earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. We express no opinion regarding other
tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds.

Respectfully submitted,

ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP
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APPENDIX D

FORM OF MASTER CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE
[Excluding Signatures and Exhibit to Master Certificate]

MASTER CERTIFICATE OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE OF THE
CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU, HAWAII, PROVIDING FOR
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

I, the undersigned, RUSSELL W. MIY AKE, being the duly appointed Director of Finance (the “ Director of
Finance”) of the City and County of Honolulu, Hawaii (the “City and County”), and under Part | of Chapter 47,
Hawaii Revised Statutes, as amended, and the Revised Charter of the City and County, the officer having the
responsibility for issuing, selling, paying interest on and redeeming bonds, notes and other instruments of
indebtedness of the City and County authorized by the Council thereof, DO HEREBY CERTIFY asfollows:

ARTICLEI

PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Purpose. This Certificate shall constitute a written undertaking for the benefit of the Holders
of the Bonds, and is being executed and delivered solely to assist the Underwriters in complying with subsection
(b)(5) of the Rule.

Section 1.2. Definitions. The following terms used in this Certificate shall have the following respective
meanings:

“Annual Financial Information” means, collectively, (i) the financial information and
operating data with respect to the City and County for each Fiscal Year of the City and County of
the type included in the Series 1995A Official Statement under the headings “DEBT
STRUCTURE,” “CITY AND COUNTY REVENUES,” “FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
ACCOUNTING,” “EMPLOYEE RELATIONS; PENSIONS,” and “PENDING LITIGATION;"
and (ii) the information regarding amendments to this Certificate required pursuant to Sections
3.2(c) and (d) of this Certificate. Audited Financial Statements, if available, or Unaudited
Financial Statements shall be included in the Annual Financial Information as described in Section
2.1(c) of this Certificate.

The descriptions contained in clause (i) above of financial information and operating data
constituting Annual Financial Information are of general categories of financial information and
operating data. When such descriptions include information that no longer can be generated
because the operations to which it related have been materially changed or discontinued, a
statement to that effect shall be provided in lieu of such information.

“Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements, if any, of the City
and County, audited by such auditor as shall then be required or permitted by State law or the
Charter of the City and County. Audited Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance
with GAAP; provided, however, that the City and County may from time to time, if required by
federal or State legal requirements, modify the accounting principles to be followed in preparing
its financial statements. The notice of any such modification required by Section 3.2(d) of this
Certificate shall include a reference to the specific federal or State law or regulation describing
such accounting principles.

“Beneficial Owner” means any person who (i) has the power, directly or indirectly, to
vote or consent with respect to, or dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including a person who
holds Bonds through a nominee, depository or other intermediary), or (ii) is treated as the owner
of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes.
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“Bonds’ means any general obligation bonds issued by the City and County and
identified in a Series Certificate.

“Counsel” means Hawkins, Delafield & Wood or other nationally recognized bond
counsel or counsd expert in federal securities laws.

“Director of Finance” means any duly appointed director of finance or deputy director of
finance of the City and County.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed from time to time
for governmental units by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

“Holder” means any person who shall be the registered owner, or his duly authorized
attorney-in-fact, representative or assign, of any Bond.

“Material Event” means any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, whether
relating to the City and County or otherwise, if material:

D principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(2 non-payment related defaults;

3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(6) adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the security;
W) modificationsto rights of security holders;

(8) bond calls;
9 defeasances;

(10 release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities;
and

(11 rating changes.
“Material Event Notice” means notice of a Material Event.

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to
Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

“NRMS R’ means, at any time, a then-existing nationally recognized municipal securities
information repository, as recognized from time to time by the SEC for the purposes referred to in
the Rule. The NRMSIRs as of the date of this Certificate are Bloomberg L.P. (Princeton, NJ),
Disclosure, Inc. (Bethesda, MD), Kenny Information Systems (New York, NY), Moody's
Investors Service (New York, NY), and Thomson Municipal Services Inc. (New York, NY).
Filing information relating to such NRM SIRs is set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

“Official Statement” meansthe “final official statement,” as defined in paragraph (f)(3) of
the Rule.
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“Rule” means Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (17 CFR Part 240, §240.15c2 12), asin effect on the date of this Certificate, including any
official interpretations thereof issued either before or after the effective date of this Certificate
which are applicableto this Certificate.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Series Certificate” means any certificate executed by the Director of Finance as
described in Section 3.3 of this Certificate extending the benefits of this Certificate to the
Beneficial Owners, Holders and Underwriters of Bonds of a Series.

“Series 1995A Official Statement” means the Official Statement of the City and County
relating to its General Obligation Bonds, Series 1995A.

“dD” means, at any time, a then-existing a state information depository, if any, as
operated or designated as such by or on behalf of the State for the purposes referred to in the Rule.
As of the date of this Certificate, thereisno SID.

“State” meansthe State of Hawaii.

“Supplemental Certificate” means any certificate executed by the Director of Finance as
described in Section 3.2 of this Certificate amending the provisions of this Certificate.

“Unaudited Financial Satements’ means the same as Audited Financial Statements,
except that they shall not have been audited.

“Underwriter” means any original underwriter of a Series of Bonds who is required to
comply with the Rule and who isidentified in a Series Certificate.

ARTICLEII

THE UNDERTAKING

Section 2.1. Annual Financial Information. (@) The City and County shall provide Annua Financial
Information with respect to each Fiscal Year of the City and County, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June
30, 1996, by no later than eight months after the end of the respective Fiscal Year, to each NRMSIR and the SID.
The City and County may provide Annual Financial Information by specific reference to documents (i) either (1)
provided to each NRMSIR existing at the time of such reference and the SID or (2) filed with the SEC, or (ii) if such
document is an Official Statement, available from the MSRB. The City and County may provide Annual Financial
Information in one document or multiple documents comprising a package, and at one time or in part from time to
time.

(b) The City and County shall provide, in atimely manner, notice of any failure of the City
and County to provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above to (i) either
the MSRB or each NRMSIR, and (ii) the SID.

(c) If Audited Financia Statements are not provided as part of Annual Financial Information
by the date required by Section 2.1(a) of this Certificate, the City and County shall provide (i) as part of the Annual
Financial Information, Unaudited Financial Satements in a format similar to the unaudited financial statements
contained in the Series 1995A Official Statement under the heading “CITY AND COUNTY REVENUES --
Financial Statements,” and (ii) Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to each NRM SIR and the SID.

(d) The City and County’s current Fiscal Year is July 1 of a caendar year to June 30 of the

succeeding calendar year. The City and County shall promptly notify (i) each NRMSIR, and (ii) the SID of each
changeinitsFiscal Year.
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Section 2.2. Material Event Notices. (a) If aMaterial Event occurs, the City and County shall provide, ina
timely manner, aMaterial Event Noticeto (i) either the MSRB or each NRMSIR, and (ii) the SID.

(b) Upon any legal defeasance of any Bonds of a Series, the City and County shall provide
notice of such defeasance to (i) each NRMSIR or the MSRB and (ii) the SID, which notice shall state whether such
Bonds have been defeased to maturity or to redemption and the timing of such maturity or redemption.

(c) Each Material Event Notice shall be so captioned and shall prominently state the title,
date and CUSIP numbers of the Bonds.

Section 2.3. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The City and County acknowledges and understands that
other state and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the City and County, and that under some circumstances
compliance with this Certificate, without additional disclosures or other action, may not fully discharge all duties
and obligations of the City and County under such laws.

Section 2.4. Additional Information. Nothing in this Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the City and
County from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Certificate or
any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Financial Information or
Material Event Notice, in addition to that which is required by this Certificate. If the City and County chooses to
include any information in any Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice in addition to that which is
specifically required by this Certificate, the City and County shall have no obligation under this Certificate to update
such information or include it in any future Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice.

Section 2.5. No Previous Non-Compliance. The City and County represents that since July 3, 1995, it has
not failed to comply n any material respect with any previous undertaking in a written contract or agreement
specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule.

Section 2.6. Transmission of Information and Notices. Unless otherwise required by law and, in the City
and County’s sole determination, subject to technical and economic feasibility, the City and County shall employ
such methods of information and notice transmission as shall be requested or recommended by the herein-designated
recipients of the City and County’sinformation and notices.

ARTICLE I

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT, ENFORCEMENT,
BENEFICIARIES AND DISSEMINATION AGENT

Section 3.1. Termination. (a) The City and County’s obligations under this Certificate with respect to the
Bonds of each Series shall terminate upon (i) a prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds of such
Series, or (ii) alegal defeasance of all of the Bonds of such Series.

(b) This Certificate, or any provision of this Certificate, shall be null and void in the event
that there is delivered (i) to the Director of Finance an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the City and County, to the
effect that those portions of the Rule which require this Certificate, or any of the provisions of this Certificate,
respectively, do not or no longer apply to the Bonds, whether because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have
been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and (2) copies of such opinion to each NRMSIR
and the SID.

Section 3.2. Amendment. (&) This Certificate may be amended by a Supplemental Certificate of the
Director of Finance, without the consent of the Holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) such amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that
arisesfrom achange in lega (including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules
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or regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the City
and County or the type of business conducted thereby;

(2 this Certificate as so amended would have complied with the requirements of the
Rule as of the date of this Certificate, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations
of the Rule, aswell as any change in circumstances,

3) there shall have been dHivered to the Director of Finance, an opinion of
Counsel, addressed to the City and County, to the same effect as set forth in clause (2) above;

4 there shall have been delivered to the Director of Finance, an opinion of Counsel
or a determination by aperson, in each case unaffiliated with the City and County (such as bond
counsel) and acceptable to the City and County, addressed to the City and County, to the effect
that the amendment does not materially impair the interests of the Holders of the Bonds; and

(5) the City and County shall have delivered copies of such opinion(s) and
amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(b) In addition to subsection (&) above, this Certificate may be amended and any provision of
this Certificate may be waived by a Supplemental Certificate of the Director of Finance, without the consent of the
holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) an amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a
new or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, after the effective date of this Certificate which is
applicable to this Certificate, (2) there shall have been delivered to the Director of Finance an opinion of Counsel,
addressed to the City and County, to the effect that performance by the City and County under this Certificate as so
amended or giving effect to such waiver, as the case may be, will not result in a violation of the Rule as amended or
officially interpreted and (3) the City and County shall have delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to
each NRMSIR and the SID.

(c) To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the type of
financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first Annual Financial Information
provided thereafter shall include a narrative explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the
change.

(d) If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing
financial statements, the Annual Financial Information for the year in which the change is made shall present a
comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles
and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. Such comparison shall include a qualitative
and, to the extent reasonably feasible, quantitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the
impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial information. Notice of such
amendment shall be provided by the City and County to (i) either the MSRB or each NRMSIR and (ii) the SID.

Section 3.3. Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement. (a) By execution of a Series Certificate
identifying the Underwriters and the Bonds of a Series, the provisions of this Certificate shall inure solely to the
benefit of such Underwriters and the Holders from time to time of such Bonds. Beneficial Owners of such Bonds
shall bethird-party beneficiaries of this Certificate.

(b) Except as provided in this subsection (b), the provisions of this Certificate shall create no
rights in any person or entity. The obligations of the City and County to comply with the provisions of this
Certificate shall be enforceable by any Holder of outstanding Bonds; provided, however, that such right to enforce
the provisions of this Certificate shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific
performance, to compel performance of the City and County’ s obligations under this Certificate. In consideration of
the third-party beneficiary status of Beneficial Owners of Bonds pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section,
Beneficial Owners shall be deemed to be Holders of Bonds for purposes of this subsection (b).
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(c) Any failure by the City and County to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall
not constitute a default under any ordinance or resolution of the City Council authorizing the Bonds of any Series or
any certificate of the Director of Finance providing for the issuance of the Bond of a Series.

(d) This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State, and any suits and actions arising out of this Certificate shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction
in the State; provided, however, that to the extent this Certificate addresses matters of federal securities laws,
including the Rule, this Certificate shall be construed in accordance with such federal securities laws and official
interpretations thereof.

Section 3.4. Dissemination Agent. The Director of Finance, on behalf of the City and County, shall
disseminate the Annual Financial Information, the Audited Financial Statements, the Unaudited Financial
Statements, the Material Event Notices and all other information and notices as described in this Certificate. The
Director of Finance may appoint one or more agents to disseminate such information and notices.

Dated this 15th day of November, 1995.
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FORM OF SERIES CERTIFICATE OF THE DIRECTOR OF BUDGET AND
FISCAL SERVICES OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF HONOLULU,
PROVIDING FOR CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

[, the undersigned, IVAN M. LUI-KWAN, being the duly appointed Director of Budget and Fiscal Services
(the “Director of Budget and Fiscal Services’) of the City and County of Honolulu (the “City and County”), and
under Part | of Chapter 47, Hawaii Revised Statutes, as amended, and the Revised Charter of the City and County,
the officer having the responsibility for issuing, selling, paying interest on and redeeming bonds, notes and other
instruments of indebtedness of the City and County authorized by the Council thereof, DO HEREBY CERTIFY
that: (i) this Certificate is a Series Certificate as defined in Section 1.1 and described in Section 3.3 of the Master
Certificate of the Director of Finance of the City and County of Honolulu, Hawaii, Providing for Continuing
Disclosure, dated November 15, 1995 (the “Master Certificate”); (ii) Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and UBS
Financial Services Inc., as the Underwriters of the City and County General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A, dated
the date of issuance thereof (the “Series 2003A Bonds’), shall be a beneficiary of the Master Certificate; (iii) the
Holders of the Series 2003A Bonds shall also be beneficiaries of the Master Certificate; (iv) the Beneficial Owners
of the Series 2003A Bonds shall be third-party beneficiaries of the Master Certificate; and (v) all capitalized terms
used herein shall have the respective meanings as defined in the Master Certificate.

The NRMSIRs as of the date hereof are set forth at www.sec.gov/info/municipal/nrmsir.htm.

Dated asof August __, 2003.

Ivan M. Lui-Kwan

Director of Budget and Fiscal Services

City and County of Honolulu
The above and foregoing certificate is hereby

approved as to form and legality this
August __, 2003.

David Z. Arakawa
Corporation Counsel
City and County of Honolulu
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APPENDIX E
BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM

Information on DTC and Book-Entry System. Information concerning DTC and the Book-Entry System
contained in this Official Statement has been obtained from DTC and other sources that the City and County and the
Underwriters believe to be reliable, and is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be
construed as arepresentation by, the Underwriters or the City and County.

DTC will act as Securities Depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully registered Bond certificate will be issued for each
maturity of the Bonds of each seriesin the principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC and its Participants. DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuarnt to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. DTC holds securities that its participants (“Direct Participants’) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the
settlement among Direct Participants of securities transactions such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities
through electronic computerized book-entry changes in Direct Participants accounts, thereby eliminating the need
for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its Direct
Participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities
brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct
Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants’). The Rules applicable to DTC and its Direct and
Indirect Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchase of Ownership Interests. Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through
Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each
actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) isin turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’
records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial
Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic
statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books
of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the Book-Entry System
for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other nominee do no effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial
Owners of the Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such
Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Notices and Other Communications. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct
Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may bein effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to Cede & Co. If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being

redeemed, DTC’ s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to
be redeemed.
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Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the
Bonds. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City and County as soon as possible after
the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’ sconsenting or voting rights to those Direct Participantsto
whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in alisting attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and Interest Payments. Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede &
Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practiceisto credit
Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City and
County or the Tender and Paying Agent or the Remarketing Agent on the payable date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC or the
Tender and Paying Agent or the Remarketing Agent or the City and County, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City and County or
the Tender and Paying Agent or the Remarketing Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall
be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Bonds purchased or tendered, through its
Participant, to the Tender and Paying Agent or the Remarketing Agent, and shall effect delivery of such Bonds by
causing the Direct Participant to transfer the Participant’ sinterest in the Bonds, on DTC’ srecords, to the Tender and
Paying Agent or the Remarketing Agent. The requirement for physical delivery of the Bonds in connection with an
optional tender or a mandatory purchase will be deemed satisfied when the ownership rights in the Bonds are
transferred by Direct Participants on DTC's records and followed by a book-entry credit of tendered Bonds to the
Tender and Paying Agent’s or the Remarketing Agent’s DTC account.

Discontinuance of Book-Entry System. DTC may discontinue providing its services as Securities
Depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the City and County or the Tender
and Paying Agent or the Remarketing Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor Securities
Depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City and County may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or
a successor Securities Depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

Use of Certain Terms in Other Sections of the Official Statement. In reviewing this Official Statement it
should be understood that while the Bonds are in the Book-Entry System, referencesin other sections of this Official
Statement to owners should be read to include the person for which the Participant acquires an interest in the Bonds,
but (i) all rights of ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry System and (ii) notices that areto
be given to owners by the City and County will be given only to DTC. DTC will forward (or cause to be forwarded)
the notices to the Participants by its usual procedures so that such Participants may forward (or cause to be
forwarded) such notices to the Beneficial Owners.

City and County Disclaimer of Responsibility. The City and County will have no responsibility or
obligation to Direct Participants, to Indirect Participants or to Beneficial Owners with respect to (i) the accuracy of
any records maintained by DTC, any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants, or (ii) the payment by DTC, any
Direct Participants or any Indirect Participants of any amount in respect of principal or redemption price of or
interest on the Bonds, or (iii) any notice which is permitted or required to be given to owners (except such notice as
is required to be given by the City and County to DTC), or (iv) the selection by DTC of any Participant to receive
payment in the event of a partial redemption of the Bonds, or (v) any consent given or other action taken by DTC as
Owner of the Bonds, or (vi) any other event or purpose.
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APPENDIX F

SPECIMEN BOND INSURANCE POLICY

FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICY

MBI A Insurance Corporation
Armork, New York 10504

Policy No. [NUMBER]

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the “Insurer”), in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the terms of this policy,
hereby unconditiondly and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafter defined, of the following described obligations, the
full and complete payment required to be made by or on behdf of the Issuer to [PAYING AGENT/TRUSTEE] or its successor (the
“Paying Agent”) of an amount equd to (i) the principd of (either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant
to amandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Obligations (as thet term is defined below) as such payments shdl become
due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any accderation of the due date of such principa by reason of mandatory or
optiond redemption or accderation resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a
mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed hereby shdl be made in such amounts and a such times as such
payments of principa would have been due had there not been any such accderation); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such
payment which is subsequently recovered from any owner pursuant to afind judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction thet such
payment conditutes an avoidable preference to such owner within the meaning of any gpplicable bankruptcy law. The amounts
referred to in clauses (i) and (i) of the preceding sentence shdl be referred to herein collectively as the “Insured Amounts.”
“Obligations’ shall mean:

[PAR]
[LEGAL NAME OF ISSUE]

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or
certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent
or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which is then due, that such required payment
has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice of
such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with U.S. Bank Trust National
Association, in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts
which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such Obligations or presentment of such other proof of
ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment
of the Insured Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the
appointment of the Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligationsin any legal proceeding related to payment of
Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to U.S. Bank Trust National
Association, U.S. Bank Trust National Association shall disburse to such owners, or the Paying Agent payment of
the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such
Insured Amounts and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment
premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Obligation.

As used herein, the term “owner” shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books
maintained by the Paying Agent, the Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpose. The term owner shall
not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer constitutes the underlying security for the
Obligations.

Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk,
New Y ork 10504 and such service of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason
including the payment prior to maturity of the Obligations.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Insurer has caused this policy to be executed in facsimile on its behalf by its duly
authorized officers, this[DAY] day of [MONTH, YEAR].

MBI A Insurance Corporation

Attedt:
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